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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
T EHmE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Director(s)”) of
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present to our
shareholders the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the
“Year” or the “year under review"). During the Year, the Group recorded
a turnover of approximately HK$869 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$218 million as compared to that of the last financial
year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Previous Year”).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWE

Dedicated to developing Agerculture

~

Sincere an serving Agriculture
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The Group has successfully built a nationwide chain of wholesale
markets and a network of modern agricultural produce logistics center,
linking the southern and northern regions and across the eastern and
south-western parts of the PRC. During the year under review, the
Group managed a total of 11 agricultural produce exchange markets in
mainland China, covering Wuhan, Huangshi, Suizhou, Luoyang, Puyang,
Kaifeng, Yulin, Qinzhou, Xuzhou, Huai'an and Panjin, with business
spreading across various provinces, including Hubei Province, Henan
Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province and
Liaoning Province.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2021, in the face of multiple challenges such as the complex and
severe international environment and the outbreak of pandemic in China,
all localities and departments stepped up the cross-cyclical adjustments
of macro-policies, which gave rise to the national economy continuing
to recover and develop and to the food production reaching a new high.
In 2021, the gross domestic product (GDP) grew by 8.1% over last year,
exceeding the expected target. In 2021, all regions and departments
conscientiously implemented the major decisions and plans made by the
Central Committee and the State Council on agricultural development,
and paid close attention to food production, so as to ensure sufficient
supply in major agricultural products market, stable and lower the prices
of agricultural products, and stable and progressive development trend
of the agricultural production as a whole.

During the Fourth Session of the Thirteenth National People’s Congress,
some representatives put forward a proposal on formulating a law
on the agricultural wholesale markets. The proposal recommended
to formulate a law on the agricultural wholesale markets, strengthen
the planning of the wholesale markets, establish an entry and exit
mechanism and a vetting system, and enhance the supervision of the
agricultural product market. In this regard, the National Development
and Reform Commission, the Ministry of Commerce and the Ministry of
Agriculture and Rural Affairs believed that agricultural wholesale markets
would still be the main channel for the trading of agricultural produce in
the PRC, and agreed to formulate a legal framework for the construction
and management of the agricultural wholesale market as soon as
possible. The relevant formulation will standardize the operation of the
agricultural wholesale market, further raise the entry threshold, and
enhance the healthy competition in the agricultural wholesale industry.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFERE

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

E-business reduces costs and increases efficiency, and systematic
management creates smart agricultural wholesale cities

The Group has been promoting the informatization of agricultural
produce exchange markets, increasing investment, and considering
high-standard construction development as the goal for the old markets,
so as to improve and transform the operating conditions, and create
modern, digital smart agricultural cities. The Group has fully introduced
a new business model of electronic transaction settlement and a modern
lease management system to all agricultural produce exchange markets
to reduce communication costs, approval costs, operating costs, etc.
The new e-commerce adopts the “contactless sales” method to realize
the connection between production and sales; not only does it reduce
the circulation cost, but also controls costs effectively, enhancing the
Group's efficiency. As a leading agricultural produce logistics operator
in Mainland China, the Group will continue to optimize the digital
operation model, promote the modern agricultural wholesale industry,
and make concerted efforts to reduce costs and increase efficiency.

Combat the pandemic and make every effort to ensure supply

Combating the pandemic is a priority. The Group will actively respond
to the relevant pandemic prevention measures in accordance with the
working system and the requirements of the government and make every
effort to prevent and control the pandemic. The Group fully cooperate
with the government in the face of the pandemic, including conducting
strict entry inspections in the markets, disinfecting the entire place more
frequently, and increasing promotion on pandemic prevention and
control. During the critical period of pandemic prevention and control,
the markets strictly carry out measures for pandemic prevention and
control, including emergency response plans for pandemic prevention
and control, entry registration of non-local vehicles, temperature check
for employees, market disinfection, and weekly nucleic acid tests for
workers in the markets. As the markets are crowded by nature, we must
always give priority to pandemic prevention and control, resolutely
implement various measures for pandemic prevention and control, and
stabilize market operations, so as to ensure daily supply of agricultural
produce in the cities in which the markets are located.
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In the first half of 2022, the pandemic raged across many provinces and
cities in China. As an indicator and representative of cities, agricultural
wholesale markets are closely related to hundreds of thousands of
households. As a livelihood project to ensure supply of “vegetable
baskets”, “rice bags” and “fruit plates” in various places, agricultural
wholesale markets strictly implemented measures to guard the entry
and exit of food, and strictly prevented substandard agricultural
produce from entering the markets, thereby eliminating potential
safety hazards. At the same time, the four major steps of “entry-testing-
supervision-tracing” were strictly executed to ensure the quality and
safety of agricultural produce and a peace of mind in consumption. Entry
inspections were carried out on vehicles and personnel in the markets,
including checking the health code (green code and vaccinated for
COVID-19), temperature check, wearing masks correctly, and registering
the non-local vehicles. Only vehicles from non-pandemic areas could
enter the markets. Meanwhile, disinfection was strictly conducted on the
operating and office areas in the markets.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

The Central Government issued the “Opinions of the Central Committee
of the Communist Party of China and the State Council on Better
Implementation of the Key Work of Comprehensively Promoting Rural
Revitalisation in 2022" ({Fp F 1 s BIRSE B AMMET 2022 G 2 HEAEAR
MR ELE 2 TER E R)), also known as the No.1 Central Document
for 2022. It focused on the agricultural industry for the 19th consecutive
year, pointing out that against the backdrop of the continuous spread
of COVID-19, the global economic recovery is fragile; the challenges of
climate change are prominent; the tasks regarding China’s economic
and social development are extremely arduous. It also stated that,
in order to calmly respond to the changes and the pandemic of the
century, and to promote the stable and healthy development of the
economy and the society, we must focus on the major strategic needs
of the country, stabilize the agricultural fundamentals, and address the
“Three Rural Issues” properly. We must also continue to promote rural
revitalization comprehensively, to ensure stable agricultural production,
steady income of farmers, and stability and tranquility in rural areas.
It is necessary to adhere to the principle of seeking progress while
maintaining stability, and push forward key tasks in a solid and orderly
manner. The “Three Rural Issues” should be addressed properly this year,
so as to achieve progress in rural revitalization as well as agricultural and
rural modernization.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFERE

In March 2022, the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs issued a
notice on the “14th Five-Year Plan for the Development of the National
Agricultural Produce Market System” ({[+ U] &2 EREMT S
2 Z 3R RE)), pointed out that the country’s total output of food and
agricultural products in 2020 was approximately 2 billion tons, most of
which were put into circulation. The turnover of the national agricultural
wholesale markets with a turnover of over RMB100 million was
approximately RMB2.93 trillion, representing an increase of 24.0% over
2015. At the same time, the notice stated that a three-level agricultural
market system should be established: the national agricultural wholesale
markets, the regional agricultural wholesale markets and the farmers’
market of the small agricultural wholesale markets. The notice clearly
stated that the country will support the further development of the
agricultural wholesale markets.

In March 2022, the Central Committee of the Communist Party of
China and the State Council issued the “Opinions on Accelerating the
Construction of a Large Unified National Market” ({B8 7> hniRiE & 2
i — K% K E R)), which proposed to be guided by the needs of
market entities from three aspects: establishing unified market regulatory
rules, strengthening law enforcement for unified market regulation,
and comprehensively improving market regulatory capabilities, so as
to promote fair and unified market regulation. The opinions proposed
to improve the standard systems in the fields of modern circulation,
big data, artificial intelligence, blockchain, fifth-generation mobile
communication (5G), Internet of Things, energy storage, etc., which are
of great significance to the development of the national agricultural
wholesale market.

EXPAND THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE
AGRICULTURAL PRODUCE EXCHANGE
INDUSTRY

The Group keeps abreast of the latest development. Electronic settlement
has become the new normal in the exchange market. The Group’s
improved the information system of agricultural produce exchange
market which covers wholesale market business. It is conducive to
the Group'’s optimization of its profit model by charging commissions
instead of fixed rents, thereby increasing the Group’s revenue. The Group
actively expands the market, to diversifies the agricultural produce
exchange market, and creates synergies with business partners, so as to
expand the market scale more effectively and maintain profit growth.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on the agricultural
produce exchange market as our major businesses, continue to upgrade
the electronic system, improve the market management model, and
steadily expand its businesses to diversify the profit and the revenue.
The Group always takes food safety as its top priority and achieves
high-quality and stable business performance with smart agricultural
wholesale. The Group also adopts an asset-light business strategy
and a series of modern management systems to create greater added
value for the wholesale markets, maximizing investment returns for the
shareholders.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to participating in community affairs and
supporting various public welfare and charitable projects as always.
During the Year, the Company sent supplies and equipment to
the frontline staffs in fighting against the pandemic, as a token of
appreciation for their hard work and contribution. At the same time, the
Group donated RMB1 million worth of supplies for the Henan floods,
fully supporting the flood victims in Zhengzhou and the rescuers who
worked around the clock. The Group has also continued to contribute to
the country’s poverty alleviation work by donating essential including
cooking oil, rice and etc., inheriting the traditional virtues of poverty
alleviation in China. Besides, the Group always gives priority to food
safety management and regularly organizes food safety management
training to enhance the overall food safety management awareness
and level in the market, building a solid line of defense for food safety
management.

Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be
published by the Company for details of the Group’s environmental
protection, social and governance related work during the Year.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to the shareholders, bondholders, business partners and customers
for their long-term trust in the Group, and their acknowledgment,
encouragement and strong support on our works. | would like to
express my heartfelt thanks to the Board members, the management
team and staff members at all levels for their persistence, hard work and
contribution under the trying times. The Group will continue to uphold
the motto of “dedicated to developing agriculture with sincere in serving
agriculture” to enhance overall efficiency and effectiveness.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

Turnover, gross profit and segment result

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”), the Group recorded a
turnover of approximately HK$869 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$218 million as compared to that of the last financial
year ended 31 March 2021. The below table summarises the key financial
performance of the Group:

PR RERE

EERE - BN RO EEE
HE_ZT-_—_F=A=1+—HLFE (XFE])"
N EE (B 4715 & E KB 4 869,000,000 78 7T © #X_E—§F
BEEHE—_T-_—F=ZA=1+—ALLFEHENY
218,000,000/8 7T © AN [E ~ £ 2 B iR IR Bt an
T

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BE-Z--f=ZA=+-H BE-Z--F=A=t—H
HEE EFE
Agricultural Agricultural
Produce Produce
Exchange Exchange
Market Property Market Property
Operation Sales Total Operation Sales Total
HK$ million and BEETR ReEEER ReBEm
approximate % BHES T ReEmE  YEHE B  RHME WEEE FEE
Tumnover o < 450 419 869 418 233 651
Gross Profit =5 304 152 456 275 77 352
Segment Result DEEE 213 91 304 168 62 230
Gross Profit to Turnover EREEEE AL 68% 36% 52% 66% 33% 54%
Segment Result to Turnover D EEMEER LB HL 47% 22% 35% 40% 27% 35%

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$869 million for
the Year, representing an increase of approximately 33% as compared
to approximately HK$651 million of the last financial year, which was
mainly due to the increase in property sales recognition during the Year.
The Group recorded a gross profit and a segment result of approximately
HK$456 million and approximately HK$304 million, respectively, for the
Year (2021: approximately HK$352 million and approximately HK$230
million, respectively), representing an increase of approximately 30%
and an increase of approximately 32%, respectively, as compared to that
of the last financial year. The increase in gross profit and segment result
was mainly due to the increase in property sales recognition during the
Year.

Other revenue and other net income

The Group recorded other revenue and other net income of
approximately HK$27 million for the Year (2021: approximately HK$41
million). The decrease was mainly due to the government grant and
subsidies.

AN (B A AR 4F [ 8315 & 3£ % 49 869,000,000 7 7T
& {8 B BRF E 49651,000,000 78 7T 18 1 4933%
FEARAFEHERNMEEEEMATE - A5E
RAFEE %15 %ﬂ&“*ﬁ%iﬁﬂﬂlﬂﬁ%é000000
78 7T &% #7304,000,0008 T (ZZ = —F : 554
352,000,000 78 7T & 49 230,000,000 78 7T) * 5 _+ & EF
R E D BB AN4) 300% K38 1N14932% © EF K&
BN B RPN EE R &S0
FITER

B g R F A FUA
REBRANFESFEAMKE REAFRAL
27,000,000/ 7T (ZZF = —4F : 4941,000,000#T) °
R E B R IBT B R AHEE PR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gain on litigation judgment

The Group recorded approximately HK$49 million gain on litigation
judgment for the Year but recorded such gain in the last financial year
in the amount of approximately HK$661 million. The recognition of gain
on litigation judgment in the last financial year was resulting from the
verdict of the proceedings relating to the Group’s of Wuhan market as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 18 January 2021,
details of which have been disclosed in the section headed “Litigation” in
this section and were disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report (the “Annual Report”).

General and administrative expenses, selling expenses and
finance costs

General and administrative expenses were approximately HK$149
million for the Year (2021: approximately HK$157 million). The decrease
was mainly due to the continuous cost controls during the Year.
Selling expenses were approximately HK$61 million for the Year (2021:
approximately HK$31 million). The increase in selling expenses was
mainly due to the increase in sales recognition and the related sales and
promotion activities during the Year. Finance costs were approximately
HK$132 million for the Year (2021: approximately HK$157 million), and
such decrease was mainly due to the repayments of the convertible
bonds during the Year.

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables and loan receivables

The Group recorded allowance for expected credit losses on trade and
other receivables and loan receivables of approximately HK$3 million for
the Year (2021: approximately HK$43 million). The decrease was mainly
due to the long-aged trade and other receivables and loan receivables
had been recognised in the last financial year.

Net loss in fair value of investment properties and written down
of stock of properties

During the Year, net loss in fair value of investment properties was
approximately HK$53 million (2021: net loss in fair value of investment
properties of approximately HK$14 million). The net loss was mainly due
to decrease in fair value of Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market (“Wuhan Baisazhou Market”). Stock of properties
value has not been written down for the Year (2021: written down of
approximately HK$2 million).
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SFEAHR 7 W Es

INER B AN [E 8115 FF AUN 25 49 49,000,000 8 T
1B 85 B 2 8215 57 7A U &5 49 661,000,000 75
T o A A R FE 8GR AN E TR AR E B
AT - —F— A+ \BZAhGTEEGREA
EEREMS 2 AEFRZH R - BEFEE
PAAER [FRa] — BRI R E R AT R ([F3R]) N
SR TS IRERMIFT 36 2 FE -

—REITHEFIS  SHEFX RBEKRAR

AN [E — B M AT S 49 149,000,000 7T (= =
Z—4% : #9157,000,000%7T) c WA TIEZHRRR
RNEERBEEITAREIETE - AFEHERZL
61,000,000 7C(=ZZF = —4 : £931,000,000/&7T)
SHEF ST IE I E 2 HARTF EE MRS KA
RISHE RIERETEILMATE - AFEREKALD
132,000,000 7T (ZF = — 4 : 49157,000,000/%
o) R EERNAFEEERRES -

B3 REMERGIAN R EWRE R 2 FEHE
ERERE
REBPNAFEERGE S R E M EUGIEL K E
W E k2 T8 s B B8 7% 493,000,000 87T (ZF
Z—4F : #943,000,000757T) ° LD EZEHRE
HEAVRFECERRRRNE S REMERFIE
LA R FEUR B SRATER ©

LEYFENHEFEREDEFEMR

RAFE - REWERFE 2 FEEL 53,000,000
BT CZEZ—F: REVELFEZFEBRY
14,000,000 87T) < FEEEEHRVESLIMNEE
EmnX5ms ([READNTS]) 2 AFERD M
W AFERAEMEFEBAEC MR (T2 =—
£ JURAY 2,000,000 75 7T)

15



16

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

Loss on fair value change of derivative financial instruments

During the Year, net loss in fair value of derivative financial instruments
was approximately HK$0.1 million (2021: loss of approximately HK$0.3
million). The decrease of the net loss was due to the approaching of the
due date of the convertible bonds.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$6 million as compared to the profit of approximately
HK$490 million in the last financial year. Profit from operations before
fair value changes and impairment, interest and tax was approximately
HK$322 million and the profit from operations was approximately
HK$238 million for the Year (2021: approximately HK$866 million and
approximately HK$802 million, respectively). The decrease in profit
attributable to owners of the Company was mainly due to decrease
in gain on litigation judgment resulting from the verdict of Wuhan
market legal case and offsetted by the combined effect of a number of
other items, including (but not limited to) an increase in the Group's
consolidated profit from operation, a decrease in allowance for expected
credit loss, decrease in finance costs and income tax expenses, increase
in loss on disposal of financial assets at FVTOCI and unfavourable fair
value changes on investment properties as compared to the last financial
year.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend any payment of final dividend for the
Year (2021: Nil). No interim dividend was paid to the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) for the six months ended 30 September
2021 (30 September 2020: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in management
and sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the
PRC. During the Year, the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the “COVID-19")
epidemic rebounded in various parts of the PRC but it caused little
impact on the Group’s business operations, as our markets have
complied with the strict hygienic requirements imposed by the local
authorities. To cope with the future growth, the Company has actively
been studying and evaluating various business opportunities to diversify
the income streams of the Group and to deliver long-term benefits to the
Shareholders.
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Agricultural Produce Exchange Markets
REMRX %

Hubei Province
Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Market is one of the largest agricultural produce
exchange operators in the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated
in the Hongshan District of Wuhan City, the PRC with a site area of
approximately 310,000 square metres and one of the most notable
agricultural products market in Hubei Province. In 2021, Wuhan
Baisazhou Market was awarded top 10 of agricultural produce exchange
market by China Agricultural Wholesale Market Association. The award
was a sign to the market contribution being made by the Group's effort
and expertise as an agricultural produce exchange market operator in
the PRC.
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In 2021, the legal disputes involving this market resulted in a judgment
in favour of the Group. For further information related to the said legal
disputes, please refer to the section headed “Litigation” in this section
and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this Annual
Report.

The outbreak of COVID-19 epidemic in various parts of the PRC during
the Year did not cause significant effect on this market during the Year,
and it was able to remain in normal operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Huangshi Market

Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Huangshi Market”) is a joint venture project of the Group founded
in January 2015 with an operating area of approximately 23,000 square
metres. Huangshi city is a county level city in Hubei and around 100
kilometres away from Wuhan Baisazhou Market. Huangshi Market, as
a second-tier agricultural produce exchange market, created synergy
effect with Wuhan Baisazhou Market, facilitating vegetables and by-
products trading. During the Year, the operation turnover of Huangshi
Market increased by approximately 16% due to improvement of market
operations.

Suizhou Market

Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Suizhou Market”) is another joint venture project of the Group
founded in March 2018. It occupied approximately 240,000 square
metres. The Group pursued asset-light operation business model by
taking up the contract management rights to operate this market. During
the Year, the turnover of Suizhou Market increased by approximately
65% as compared to that of the last financial year.

Henan Province
Luoyang Market

Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Luoyang Market”) is the flagship project of the Group in Henan
Province, the PRC, with a site area and a gross floor area of approximately
255,000 square metres and approximately 223,000 square metres,
respectively. The business performance of Luoyang Market was
satisfactory. The turnover increased approximately by 375% due to the
increase of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to
that of the last financial year.

Puyang Market

Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Puyang
Market”) is one of our joint venture projects in cooperation with a local
partner in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year, Puyang Market
faced a keen competition from a new market. The market turnover
for the Year decreased by approximately 44% due to the decrease of
properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of the
last financial year.

Kaifeng Market

Kaifeng Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Kaifeng
Market”), with a gross floor construction area of approximately 140,000
square metres, is the Group'’s third market operation point for the
facilitation of the building of an agricultural produce market network
in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year, the turnover of Kaifeng
Market increased by approximately 117% from that of the last financial
year due to the increase of properties sale recognition during the Year as
compared to that of last financial year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Yulin Market

Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Yulin
Market”) is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets
in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC (“Guangxi Region”)
with a site area of approximately 415,000 square metres. The turnover
of Yulin Market decreased by approximately 22% due to the decrease of
properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of the
last financial year.

Qinzhou Market

Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Qinzhou Market”), with a gross floor construction area of
approximately 180,000 square metres, is the Group’s second market
operation point for the facilitation of the building of an agricultural
produce market network in the Guangxi Region. The turnover of Qinzhou
Market decreased by approximately 9% due to the decrease of properties
sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of the last financial
year.

Jiangsu Province
Xuzhou Market

Xuzhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Xuzhou
Market”) occupies approximately 200,000 square metres and is located
in the northern part of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The turnover of Xuzhou
Market increased by approximately 9% as compared to that of the last
financial year.

Huai’an Market

Huai’an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Huai’an
Market”), occupies approximately 100,000 square metres, is located at
Huai'an City of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Phase one of Huai'an Market
had been in operation since October 2015 and it is expected that the
performance of Huai’an Market will gradually improve after the market
becomes more mature. During the Year, the legal dispute between
the Company and the Huai’an Market joint venture partner has now
come to an end. The details of which will be disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

Liaoning Province
Panjin Market

Panjin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Panjin
Market”), with a construction area of around 50,000 square metres, is the
Group's first attempt in investment in Liaoning Province, the PRC. Panjin
Market focused on the trading of river crabs and held regular market
fairs. During the Year, the operation performance of Panjin Market
was steady. The operation turnover increased by approximately 6% as
compared to that of the last financial year.
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E-commerce development

With the robust mobile network and widespread use of intelligent
mobile devices in the PRC, the Group allocated cost effective resources to
e-commerce development. The Group would also explore opportunities
to establish new electronic trading platform for energising the efficiency
of agricultural products market.

Cyber risk and security

With information technology system and internet network playing a
vital role in our operation, the Group has designated professionals to
monitor and assess potential cyber risks. Both hardware and software are
kept track with appropriate Company’s policies. Potential cyber risks and
network security are the key concerns of management, thus the Group
has formulated policies and procedures to regulate the use of internet,
physically safeguard system power supply and regularly update internet
protection system and firewall to separate the Company’s intranet from
the outside network. Designated professionals are responsible for the
day-to-day monitoring on any abnormal network activities.

Data fraud or theft risk

The Group continuously reviews and updates its internal control
system on data and information access. Appropriate policies have been
adopted to protect data, and access permissions are only granted to
the authorised personnel. Management believes effective policies and
procedures are in place to avoid data fraud or theft risk.

Environmental and social risk

Due to the nature of business, the Company will face a moderate
environmental risk if serious and permanent climate change happens
in the PRC. Such risk may cause an adverse impact on agricultural
production and affect the Company’s turnover from market operation
and property sales.

Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group’s business

During the Year, the PRC government has imposed various measures
to contain the spread of the COVID-19 virus. These included limiting
the locomotion of people and vehicles and strengthening the markets
hygiene controls. In response to such measures, the markets invested
and improved fixtures and facilities to meet up with such measures.
This helped to minimize the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the
operations and the financial performance of the Group during the Year.

EEENWR DA

EFRFER

BaE g KB BBAMBE RS TFRETBEEZE
A AEEEHERARENERIRAZRETD
% AEBETRAKESEIINETFEE AR
FtREMMIZHMEK

mrER kT ®

BEE AR AR EMPABRERMNEEDH
REZAG  AEBCDEREEATEZENHGOE
FEHREEER © B RRAER_RARREENK
R BENBRERLBRZEREEENEIEH
- ELE A B 2 S E R M R AR S B B A A
EF ~ R E R E M DA N E B ¥ B B AR R
E R AGE - SRR R A B A BN A AR IR
BE - BERNEXZATEEHEMEEBELHE
TTRHEE

FUEIGF A R E R

AREETE AR F R EBUR M EMIA A ERE
EEF - AEBCDRWEE BRARERE - Rt
AHEREALEAGR - BEEERR - BRHEEK

KiEFERE  NERBIERFFEBRR -
RIERERER

AEREBLE  hEBELEFESBEXKANRKE
£ ARAEIRERTEORERR - ZEBRATES

BEEBERTAPE - YYEARATHEER
YIRS -
IR E A REEEOTE

RAEE - P EIBUT E SRS TR i A SIS b
RFEEE  BEREIABREREE - LARIN®
THNELEES - REEZERER  THEREY
WERE NREATE B - tLEBBREN
BRI RRIERANEEH A EELERMBERRNT

s

=
=

21



22

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had total cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately HK$440 million (31 March 2021:
approximately HK$425 million) whilst total assets and net assets
were approximately HK$5,491 million (31 March 2021: approximately
HK$5,584 million) and approximately HK$2,352 million (31 March 2021:
approximately HK$2,206 million), respectively. The Group’s gearing
ratio as at 31 March 2022 was approximately 0.4 (31 March 2021:
approximately 0.4), being a ratio of (i) total bank and other borrowings
and bonds of approximately HK$1,492 million (31 March 2021:
approximately HK$1,371 million), net of cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$440 million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$425
million) to (i) shareholders’ funds of approximately HK$2,352 million (31
March 2021: approximately HK$2,206 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the ratio of total interest-bearing debts of
approximately HK$1,492 million (31 March 2021: approximately
HK$1,371 million) to total assets of approximately HK$5,491 million (31
March 2021: approximately HKS$5,584 million) was approximately 27% (31
March 2021: approximately 25%).

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 19 October 2016, the Company issued the convertible notes with
the aggregate principal amount of HK$500 million which matured on 18
October 2021 (the “Convertible Notes”), which entitled the holders to
convert into the shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) at a conversion
price of HK$0.4 per Share. During the Year, no Convertible Notes were
converted into Shares by the Convertible Notes” holders. On 9 December
2020, the Company partially redeemed the Convertible Notes in the
principal amount of HK$130 million. The remaining principal amount of
HK$134.8 million had been fully redeemed on 18 October 2021. As at 31
March 2022, there were no outstanding Convertible Notes.

LISTED NOTES DUE IN 2024 (THE “LISTED
NOTES")

In May 2014, the Company established a HK$1 billion medium term
note program. The Listed Notes issued under the program are listed on
the Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only
(Stock Code: 5755). As at 31 March 2022, the Listed Notes in the principal
amount of HK$290 million remained outstanding. Carrying value of
the Listed Notes was approximately HK$217 million (31 March 2021:
approximately HK$196 million).
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, PLEDGES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, outstanding capital commitments, contracted
but not provided for, amounted to approximately HK$272 million (31
March 2021: approximately HK$241 million) in relation to the purchase
of property, plant and equipment, construction contracts and operating
lease agreements. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (31 March 2021: approximately HK$27,000 in
relation to the guarantees provided by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company to our customers in favor of a bank for the loans provided by
the bank to the customers of our project).

As at 31 March 2022, certain investment properties, stock of properties
and bank deposits with carrying amount of approximately HK$1,987
million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$1,405 million for investment
properties and stock of properties) were pledged to secure certain bank
borrowings.

The Group did not have any outstanding foreign exchange contracts,
interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives as at 31 March
2022. The revenue, operating costs and bank deposits of the Group
were mainly denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and Hong Kong dollars.
The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly
arising from its operations in mainland China and certain bank deposits
denominated in RMB. Currently, the Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. During the Year, due to the currency fluctuation
of RMB against Hong Kong dollars, the Group had been considering, from
time to time, alternative risk hedging tools to mitigate RMB currency
exchange risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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DEBT PROFILES AND FINANCIAL PLANNING BN R IR E
As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, interest-bearing debtsof the N-_ZE - —F=ZA=+—HBAEK-_ZT-—F= A
Group were analyzed as follows: =+—H  xEEMFEEBSTET
As at 31 March 2022 As at 31 March 2021
R=B-—F=A=+-—H R-E-—F=H=+—H
Approximate Approximate
Carrying effective Carrying effective
amount interest rate amount interest rate
HK$ million (per annum) HK$ million (per annum)
IREE SIHNEBRAER BREE BIHNERE
BEET (8%) BEAT (54)
Bonds Issuance BITES 217 12% 196 12%
Convertible Notes AR IR — — 131 12%
Financial Institution Borrowings & BM&BEE 699 6% 444 6%
Non-financial Institution HERMEEEER
Borrowings 576 10% 600 10%
Total et 1,492 1,371
Note: MIE -

Save as the financial institution borrowings which were made in RMB with floating BR ARME Z @ BIKBEEEZR IS RE T B ERFAEI - L
and fixed interest rates, other items as mentioned in the above table were made in ~ FRIRAIEMIE B B TIREE B R:+E
Hong Kong dollars with fixed interest rates.

As at 31 March 2022, the bonds issued by the Company will mature in  RZZZZF=F=+—H ' XARETHESFH
September 2024; the Convertible Notes reached maturity and were AT ZPOF 1 AEH : ATRIREER BT ER =

o]

fully repaid in October 2021, the financial institution borrowings of the TZ=—F+ AEH(EE : AR REBEEBR
Company will mature during the period from May 2022 to May 2029; —T-—"FRAAZE T NFHAHHIE : A2
the non-financial institution borrowings of the Company will mature in ~ FI3F& REEEEBR T - —F N ATIH -
September 2022.
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TREASURY POLICY

The Group’s treasury policy includes diversifying the funding sources.
Internally generated cash flow and interest-bearing bank/non-financial
institution loans were the general sources of funds to finance the
operation of the Group during the Year. The Group regularly reviews
its major funding positions to ensure that it has adequate financial
resources in meeting its financial obligations. In order to meet interest-
bearing debts and business capital expenditure, the Group is from
time to time considering various alternatives including equity and debt
financing including but not limited to new share placing, rights issues
of new shares, financial institution borrowings, non-financial institution
borrowings, bonds issuance, convertible notes, other debt financial
instruments, disposal of investment properties and sales of stock of
properties.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENT OF
E-COMMERCE BUSINESS

Shenzhen Gudeng Technology Limited (“Shenzhen Gudeng”),
established in 2015, was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group carrying out the business of e-commerce and electronic trading
platform of the Group. For compliance with the relevant PRC regulatory
requirements, on 11 July 2016 and 11 October 2016, the Group entered
into an agreement to transfer its entire interest in Shenzhen Gudeng to
a nominee shareholder and further entered into a series of contractual
arrangements after obtaining the Internet Content Provider license
issued by the Communication Authority of Guangdong Province
to enable the Group to manage and operate the Internet Content
Provider services of Shenzhen Gudeng. Following a series of contractual
arrangements, Shenzhen Zhibo Tianyu Trading Development Limited
(“Shenzhen Zhibo"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, was granted an exclusive right which was exercisable at
any time at its sole discretion, to acquire the entire equity interest
in Shenzhen Gudeng from the nominee shareholder at a nominal
consideration of RMB100 or the minimum amount permitted under the
applicable PRC laws (whichever is higher).

On 20 December 2021, Shenzhen Zhibo exercised the exclusive right
and entered into an equity transfer agreement with the nominee
shareholder to acquire the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng
at the consideration of RMB100. After the completion of the transfer,
the operation of the Group’s e-commerce platform in online agricultural
products trading as supported by the contractual arrangements ceased
and unwound.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

MATERIAL VALUATION METHOD OF
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND REVIEW OF
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The investment properties of the Group were stated at fair value as at
31 March 2022. The fair value was arrived at based on the valuations
carried out by an independent firm of qualified professional valuers.
The professional valuers are professional members of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with experience in the location of the properties
being valued. The valuations are confirmed to be in accordance with
HKIS Valuation Standards 2020, which incorporates the International
Valuation Standards (IVS). The professional valuers valued the investment
properties on the basis of capitalisation of the net income derived from
properties rental and made reference to the asking or transaction price
of market comparable. For inventory portions of the properties, Direct
Comparison Method is adopted based on the principle of substitution,
where comparison is made based on prices realised on actual sales
and/or asking prices of comparable properties. Comparable properties
of similar size, scale, maturity, character and location are analysed
and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages and
disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of
market value.

The material valuation methods of investment properties valuation have
been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) and the Board.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY
AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group operated 11 agricultural produce
exchange markets across 5 provinces in the PRC. In view of the ever-
changing business environment in the PRC, the followings are the
principal risks, challenges and uncertainties faced by the Group,
including: (1) fluctuation in the exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong
dollars, which affects the translation of the PRC assets and liabilities from
RMB to Hong Kong dollars in the Group’s financial reporting, in view of
which the Group periodically monitors the exchange rate fluctuation, and
prepare effective hedging mechanism to tackle when adverse condition
happens; (2) difficulty in obtaining adequate financing, including equity
and debt financing, to support our agri-products exchange markets that
are capital intensive, in view of which the Group regularly reviews the
short-term and long-term liquidity level to prepare for the future needs,
as and when appropriate; (3) difficulty in preserving or enhancing our
competitive position in the agri-products exchange markets industry,
in view of which the Group has designated personnel to monitor our
competitors’ activities and formulated effective strategies to preserve our
competitive position; (4) difficulty in maintaining or enhancing the level
of occupancy at our agri-products exchange markets, in view of which
the Group launches, from time to time, various marketing campaigns
to retain existing tenants and to attract new tenants; (5) challenges
in obtaining promptly all necessary licenses and permits for the
development, construction, operations and acquisition of agri-products
exchange markets, in view of which the Group hires sufficient local staff
with professional qualifications to ensure all processes comply with
local laws and regulations; (6) the effect of changes and amendments
in the national and local laws and regulations, especially the laws and
regulations relating to agri-products exchange markets, on the Group's
operations and development, in view of which the Group maintains a
relatively flat organizational structure with high autonomy to enable fast
reaction to changes; and (7) the possible closure of agricultural produce
exchange market in the event of outbreak of COVID-19 break out in our
markets. The Group has applied strict epidemic prevention measures in
the exchange markets, such as measure body temperature and check
health code of the entrants, increase the frequency and intensity of the
cleaning services inside common areas of the exchange markets.

DEPENDENCE OF EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

As the Group is adopting market remuneration practices by reference to
market terms, company performance, and individual qualifications and
performance and well-organized structure management, no key and
specific employee would materially and significantly affect the Group’s
success. Meanwhile, there were no major customers and suppliers which
accounted for over 5% of the Group’s income and no major suppliers
which cannot be replaced by other appropriate suppliers. In this
connection, no customers and suppliers would have material impact on
the success of the Group's business performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The operations and development of agri-products exchange markets
are subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations during
their construction and operations. Major environmental impacts are
caused by waste and wastewater generated during the construction
and operations of the markets. The Group has, in compliance with
the PRC environmental law, engaged independent environmental
consultants to conduct environmental impact assessments on all
our construction projects in all material aspects. The environmental
investigations conducted to date have not revealed any environmental
liability that would be expected to have a material adverse effect on our
business condition. Upon completion of construction of each market,
the environmental authorities inspect the site to ensure compliance
with all applicable environmental standards. All our construction
projects comply with the “three simultaneities” principles stipulated in
the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC. For further details of the
impact of environmental laws and regulations on our operations and
our environmental policies, please refer to our Environmental, Social and
Governance Report to be published in compliance with the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Group complied in material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. The Company also complied
with the requirements under the Listing Rules, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the laws of Bermuda during the Year. The Group
continuously reviews newly enacted laws and regulations affecting the
operations of the Group, if any, and provides relevant trainings and
guidance to the staff.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and a substantial shareholder (the
“PRC Shareholder”) of £ # 73 3E /= Bl E L 3 1735 B 1R 2 & (Yulin
Hongjin Agricultural By-products Wholesale Marketplace Limited (“Yulin
Hongjin")) entered into an agreement in relation to the reduction of
registered capital contribution of Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin.
Pursuant to the agreement, the PRC Shareholder waived its entitlement
to the dividend of approximately RMB40.95 million declared by Yulin
Hongjin for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and directed
the same to be paid to Century Choice, and the amount of registered
capital contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin was reduced
by an amount equal to approximately RMB41.90 million. As a result of
such reduction of registered capital contribution, the CAP Group’s equity
interest in Yulin Hongjin was decreased from 65% to 51%. Details of the
capital reduction were disclosed in the joint announcement of, inter alia,
the Company dated 18 June 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant investment held, nor
was there any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during
the Year. As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have a concrete plan
for material investments or capital assets nor acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries.

LITIGATION

References were made to the announcements of the Company dated
11 January 2011, 22 May 2012, 19 June 2014, 4 July 2014, 13 January
2015, 14 January 2015, 28 May 2015, 8 January 2016, 11 January
2016, 24 May 2016, 31 August 2016, 19 April 2017, 11 May 2017,
27 December 2018, 11 March 2020 and 30 March 2021 in relation to
the civil proceedings (the “Legal Proceedings”) in the PRC initiated
by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and
Commercial Development Co., Ltd (“Tian Jiu") as plaintiffs against the
Company as defendant and joined Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-
Product Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural”) as
third party and other related legal proceedings.
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BEEIREDT

Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu alleged that the share transfer agreements in
relation to the acquisition of an aggregate of 90% interest in Baisazhou
Agricultural by the Company from Ms. Wang as to 70% thereof and Tian
Jiu as to 20% thereof (the “Contended Agreements”) were forged. They
sought an order from the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province, the
PRC (the “Hubei Court”) that the Contended Agreements were void
and invalid from the beginning and should be terminated and claimed
against the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural all relevant profits of
Baisazhou Agricultural which were attributable to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu,
together with costs of the Legal Proceedings.

The Company received the judgment from the Hubei Court in relation to
the Legal Proceedings (the “Hubei Court Judgment”) in June 2014. By
the Hubei Court Judgment, the Hubei Court dismissed the claims of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu, and ordered Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to bear the legal
costs of the Legal Proceedings. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu filed an appeal
notice to the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC (the “Supreme Court”).
On 13 January 2015, the Company received the judgment (the “Beijing
Judgment”) handed down from the Supreme Court in relation to Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu’s appeal against the Hubei Court Judgment. The
Supreme Court ordered that (i) the Hubei Court Judgment be revoked; (ii)
the Contended Agreements were void; and (iii) acknowledged that the
HK$1,156 million sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”) shall be the
actual agreement being performed by the Company, Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu.

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu jointly commenced legal
proceedings against the Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM”) of the
PRC alleging that MOFCOM failed to discharge its statutory duties for
handling their application submitted in January 2015 for revoking the
certificate of approval and letter of approval in relation to the Contended
Agreements (the “Application”). The cases were accepted by the Beijing
Second Intermediate People’s Court (the “Beijing Court”) in May 2015.
The Company and Baisazhou Agricultural then made an application to
join the cases as third party. On 8 January 2016, the Company received a
judgment dated 31 December 2015 issued by the Beijing Court, by which
the Beijing Court demanded MOFCOM to handle the Application again
within 30 days.

On 23 May 2016, the Company received a decision (the “Decision”)
issued by MOFCOM dated 19 May 2016 to the effect, among other
things, that its approval issued in November 2007 (the “Approval”) in
relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and shall
remain to be in force. In making the Decision, MOFCOM considered that
the revocation of the Approval as requested by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
may cause serious damage to the public interest.
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Upon the making of the Decision by MOFCOM that the Approval shall
not be revoked and shall remain in force in August 2016, the Company
noted that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu had brought another administrative
proceedings (the “Administrative Proceedings”) to the Beijing Court.
According to a writ dated 3 August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu requested
the Beijing Court to revoke the Decision and to order MOFCOM to make
a decision to revoke the Approval. According to a notice issued by the
Beijing Court dated 26 August 2016 together with the writ which was
served to the Company on 30 August 2016, each of the Company and
Baisazhou Agricultural has been added as third party by the Beijing Court
to the Administrative Proceedings.

On 18 April 2017, the Company received the judgment of the Beijing
Court dated 31 March 2017 (the “31 March Judgment”) stating that the
request made by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to revoke the Decision lacked
both legal and factual basis and was not supported by the Beijing Court.
Accordingly, the Beijing Court dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu.

On 10 May 2017, the Company received a notice of appeal dated 8 May
2017 (the “Notice of Appeal”). By the Notice of Appeal, Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu appealed against the 31 March Judgment and requested for an
order that (a) the 31 March Judgment be set aside and (b) MOFCOM to
make a decision to revoke the Approval.

On 30 August 2017, the hearing for the appeal against the 31 March
Judgment took place. On 24 December 2018, the Company received the
judgment of the Beijing High People’s Court dated 20 December 2018
(the “20 December Judgment”). By the 20 December Judgment, the
Beijing High People’s Court dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu and upheld the ruling of the Beijing Court as set out in the 31 March
Judgment.

On 4 March 2020, the Company noted the judgment of the Supreme
Court dated 31 December 2019 (the “31 December Judgment”). By the
31 December Judgment, the Supreme Court dismissed the application
of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for retrial and for dismissal of the 31 March
Judgment and the 20 December Judgment.

In other words, the approval issued by MOFCOM in November 2007 in
relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and remain
to be in force, and the Company continues to be the legal and beneficial
owner of Baisazhou Agricultural under the PRC Laws.

Separately, in May 2015, in view of the Beijing Judgment, the Company
issued a writ against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu which was accepted by the
Hubei Court. The Company sought an order from the Hubei Court that
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge
its contractual duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM.
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On 10 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to the Hubei Court for
a freezing order in respect of the Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou
Agricultural. According to the order of the Hubei Court dated 26 May
2017 (the “26 May Order”), the Hubei Court granted a freezing order
as against the Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural. The
Company then applied for review of the 26 May Order which was
dismissed by the Hubei Court on 12 June 2017.

On 26 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to add a counterclaim for
return of the Company’s 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (70% for
Ms. Wang and 20% for Tian Jiu). On 10 April 2019, in light of the outcome
of the legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, the
Company applied to the Hubei Court for withdrawal of the Company’s
claim. On 11 April 2019, the application of the Company was granted by
the Hubei Court.

According to the judgment of the Hubei Court dated 23 December 2019
(the “23 December Judgment”), the counterclaim made by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu was dismissed by the Hubei Court.

According to the notice of appeal dated 19 January 2020, Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu appealed against the 23 December Judgment to the Supreme
Court and requested for an order from the Supreme Court that (a) the
23 December Judgment be set aside and (b) return of the Company’s
90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (70% for Ms. Wang and 20% for
Tian Jiu).

On 29 March 2021, the Company received the judgment of the Supreme
Court dated 29 December 2020 (the “29 December Judgment”) stating
that the appeal basis of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu could not be established
and was not supported by the Supreme Court. Accordingly, the Supreme
Court dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu and upheld the
23 December Judgment. The 29 December Judgment is final.

As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the Company, according to the
23 December Judgment and the 29 December Judgment, the Company
continues to be the legal owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

On or about 24 October 2011, the Company issued a Writ of Summons
in the Hong Kong Court of First Instance (the “HK Court”) against Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu. The Company (as purchaser) sought damages from
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of various provisions
of the SPA regarding the acquisition of the interest in Baisazhou
Agricultural.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 18 January 2021, the Court handed down a judgment (“HK
Judgment”). Pursuant to the HK Judgment, the Court ruled, inter alia,
that (i) Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to the Company damages in
the total sum of RMB510,000,001; (ii) the Company is entitled to set-
off an amount of HK$54,211,000 from the sum due by the Company
to Ms. Wang under one of the Instruments (as defined hereinafter); (iii)
as the quantum of the award of damages to the Company is greater
than the amounts due under the two instruments (the “Instruments”)
purportedly described as promissory notes issued by the Company to
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as part of consideration for the SPA, Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu are not allowed to enforce the Instruments against the Company.
In the circumstances, the Company is not required to make any payment
under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian Jiu.

For other detailed information of the litigation cases, please refer to note
36 to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Financial Assistance of parent company

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2022, on 3 May 2022, the
Company proposed to enter into a loan agreement (the “Ping An Loan”)
with Ping An Bank Co., Ltd. for a loan principal amount of RMB300 million
(equivalent amount of Hong Kong Dollar) for a term of three years. As a
condition to the Ping An Loan, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(the parent company of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange with
Stock Code 897) (“"WYT") is required to provide a financial guarantee
(the “Guarantee”) in respect of the Company’s obligations under the
Ping An Loan. The Guarantee provided by WYT constituted a connected
transaction for WYT and Wang On Group Limited (the parent company
of WYT listed on the Stock Exchange with Stock Code 1222) (“WOG”"). On
22 June 2022, the independent shareholders of WYT and WOG approved
the Guarantee at their respective special general meeting.

At the same special general meetings held on 22 June 2022, the
respective independent shareholders of WOG and WYT also approved
the revolving credit facility in favour of the Company, in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$576 million, in which HK$506 million provided by
Winning Rich Investments Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of WYT)
and HK$70 million provided by Double Leads Investments Limited (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of WOG), for a term of five years at the interest
rate of 10% per annum. Such facility would expire on 2 May 2027.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 1,115 employees (31 March 2021:
1,151), approximately 98% of whom were located in the PRC. The Group’s
remuneration policy was reviewed periodically by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board’s remuneration is determined
by reference to market terms, company performance, and individual
qualifications and performance. The Group aimed to recruit, retain and
develop competent individuals who were committed to the Group’s
long-term success and growth. Remunerations and other benefits
of employees were reviewed annually in response to both market
conditions and trends, and were based on qualifications, experience,
responsibilities and performance. The Company has adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 3 May 2012 for the
primary purpose of providing incentive to selected eligible persons to
take up options for their contribution to the Group. During the Year,
226,000,000 share options with an exercise price of HK$0.118 per share
were granted to the chief executive officer and certain employees of the
Group and no share option was vested, exercised, cancelled and lapsed.
Details of the grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme
have been disclose in the Company’s announcement dated 3 January
2022. The Share Option Scheme expired on 2 May 2022. The Company
will seek shareholders’ approval for the adoption of a new share option
scheme at its forthcoming annual general meeting.

PROSPECTS

During the Year, due to the resurgence of the COVID-19 in various
parts of the PRC, the local authorities has tightened the public hygiene
controls. Notwithstanding these, the operations of the Group during
the Year had not been materially disrupted. We have maintained high
caution for all of our agricultural produce exchange markets, enabling
our markets to meet up with the new hygienic requirements. This
maintains our competitiveness against many local and less-sophisticated
competitors.

Once again, agricultural development is the PRC central government’s
first priority policy for the next consecutive years. In 2022, the Central
Committee of Communist Party of China and the State Council of China
released the “No. 1 Central Document of 2022". The document promises
to promote investments in agricultural produce markets, expand
agricultural produce network, build logistic infrastructure and storage
facilities of agricultural products and improve regional cold storage
infrastructure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In June 2021, Opinions of 17 Departments including Ministry of
Commerce on Strengthening of the Construction of the County-level
Commercial System to Promote Rural Consumption No. 99 (2021) of the
Ministry of Commerce (the “Opinion”) was issued. The Opinion states
that comprehensive business service centers and logistics distribution
center in county seats shall be transformed and upgraded whereas large
urban distribution enterprises shall be encouraged to expand the rural
market, build and share warehousing and other equipment and facilities.

In December 2021, Notice by State Council Issuing the 14th Five Year
Development Plan for the Digital Economy No. 29 (2021) of the State
Council was published, which states that the transformation of industrial
digitalization was promoted steadily and agricultural digitalization was
builtin a comprehensive manner.

In order to capture new business opportunities, the Group has taken
further steps to expand its operations in the PRC by cooperating with
different partners with “asset-light” strategy. Taking the advantage of its
leading position in the industry, the Group is confident that this strategy
and business model will deliver long-term benefits to the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEERSREERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Sui Wah, Raymond, aged 54, joined the Group as an
executive director of the Group in June 2010. Mr. Leung is also the chief
executive officer, an authorised representative, the company secretary of
the Company, the chairman of the executive committee and a member
of the nomination committee of the Company, and the chief executive
officer of Hongjin Agri-Products Group Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. He is responsible for overall management
and supervision of operations of the Group. Mr. Leung had over 29 years
of experience in business operation, business development, corporate
governance, mergers and acquisitions in Hong Kong and the PRC. He is
a council member of the Chinese Agri-products Marketing Association,
which is the national leading association of the agricultural wholesale
markets in the PRC. He holds a Bachelor Degree of Social Science, a
Master Degree in Business Administration and a Master Degree of Arts
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, The University of Hong Kong
and City University of Hong Kong, respectively. He is a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. He is also
a full member of Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply and
Certified Information Security Manager of Information Systems Audit
and Control Association. He is accredited as Economist (Finance and
Taxation) by Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC.

Mr. YAU Yuk Shing, aged 58, joined the Group in April 2012 and was
appointed as an executive director of the Group in December 2012. Mr.
Yau is a member of the executive committee of the Company. He has
more than 27-year management experience in property development,
engineering and construction businesses. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Yau worked for certain companies with a wide spread of experience in
real estate industry and project management. Mr. Yau is a brother-in-
law of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the non-executive Director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. TANG Ching Ho, GBS, JP, aged 60, joined the Group as a non-
executive director of the Group and the chairman of the board of
directors of the Company in February 2021. He is also an authorised
representative of the Company. Mr. Tang is a co-founder of Wang On
Group Limited ("WOG"), which was established in 1987, and has been the
chairman of WOG since November 1993. He has extensive experience in
corporate management. He is also the chairman and managing director
of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (“WYT", the Company is an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of WYT which in turn is an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of WOG). Mr. Tang is a committee member
of the 12th and 13th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC") and is also appointed as a standing
committee member and convener of the 10th to 12th plenary sessions
of the CPPCC Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee. Mr.
Tang is also appointed as the first executive chairman of the Federation
of Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations and the chairman
of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen Association. He is a controlling
shareholder of the Company and the brother-in-law of Mr. Yau Yuk
Shing, an executive Director.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. NG Yat Cheung, JP, aged 66, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in February 2009. He is a member of each
of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. On 16 March 2012, Mr. Ng
was also appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
of the Company. He holds an associate degree in arts in business data
processing from Chabot College in the United States. He holds offices
as a director with a number of private companies which are principally
engaged in technology, property development, insurance, finance and
property holding. Mr. Ng is an independent non-executive director of
Tao Heung Holdings Limited (stock code: 573), a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LAU King Lung, aged 75, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2013. He is the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of each of the audit committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Lau has over 41
years' experience in planning, design and contracting of civil engineering
and building works in Hong Kong or the PRC. Mr. Lau is a chartered
engineer with his profession registration both in the United Kingdom
and Hong Kong. He remains a retirement member of The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers after his retirement. He participated in the design
of the initial systems of the Mass Transit Railway in Hong Kong after
his graduation from civil engineering department of Imperial College,
University of London for 6 years with Freeman Fox and Partners, London.
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Mr. WONG Ping Yuen, aged 48, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2018. He is the chairman of the
audit committee and a member of each of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong has been a
certified public accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 2001, and obtained a Master Degree of Business
Administration from the University of Adelaide in August 2005. Mr. Wong
was appointed as a partner of ITA & Co. in 2009 and has changed to the
sole-proprietor of ITA & Co. since 2015. He has been a partner of SRF
Partners & Co. since 2014.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHIER Ping Cheung, aged 60, joined the Group in September
2012. He is the chief operating officer (Jiangsu Region) of the Group, the
chairman of several subsidiaries of the Group, namely Huai’an Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Logistics Company Limited and Xuzhou Yuan
Yang Trading Development Company Limited and a director of several
subsidiaries of the Group, including Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-
Products Grand Market Company Limited, Huai'an Hongjin Mingyuan
Agricultural By-Products Logistics Company Limited, Yulin Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited, Huangshi Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited, Yulin Hongjin
Logistics Development Limited, Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural By-
Products Logistics Park Limited and Huai’an City Hongjin Qingjiang
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited. He is responsible for
project operation and management in Jiangsu Province. Mr. Chier has
over 28 years of experience in management in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. LEUNG Wai Hong, aged 42, joined the Group in January 2015. He
is the chief operating officer (Henan Region) of the Group. He is the
chairman of several subsidiaries of the Group, including Kaifeng Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited, Puyang Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited, Luoyang Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited. He is responsible for
operation and management of the Group's projects in Henan Province
in the PRC. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree in Accounting from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and has over 18 years of experience in
management in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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Mr. WONG Ka Kit, aged 50, joined the Group in August 2009. He is the
chief operating officer (Guangxi Region) of the Group, the chairman
of Panjin Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited,
Yulin Hongjin Logistics Development Limited and Qinzhou Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited and a director of
Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited, all of
which are subsidiaries of the Group. He is responsible for the business
operations and sales in Guangxi Region and Liaoning Province. Mr.
Wong holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from Hong
Kong Baptist University and a Bachelor (Hons) Degree in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, and is a member of the 6th
Guangxi Yulin Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Wong has over 27 years of experience in general
management and finance in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. YUNG Chi Hung, Quincy, aged 54, joined the Group in May 2018.
He is the financial controller of the Group responsible for finance
and accounting matters. Mr. Yung holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration and a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong and the University of Wisconsin-
Madison, USA respectively. He is a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yung has over 23 years of experience in
finance and accounting matters in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. LEUNG Wai Kai, Ray, aged 47, joined the Group in April 2013.
He is the general manager of Human Resources Department of the
Group and is responsible for human resources management and
talent development. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from Hong Kong
Baptist University and he is a qualified Human Resources Professional in
the PRC. Mr. Leung has over 25 years of experience in human resources
both in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERMSE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance within a sensible framework with a strong emphasis on
transparency, accountability, integrity and independence and enhancing
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency, to ensure
its sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the
Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Compliance with Listing Rules and CG Code

The Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of the
Company and is satisfied that the Company had applied the principles
and complied with the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors and Relevant
Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the financial year under
review.

To comply with code provision C.1.3 of the CG Code, the Company
has also adopted a written code of conduct regarding securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the Model Code by the
relevant employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are
considered likely to be in possession of inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Directors during the financial year under review
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho
Chairman
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Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung
Mr. Lau King Lung
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 38 to 41 of
this Annual Report.

Responsibilities

The Board'’s primary functions are to set corporate policy and overall
strategy for the Group and to provide effective oversight of the
management of the Group’s business and affairs. It delegates day-to-day
operations of the Group to executive Directors and senior management.
Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board also approves, among
others, strategic plans, key operational issues, investments and loans,
reviews the financial performance of the Group and evaluates the
performance and compensation of senior management. These functions
are either carried out directly by the Board or indirectly through
committees established by the Board. Besides, the Board has delegated
general powers to management to deal with day-to-day management,
administration and operations of the Group. Appropriate insurance
coverage in respect of legal action against the Directors is arranged by
the Company.

The Board possesses a balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. Save
as Mr. Tang, a non-executive Director, is the brother-in-law of Mr. Yau Yuk
Shing, an executive Director, none of the Directors have any financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each other.
The opinions raised by the independent non-executive Directors at the
meetings of the Board facilitate the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices. The Board has three independent non-executive
Directors, representing more than one-third of the Board, and at least
one of the independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualification and accounting and related financial
management expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules. A balanced composition of executive and non-executive Directors
also ensures a strong independent element on the Board, which allows
for an independent and objective decision making process for the best
interests of the Company. The Company will review the composition
of the Board regularly to ensure the Board possesses the appropriate
and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the needs of the
Group’s business with due regard for the benefits of diversity, as set out
in the diversity policy adopted by the Board.
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All non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed with specific term set out in their respective
letters of appointment, and all Directors (including both executive and
non-executive) are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years at the Company’s annual general meetings in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company. The non-executive Directors’ terms
of office will be renewed automatically after the re-election, unless
prematurely terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions
specified in the respective letters of appointment, the bye-laws of the
Company, the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors are free from any business or
other relationship with the Company. Each independent non-executive
Director is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any change in his own personal particulars that may affect his
independence. No such notification was received during the financial
year under review. The Company has also received from each of the
existing independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company continues to consider the three independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board meets at least four times a year with additional meetings
arranged, as and when necessary, has a schedule of matters reserved for
its review and approval. The specific responsibility reserved for the Board
includes matters in relation to, among others, determining strategies
and objectives of the Group, monitoring the overall management
and operation of the Group, reviewing capital, corporate and control
structures, ensuring financial reporting, risk management and internal
control measures, determining major capital projects and contracts,
including material acquisitions, disposals and other significant potential
investments, communication with the Shareholders, determining the
Board composition, the appointment of company secretary and auditors,
evaluating the effectiveness of internal controls, reviewing adequacy of
resources, qualification and experience of staff, delegation of authority
to committees and reviewing the Group’s overall corporate governance
arrangements.

Save as those matters mentioned above, the Board has delegated
general powers to management to deal with day-to-day management,
administration and operations of the Group. At the same time,
management will provide with the Board and its committees with
adequate information, in a timely manner, to enable it to make informed
decisions.

At least 14 days’ notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
Agendas accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors 3 days
before the date of a regular meeting of the Board to ensure that the
Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. All minutes of
the meetings of the Board and its committee are kept by the company
secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the financial year under review, the Board reviewed (i) the
policies and practices on corporate governance of the Company; (ii)
the training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; (iii) the policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) the code of conduct applicable
to employees and Directors; and (v) the compliance with the CG Code
which was disclosed in this Annual Report.

Board Meetings and General Meetings

During the financial year under review, the Company held four regular
meetings of the Board and an annual general meeting (the “2021 AGM").
The attendance of each Director is set out as follows:
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Number of attendance/
number of meetings entitled
to attend
HERE EREESERH
Regular Board
meetings 2021 AGM
—EB-—fF
Directors 2= EHEEEEER REBAFAS
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RIREE S & 4/4 11
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing WAL 4/4 0/1
Non-executive Director FHITEE
Mr. Tang Ching Ho BB A 4/4 1/
Independent non-executive Directors IR TEE
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RAELE 4/4 0/1
Mr. Lau King Lung RaefE A 4/4 1/1
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRIRFEE 4/4 1/
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Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2021 AGM on each
substantive issue and the percentage of votes cast in favour of such
resolutions as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 25

August 2021 are set out below:

DRI T

R-E-—FRRBFASLASREEMEEER
EZEBRBRNERZERZERARRZRHA
D RARRTBAPRR B —F\AZ+HRAZ

consolidated financial statements of the
Company, the report of the directors of
the Company and the independent auditor
of the Company for the year

ended 31 March 2021.

To re-elect Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond as
an executive Director.

To re-elect Mr. Lau King Lung as an independent

non-executive Director.

. Tore-elect Mr. Tang Ching Ho as

a non-executive Director.

. To authorise the Board to fix the remuneration

of the Directors.

To re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as auditors of the Company and
authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

To approve the grant of the New Issue Mandate.

To approve the grant of
the New Repurchase Mandate.

To approve the extension of the New Issue
Mandate by the addition of the aggregate
number of Shares repurchased by the
Company under the New Repurchase
Mandate to the New Issue Mandate.

Percentage of votes
Resolutions proposed at the 2021 AGM R-B-—FREBFABLEZZAER ZHEDL
1.  Toreceive, consider and adopt the audited R AEREWNEE—T - —F 99.9%
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SRR S AHITES -
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REEEeETES ME -

BERAGSMEEAERATNRARRZK
2iE > YREERSETHEME -

POER BT -

PR BRI XA o
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B D AR BRI FT BT TIRAE
AR B TIRHE ©

o

99.9%

99.9%

99.9%

99.9%

99.9%

99.9%

99.9%

99.9%

Accordingly, all resolutions put to the Shareholders at the 2021 AGM
were passed. The results of the voting by poll were published on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

As at the date of this report, the positions of the chairman and the chief
executive officer are held by Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Mr. Leung Sui Wah,
Raymond respectively. There is clear division of responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive officer which provides a balance of
power and authority.

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company provides a comprehensive induction package covering the
summary of the responsibilities of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company and the Guides on Directors’ Duties issued by the Companies
Registry. The Company would also arrange seminars on professional
knowledge of regulatory requirements related to director’s duties and
responsibilities for each newly appointed Director to ensure that he/she
is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, all Directors received
regular update on corporate governance matters or news or changes to
laws and regulations. Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond and Mr. Wong Ping
Yuen attended briefings or seminars on relevant topics. All Directors are
requested to provide the Company with a record of the training they
received.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), each of which has the
specific written terms of reference that will be renewed and updated,
if necessary. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its
decision and recommendations, where appropriate.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (chairman), Mr. Lau King
Lung and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles
and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure of remuneration for all Directors and senior
management of the Company and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing such policy;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and senior management of the Company, including but not limited
to benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

4. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

5. to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management of the Company for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent
with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

6. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate; and

7. to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.
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During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held two meetings and the attendance of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out below:
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Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee FMESERE HEER
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (chairman) RAELE (FE) 2/2
Mr. Lau King Lung Rl E 2/2
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRREE 2/2

During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the existing remuneration policy, assessed performance of
executive Directors, reviewed the existing remuneration packages and
structure of executive Directors and senior management of the Company
and the existing remuneration packages of independent non-executive
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to
discharge its major roles to, among other things, make recommendations,
if any, to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Company (i.e. the model
described in the CG Code is adopted) and approve the terms of executive
Director’s service contracts.

The remuneration payable to the Directors will depend on their
respective contractual terms under their employment contracts or
service contracts and the same were reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the members of
the senior management by band for the financial year under review is set
out below:
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9 o

RBCREERTA) aREBREKENE MK
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Number of individuals

Over 2,000,000 2,000,000 JA_E

Remuneration band (HK$) HENEE (7B T) AE
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001 £ 2,000,000 4
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman), Mr. Ng Yat Cheung and
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen and one executive Director, namely Mr. Leung Sui
Wah, Raymond.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles
and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

1. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of
service) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

2. to identify and nominate individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. In
identifying suitable individuals, the Nomination Committee shall
consider individuals on merit against the objective criteria, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors
and review the independent non-executive Directors’ annual
confirmations on their independence and make disclosure of its
review results in the corporate governance report of the Company;

4. to regularly review the time required for a Director to perform his/
her responsibilities;

5. to review the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
on the Board;

6. to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of the
Group with a view to ensuring the long term success of the Group;

7. to review the Board diversity policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the
Board diversity policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives;
and make disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report annually;

8. to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election every
three years by Shareholders;
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10.

11.

12.

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the chairman/chairwoman and the chief
executive, taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy and
the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the
future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every Director should
receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a service contract
with the Company, as appropriate;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive Director at the general meeting, the
Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to Shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting why it believes the individual should
be elected and the reasons why it considers the individual to be
independent; and

the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared
to respond to questions raised by Shareholders on the Nomination
Committee’s activities and responsibilities.

During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting and the attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out below:

10.

11.

12.
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Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REZEGRE HEER
Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman) BIEFE S (/) 11
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RAELAE 11
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRIRAELE 11
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond PInEE S 1/1
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During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee
(i) reviewed, inter alia, the policy for the nomination of Directors, the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria to select and
recommend candidates for directorship and the Board diversity policy;
and (ii) recommended the re-elections of Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond,
Mr. Lau King Lung and Mr. Tang Ching Ho in the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 25 August 2021. The nominations of re-election
were made in accordance with the objective criteria (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length
of service), with due regard for the benefits of diversity, as set out in the
Board diversity policy adopted by the Company. As a good governance
practice, Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond, Mr. Lau King Lung and Mr. Tang
Ching Ho had abstained from voting at the Nomination Committee and/
or Board meeting on their nominations for election by the Shareholders.
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing, a brother-in-law of Mr. Tang, had abstained from
voting at the Board meeting on Mr. Tang’s appointment and re-election.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to diversify the Board and for which the Nomination
Committee has reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee reviewed
and assessed the Board composition and made recommendations (if any)
to the Board pursuant to the Board diversity policy and the nomination
policy.

The Nomination Committee will consider, when designing and reviewing
the Board’s composition, from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length
of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider candidates on
merit against the objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

As at 31 March 2022, the Board comprises six Directors, including two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of
the management process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether in terms of professional experience, skills and
knowledge.
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Having reviewed the Board diversity policy and the Board’s composition,
the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in
the Board diversity policy had been met. The Nomination Committee
considers that the current Board composition has provided the Company
with a good balance and diversity of skills and experience appropriate
for the business of the Company. The Nomination Committee will review
the implementation of the Board diversity policy from time to time to
ensure its effectiveness on determining the optimum composition of the
Board.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
guidelines for the Nomination Committee to nominate suitable
candidate(s) to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations
to the Shareholders for election or re-election as Director(s) at a
general meeting of the Company or recommendations to the Board for
appointment or re-election as Director(s).

1. Selection Criteria

1.1 In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the factors (as
reference), including but not limited to reputation, integrity,
accomplishment and relevant experience in relation to the
principal businesses of the Company from time to time,
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest,
diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. These factors are for reference only, and are not meant
to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.

1.2 Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those serving
as independent non-executive Directors for a period of 9
years (or above), the Nomination Committee will consider the
independence of such Director for nomination by the Board
to stand for election at a general meeting and state the reason
in a circular to the Shareholders for the re-election. For those
serving as independent non-executive directors for 7 (or more)
listed companies, the Nomination Committee will consider why
they would still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board for
nomination by the Board to stand for appointment or re-election
at a general meeting and state the reason in a circular to the
Shareholders for election or re-election.
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13

14

Candidate(s) is required to submit the necessary personal
information pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, together with their written consent to be appointed
as Director(s) and to the public disclosure of their personal data
on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or
in relation to their standing for election as Director(s).

The Nomination Committee may request the candidate(s) to
provide additional information and documents, if necessary.

2. Nomination Procedures

2.1

2.2

23

24

25

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee and invite nominations of
candidate(s) from members of the Board, if any, for consideration
by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee may
nominate candidate(s) without nomination by a member of the
Board.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidate(s) to stand for election
at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

Information (including names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required pursuant
to the applicable laws, rules and regulations) of the candidate(s)
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting
will be stated in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

The Shareholder can serve a notice to the Company’s company
secretary to propose a resolution to elect a person as Director,
without the Board’s recommendation or the Nomination
Committee’s nomination pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and regulations. The particulars of the candidate(s) so proposed
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
will be stated in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
Company’s company secretary.

2.6 The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to

its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any
general meeting.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee pursuant to Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules with specific terms of reference, which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit
Committee consists of all of the independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman), Mr. Ng Yat Cheung and Mr. Lau
King Lung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia, reviewing the
interim and annual financial statements and making recommendation
to the Board, reviewing the terms of engagement and making
recommendation to the Board regarding the appointment of external
auditors of the Company, monitoring and assessing the independence
of external auditors and effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems and oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting, controlling, accounting policies and practices (with external
auditors and management of the Company) and risk management and
internal control issues.

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings and the attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is
set out below:
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Attendance

Members of the Audit Committee EREEEHE HEER

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman) TRREE (F/E) 3/3

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RAELRAE 3/3

Mr. Lau King Lung Gt 3/3
During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee reviewed MREBEIEFEN @ BZEES E%Fﬁlgﬁim?& B
and discussed with the senior management and the external auditors 12/ A A _]9\\%*?%(%%*1%25* T —F=H
of the Company the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2021, =+—HAItFEZFEEE - 5= —$ 1A

the interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2021 and
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company.
In addition, the Audit Committee also reviewed with the senior
management and/or professional advisers of the Company, among
other things, internal control and risk management, the effectiveness
of the Company'’s internal audit function, the continuing connected
transactions of the Group and the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions as well as their training programmes and budget.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and
timely publication of the financial statements and ensure that they are
prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors have adopted suitable
accounting policies which are pertinent to the Group’s operations
and relevant to the financial statements and have presented an
understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the independent auditor’s report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s external auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited (“HLB"), in respect of audit services and other services is set
out as follows which had been reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee based on the scopes of their works:
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Services rendered for the Group

RETFAEE 2R

Approximate fees
paid/payable

to HLB
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Audit services
Non-audit services

1,980
280

Total #aET

2,260
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems during the financial year
under review. Regular review is set to be conducted once per year.
While the management of the Group is responsible for implementing
and maintaining sound risk management and internal control systems
that safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’ interest in aspects
including operation, financial and compliance, the systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Risk management process

The Group has established risk management manual to formulate the
risk management process and management is committed to fostering
a risk aware and control conscious environment. The staffs in all levels
within the Group are also required to take the relevant responsibility on
the risk management process. The structure and procedures for the risk
management are as follows:

Risk
management review

[ B A

Risk Risk
monitoring identification
ERER Business BB

objectives

ESVIsEE S

Risk
assessment

[R5 S

Control

activities

EREE
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Risk identification Both internal and external factors
including economic, political, social,
technology and environmental factors,
laws and regulations, business objectives
and stakeholders’ expectation would be

considered.

The risk identified would be assessed
and rated based on the likelihood
and impact to the achievement of the
Group’s objectives.

Risk assessment

Control activities The internal control procedures have
been designed and implemented to
address the risks.

Risk monitoring Risk register has been maintained and
updated regularly to monitor risks on an

ongoing basis.

The Board and the Audit Committee
would perform a review on any change

Risk management review
of significant risks of the Group.

Internal audit function

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Company appointed
external advisers to perform the ongoing monitoring of the systems
of internal control of the Group and report their findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee and follow up the status of
implementation of the recommendations to ensure all significant control
activities are properly in place within the Group.

The Group has adopted a risk-based approach in developing the annual
audit plan to cover business activities with material risks across the
Group. The rotation basis would be applied to operations with similar
risk associated so as to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the
internal audit.
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All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies for the
financial year under review have been communicated to management,
who are required to establish remedial plans to correct those internal
control deficiencies within a reasonable time period. Post-audit review
is performed to monitor those agreed recommendations having been
implemented as intended and on a timely basis.

Based on the audit result and post-audit review, the advisers reported
that no significant deficiency on the internal control system of the Group
for the financial year under review had been noted.

Review on risk management and internal control systems

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022 and confirmed that the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems in respect of financial,
operational, compliance controls, risk management functions and
adequacy of resources, were effective and adequate.

Inside information policy

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of
communication between the stakeholders and the Group and has
established policies and procedures for timely disclosure of inside
information to the public when available. The senior management of
the Group will take all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure
that the disclosure of inside information is in compliance with the
requirements of all applicable laws and regulations.

Whistleblowing policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the
achieving of highest possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability. Procedures are formulated to assist individual employee
to disclose internally and at a high level, information which the individual
believes that it shows malpractice or impropriety within the Group. Such
policy is made available on the website of the Company.
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Dividend Policy

The Board adopted a dividend policy in order to promote greater
dividend policy transparency. In deciding whether to recommend
the payment of dividend to the Shareholders, the Board will take
into account of a number of factors, including but not limited to the
Company's operation and financial performance, liquidity condition,
capital requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate, subject to the
applicable rules of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company. Based
on these factors, the determination of dividend distribution, the amount
and frequency, will be made at the discretion of the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that
Board procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence
to proper Board processes and timely preparation of and dissemination
to the Directors comprehensive Board meeting agendas and papers.
Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Board committees are prepared
and maintained by the company secretary to record in sufficient details
the matters considered and decisions reached by the Board or Board
committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced
by any Director. All draft and finalised minutes of the Board meetings
and meetings of the Board committees are sent to the Directors or Board
committee members as appropriate for comments, approval and records.
All records are available for inspection by any Director upon request.

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond reports directly to the Board and is
responsible for, inter alia, providing updated information to all Directors
from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Leung complied with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and took no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is conscious of its role as an environmentally and socially
responsible group of companies. It has made donations for community
wellbeing from time to time and has environmental friendly policies in
place. We support the communities and encourage our employees to
participate in charitable events and environmental protection activities.
Details of the environmental and social responsibility matters of the
Group were disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this Annual Report. More details will be disclosed in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company to be
published in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Special General Meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting (the
“SGM”") to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to bye-law 62 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM shall
be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), and, in default, may be convened by
the requisitionist(s).

Pursuant to bye-law 63 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM may be
called by notice in writing of not less than fourteen clear days and not
less than ten clear business days.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Section 74 of the Companies Act once a valid
requisition is received.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights at the date of the requisition or not less than 100
Shareholders may put forward a proposal at a Shareholders” meeting,
pursuant to the Companies Act, by sending a written requisition to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong. The proposal should be
stated in the written requisition and such written requisition should
be submitted as early as practicable to enable the Company to make
necessary arrangement (in case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than six weeks before the meeting; and in case of any
other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting).

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must provide their full
name, contact details and identification, in the originally signed written
requisition, notice or statement (as the case may be), in order to give
effect thereto. Information of Shareholder(s) may be disclosed as
required by law.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board and/or the
secretary of the Company, either by post, by facsimiles or by email,
together with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or fax
number, via the following channels:

For corporate affairs:
Address: China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
Suite 3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower
39 Wang Kwong Road
Kowloon Bay
Kowloon
Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2312 8288
Fax: (852) 23128148
Email: pr@cnagri-products.com

For shareholding or entitlement affairs:
Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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The Company encourages the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s annual general meetings and/or other general meetings,
at which the Directors are on hand to answer questions raised by the
Shareholders on the Company’s business operations.

Constitutional document

There was no change in the memorandum of association and bye-laws of
the Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

The memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CONCLUSION

Going ahead, the Board will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency to ensure
its sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the
stakeholders of the Company.

2022 Annual Report 65

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEEREE

ARREERRD2ERNRRRBFRG &I HE
EBERAE - MEENEZ LRARERRABA
RAFEBEEZRRA °

AREETZ M
ARAZ MBERAMEANENRBE_T==
= A=+— AL REENBBEE -

AR BIEBERAGE N AR AT B P R AR
RIMBILRER] o

l||:EAE-ﬁ

RERK  EFGREETHRTELEERER
AR RK TP 2B RE - AR AR B ZBF IR
BERE - WHAHAMEERMARDRRFNE
BlEE Z MR -



TEERERXSERAH

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
H

H e A+
BT 315& =




—EC_FER 2022 Annual Report 67




68

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended
31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of management and
sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC.
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are
set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a fair review of the
business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced
by the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year under review, an analysis of
the Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators,
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business and
a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance
and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group, can be found in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this Annual Report. In addition, a discussion on relationships with its key
stakeholders is included in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report.
These discussions form part of this report of the directors.

Structured Contracts

Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment
(2015 version), value-added telecommunications services are subject to
foreign investment restriction in which a foreign investor shall hold no
more than 50% equity interest in a value-added telecommunications
services provider (excluding e-commerce) in the PRC.

The Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) services belong to a sub-category
of value-added telecommunications services. According to the
Administrative Rules for Foreign Investment in Telecommunications
Enterprises, foreign investors shall contribute to no more than 50% of the
registered capital of a value-added telecommunications services provider
(excluding e-commerce) and any such foreign investor shall maintain
a good track record and possess relevant operational experience in
the value-added telecommunications services industry (the “Foreign
Shareholding Restrictions”).

Shenzhen Gudeng, the then direct wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of
Shenzhen Zhibo, an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the
Company, was incorporated in September 2015 and received the ICP
license on 7 September 2016. It held one website and two mobile
applications for the Group and was principally engaged in online
provision of agricultural products in the PRC.
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On 19 June 2015, the Circular on Removing the Restrictions on
Shareholding Ratio Held by Foreign Investors in Online Data Processing
and Transaction Processing (Operating E-commerce) Business (the
“E-commerce Circular”) was issued, which allows the foreign ownership
in online data processing and transaction processing (operating
e-commerce) business up to 100%. However, since the E-commerce
Circular does not provide any clear legal definition of “e-commerce”,
it is unclear as to whether the business to be conducted by Shenzhen
Gudeng would fall within the scope of the E-commerce Circular to
benefit from the loosened restrictions on the Foreign Shareholding
Restrictions.

As such, Shenzhen Zhibo (i) entered into a disposal agreement on 11
July 2016 with Yu Hui Jun (the “Nominee Shareholder”) and (ii) further
entered into the exclusive business cooperation agreement, the exclusive
call option agreement, the equity pledge agreement, the power of
attorney and the ancillary documents (collectively the “Structured
Contracts”) with the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng on 9
October 2016 (other than the exclusive business cooperation agreement
which was entered into by and between Shenzhen Zhibo and Shenzhen
Gudeng only and the power of attorney which was executed by the
Nominee Shareholder in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo) such that the Group
is entitled to acquire the rights and ability to control the business of
Shenzhen Gudeng and to obtain the economic benefit (the “Contractual
Arrangements”).

The exclusive business cooperation agreement and the exclusive call
option agreement had an initial term of 3 years commencing from the
date of the relevant agreements which were renewed for another 3 years
on 8 October 2019. As security for the payment of service fees under the
exclusive business cooperation agreement and the performance of the
exclusive call option agreement and the power of attorney, the equity
pledge agreement executed in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will only be
terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee Shareholder
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements are fulfilled. Similarly,
for protection of the Group, the power of attorney executed in favour of
Shenzhen Zhibo will be valid so long as the Contractual Arrangements
are in place. The Company will keep exploring various opportunities in
building up its ICP services operations for the purposes of being qualified
as early as possible, to acquire the entire equity interest of Shenzhen
Gudeng if and when the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions are lifted. For
details of the Structured Contracts, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 11 July 2016 and 11 October 2016, respectively.

Save for the exclusive business cooperation agreement which involves
the payment of a service fee by Shenzhen Gudeng to Shenzhen Zhibo on
a monthly basis, and the nominal consideration paid by Shenzhen Zhibo
to the Nominee Shareholder under the exclusive call option agreement,
each of the Structured Contracts does not involve payment of any
consideration.
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The Structured Contracts, taken as a whole, permit the results and
financial operations of Shenzhen Gudeng to be consolidated in
the Company, as if it was the Company’s subsidiary resulting in all
economic benefits of its business flowing to the Company. Through the
appointment by Shenzhen Zhibo of all directors and senior management
of Shenzhen Gudeng, the Directors believe that Shenzhen Zhibo is able
to effectively supervise, manage and operate the business operations,
expansion plans, financial policies and assets of Shenzhen Gudeng,
and at the same time, ensure due implementation of the Structured
Contracts. According to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, a
subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by another entity (known as the
parent). An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Although the Company does not directly or indirectly own Shenzhen
Gudeng, the Structured Contracts enable the Company to exercise
control over and receive economic benefits generated from the business
operation of Shenzhen Gudeng and the validity and legality of the
Structured Contracts have been confirmed by the Company’s PRC legal
adviser. The Group derives economic benefits from the ICP services
provided by Shenzhen Gudeng. Under such circumstances, the Directors
are of the view that it is fair and reasonable for Shenzhen Zhibo to be
entitled to all the economic benefits generated from Shenzhen Gudeng.
The Structured Contracts also permit Shenzhen Zhibo to exclusively
acquire all or part of the equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng, if and when
permitted by PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the Group's lack
of equity ownership in Shenzhen Gudeng, the Group is able to control
the business and financial position of Shenzhen Gudeng in substance
through the Structured Contracts. As a result of the Structured Contracts,
Shenzhen Gudeng is accounted for as the Company’s subsidiary, and
its financial position and operating results are consolidated in the
Company'’s consolidated financial statements.

The revenue, net loss and total asset value subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to nil and approximately HK$1.3 million for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022 and approximately HK$7.6 million as
of 31 March 2022, respectively.

No unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

Considering the scale of operations of the CAP Group’s e-commerce
platform, its contribution to the CAP Group's revenue/profits, as well
as its development prospects, the board of directors of the Company
considered that the Group’s resources could be better deployed
towards supporting the continuous development of its internal
information technology infrastructure. Therefore, in the interest of each
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole for the Contractual
Arrangements were unwound and terminated.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement entered into among
Shenzhen Zhibo, Shenzhen Gudeng and the Nominee Shareholder
(who was a director of certain subsidiaries of CAP), Shenzhen Zhibo was
granted an exclusive right (the “Call Option”) which was exercisable
at any time at its sole discretion, to acquire the entire equity interest
in Shenzhen Gudeng from the Nominee Shareholder at a nominal
consideration of RMB100 or the minimum amount permitted under the
applicable PRC laws (whichever is higher).

On 20 December 2021, Shenzhen Zhibo exercised the Call Option
and entered into an equity transfer agreement with the Nominee
Shareholder to acquire the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng
at the consideration of RMB100. The Contractual Arrangements were
unwound and the operation of the Group’s e-commerce platform in
online agricultural products trading as supported by the Contractual
Arrangements ceased accordingly upon the completion of the transfer
of the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng. The Group will
also continue to explore and consider other suitable e-commerce
opportunities as part of the Group’s business development. For details of
the unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the joint
announcement of, inter alia, the Company dated 20 December 2021.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 228 of this
Annual Report.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). No interim dividend
was paid to the Shareholders during the year under review (2021: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Details of the dividend policy of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Dividend Policy” in the Corporate Governance Report of this
Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options of the
Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2022, together with
the reasons therefor, are set out in notes 31 and 33 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year under review, other than the Convertible Notes as set
out in the paragraph headed “Convertible Notes” in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and the Share Option Scheme
as set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and notes 29
and 33 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has not
entered into any equity-linked agreement.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 232 of this Annual Report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the financial year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Details of movements in the financial assets of the Group during the
financial year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in notes 22 and 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution to equity holders of the Company calculated in accordance
with the Companies Act.

PROMISSORY NOTES

Details of movements in the promissory notes of the Company during
the financial year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
Annual Report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung
Mr. Lau King Lung
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Yau
Yuk Shing and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

All independent non-executive Directors’ terms of office will be renewed
automatically after the re-election, unless prematurely terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective letters of
appointment, the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 and the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each of
the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the existing independent non-executive Directors to be
independent as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 38 to 41 of this
Annual Report.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

There is no change in the information of Director since the publication of
the 2021 interim report pursuant to Rule 13.51(B) of the Listing Rules.

Details of the change in remuneration of Directors, if any, were disclosed
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with any company in the Group which is
not determinable by such company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group'’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the year under review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is
currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year under
review. The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate
insurance coverage in respect of potential legal actions against its
Directors and officers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required to be entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

(A) Long positions in the ordinary shares (the “Shares”) and underlying
shares of the Company:
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Notes:

(a)

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
form(s) filed under the SFO.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, among of the 7,320,095,747 Shares, 2,007,700,062
Shares were held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger Investments”)
and 5,312,395,685 Shares were held by Goal Success Investments Limited
(“Goal Success”). Onger Investments was directly wholly owned by
Loyal Fame International Limited (“Loyal Fame”, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Easy One Financial Group Limited (“Easy One") which is in
turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang). Goal Success was directly wholly owned
by Biomore Investments Limited (“Biomore Investments”) (a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart Investments Limited (“Total
Smart”) which is directly wholly owned by Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Holdings Limited (“WYT"). WYT is owned as to approximately 65.79% by
Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time") which is wholly-owned by Wang
On Enterprises (BVI) Limited (“WOE"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang
On Group Limited ("WOG") which was owned as to approximately 48.69%
by Mr. Tang, together with his associates).

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website
of the Stock Exchange, Mr. Leung held 50,000,000 underlying Shares,
representing interests in share options granted to the Director under the
share option scheme of the Company to subscribe for the Shares, further
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

(B) Interest in the shares and underlying shares of associated
corporations:
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50,000,000 XM B A& (D - AANA RIEEIRE ST &8
TRTIESRBR/RMNO ZEREREL - L
1EEA [BE AR AT &I —&7 -

(B) AHREHER 2 B fn RABRER ) < e as

Approximate
percentage of
the associated
Total number corporation’s
Name of of shares total issued
Name of Director associated corporations Nature of interest involved shares
A AR g S
BERITROLH
EE=ER HEEE BB ESEME FITs IR 43 # 2Y ZEBNESL
(Note d) (Note c)
(Btatd) (Btatc)
%
Mr. Tang WYT Interest of controlled 810,322,940 65.79
B L= corporation
RPEGDEE R
Wang On Properties Interest of controlled 11,400,000,000 75.00
Limited ("WOP") corporation
REHERR AT PSR
([BRE])
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Approximate
percentage of
the associated
Total number corporation’s
Name of of shares total issued
Name of Director associated corporations Nature of interest involved shares
B E
BRITROBE
EEE8 HECEE B ERME FRrss R ) 48 ZEBNBE DL
(Note d) (Note c)
(Ktitd) (Ktitc)
%
WOG Interest of controlled  2,734,664,306
REEE __corporation
RS EE R
Beneficial Owner 28,026,339
BEnEBA
Interest of spouse 28,026,300
N
Founder of 4,989,928,827
a discretionary trust
ZREEFERILA
Total 7,780,645,772 48.69
#Et
Notes: Hiat -

(c)

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
form(s) filed under the SFO.

With reference to note (b) above, 810,322,940 shares of WYT were
held by Rich Time; 11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by Earnest
Spot Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE). Amongst
the 2,734,664,306 shares of WOG held under interest of controlled
corporation, 432,475,200 shares were held by Suntech Investments
Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart), 1,284,273,800
shares were held by Hearty Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Total Smart), 486,915,306 shares were held by Caister Limited (a company
wholly owned by Mr. Tang) and 531,000,000 shares were held by Billion
Trader Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Loyal Fame).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates had any other interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(© ZADLLIREZGES MAEGRIDIRZMIAR
WERRIGIEE -

(d) ZX3R it E STH 5E(b) + iz JT = 2 810,322,940
f& A% 1 MRichTime® A M R &2 &E 2
11,400,000,000 f% A% {7 F5 Earnest Spot Limited
(WOEZ B2 EMIBRAR) B HE - RL&EE
2.2,734,664306 i ik A XX HEE R E - &
71432,475,2000% [% {5 A Suntech Investments
Limited (Total Smart 2 B #& = & W B 2 7)) #F
B 1,284,273,800 A% X {9 F1 Hearty Limited (Total
Smart 2 E 2 EMBAR)FA - 486,915,306 %
[% 15 F Caister Limited (B L £ 2 EHB) FE
A % 531,000,000 % f% {5 F4 Billion Trader Limited
(HRBHEEZEERFAE -

B P BEEN  RZEZZF=A=+—
B EEERAQAEBITHRAS R ST
AFEESE B8 AREAR B SKEAT(TAEH

(E&E R GEFH REEBRGIE XVER) 2 i&HD -
HRBARR D SEREET - A RN AR EIRE
GEHRBEIEINERIEFEE 2B &
BARE GZESTADMBMAR G KB A2 £
AEMERS AR -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 May 2012, the Company adopted a new share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentive to
selected eligible persons (the “Participants”) to take up options for
their contribution to the Group. Participants include directors, including
independent non-executive directors, employees, individuals who work
for any member of the Group or any substantial Shareholder or any
company controlled by a substantial Shareholder, holders of securities
issued by any member of the Group or any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the Group.
The Scheme became effective on 3 May 2012 and will remain in force
for a period of 10 years. The Scheme expired on 2 May 2022. Under
the Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the Participants to
subscribe for the Shares. The offer of a grant of share options must be
accepted by the relevant Participants within 30 days after the date of
grant upon payment of a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share
options granted. The exercise price is to be determined by the Board
and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the
official closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

The number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Shareholders. Options granted to
substantial Shareholders or independent non-executive Directors, or any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and
with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in
advance by the Shareholders. There is no specific requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any such
minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised for
a period of more than 10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, the
Board may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders at general
meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time. Other details of the Scheme are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRETE

RIZE——FHA=H  ARFRH—EFER
Rt ([ZEtd)) TBEMRMEBEZAERA
T ([88RE]) AARKEMERRIMARFREER
BREZ R 20ERRES (BREBILIFNT
%) BT RAKEBETEAKEARIEZ
B AR E EBEIR 3 T ERRRIES 2 EM R F] -
AEBERK B ARMETES A ALAARE
BUEMAK B ARREMIT - BERIEMRAM SR
EEER - & EXRIEMRBZEMALRE
B LRTEIN T ——F R A=ZHAAER - WHRT+
FRA—EAM &SR _F_—_FHA_HE
W e RBZATE > EFEU 2 EERLEREN
RERD - RTBERBZEZLARK LA BRE
30 AR B BHLPTR 2 B SAS 178 T 2 (B
% BMERSEERR - TEESHESTSRE
RABERATRRZ&ESE () ROREL B
(ARZEER)EBXMERRERMI 2 ERKT
B (EHREZRREBEHLESXAERR
P BRERMYIZ ENRTE 98 M (i) B
HEE

PER B B (B3EZ B) B+ = 1@ A 8/
W i RERRE LA - BEER2EEREZ
BRESRBRHEE  REMRKIENSEBRE %
TRIDZ 1% Wi FEERRSBUIFERITES
REMFEES A ZHEAZ BRIERAEBITRG
201% - R EEEA TR 5,000,000%8 T+ AIE
SRR BEBE o BEERRSUR T BREERE TR
BB AATE  EESSERMBRELEM
15 BB AR B BE AT ER FE HAPR. - EE SR 2K
BT AITEE R 2 AR - T A R %
A HAHEET 10 FIA L HAR A1 -

BFREAIREAS LibER EEeR RN £
BRERRABRRASHES B BITRNDEH
10% ° BER L ZHTE - EEREEREITEME
BRI R AR Al 2 A E b R E A B3R
B AT B A fe BT 2 B - 9]
BB BT TR 2 30% © sZaT 812 b FFIFEMN
GRA IS IRERMIFE3S -
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Details of the movements of the share options under the Scheme during
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ZEEZBRENEE T —F=A=1+—HIt

the financial year ended 31 March 2022 were as follows: WIREE 2 EEFIFHOT -
Number of share options
BREHA
(Closing price
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding hefore
asat  Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed asat Exercise date of
Name or category TApril  during  duing  duing  during 31March  Dateof price  Validity grantduring
of Participant 2021  theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear 2022 grant  pershare period  theyear
R
R —E-cf
g--F =B ERERR
BA-A MR RER RER RER =t-H Bk it B
SEENZTE WAL Rl fife i XY HATE REEH 0 GEE AME  ZUDE
HKS (Note)
& (W)
Director £%
Leung S Weh, Raymond Pz — 50000000 - - — 50000000 31222 018 31202+ 0417
21.2032
Other employees HitES — 176,000,000 = = — 176000000 3..2022 0118 31.202- 0117
212032
Total & — 226,000,000 - - — 226,000,000
Note: st
The share options granted under the Scheme were vested as follows: REZTERE 2 BREEUT RS -
On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant: 20%vested RARHHEIZE=RAF ¢ 7% 20%
On the 4th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested ~ FARE T A Hi 2 EPUESF - BB FEIN 20%
On the 5th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested A AHIZ ERFEF - 5B ARSI 20%
On the 6th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested AR HEZ FE/NAF - SFEREIN20%
On the 7th anniversary of the date of grant: Remaining 20% vested AR HEZ EAF : 5B FIRR 20%

During the financial year under review, 226,000,000 share options were
granted and no share options were exercised, cancelled and lapsed. As at
the date of this Annual Report, the total number of the Shares available
for issue under the Scheme is 226,000,000, representing approximately
2.27% of the existing issued share capital of the Company. As the Scheme
expired on 2 May 2022, no more share options under the Scheme could
be granted.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” as set out
above and in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time
during the year ended 31 March 2022 were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouses or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

R E R FE 0 B 226,000,000 fE A%
- BREBEREDITE  FEEREM RAE
FHREH ZFEBETAUTETZIRMEBEH
7$226,000,000 % * 15 RN AAEREE EITRAL
227% c AR ZAEIERZE-__FRAA=-HE
W BRI ZET I B A AR TR o

ESWBRONEER 2 EFR

Bk b TR A kst 8l — 80 R AR & M IS 3R MY 7L 29
FrE@El REE-S-—F=A=+—HIF
EAEARE  AAfERENEFHRESE
HBCB S 2 T 2R AR - MR A& B
B REREN T AESME - RREHETE
ERARBERN - AR RS E A E D REERT
SAEAIZHEEUE E R SR A E AR A B R
AEER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTSAND *
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING &

SHARES

ERRARDREBERG 2 E
RE

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 March 2022, the R-ZT-_—F=ZA=+—8 BEZEFMFH " 7
following corporations or persons (other than the Directors or the EEHA L (EZRARAEBITHABRIN #

chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed or taken to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded

B IREFAR SR ELARRARE(ESFLAE
{EPIYEE 336 IR7AF B 2 B R M AT a 8% 2 A (7 248

in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of B D ZHEZFIAE °

the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares:

iNSv A Sy

Approximate

Total number percentage of the

Bzt c)

of Shares Company’s total

Name of Shareholders Capacity involved issued shares

HARARE BT

R ARz

RER A 54 FTs IR 43 #2Y BROESL

(Notea)

(Ftata)

%

Easy One Interest of controlled corporations 2,007,700,062 20.17
55= A E R (Note b)
(Hiztb)

Goal Success Beneficial owner 5,312,395,685 53.37
BB A (Note b)
(Hiztb)

Biomore Investments Interest of controlled corporation 5,312,395,685 53.37
REGDEE R (Note b)
(Hiztb)

Total Smart Interest of controlled corporations 5,312,395,685 53.37
REGDEE R (Note b)
(Hiztb)

WYT Interest of controlled corporations 5,312,395,685 53.37
T AR (Note b)
(Hiztb)

WOG Interest of controlled corporations 5,312,395,685 53.37
REEH AR (Note b)
(Hiztb)

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin Family interest 7,320,095,747 73.54
iid=E BN (Note c)
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Notes:

(@) The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure form(s)
filed under the SFO.

(b) Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange and the best knowledge of the Directors, among of the
7,320,095,747 Shares, 2,007,700,062 Shares were held by Onger Investments
and 5,312,395,685 Shares were held by Goal Success. Onger Investments was
directly wholly owned by Loyal Fame, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Easy One which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang, being the spouse of Ms.
Yau Yuk Yin. Goal Success was directly wholly owned by Biomore Investments
(a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart which is directly wholly
owned by WYT. WYT is owned as to approximately 65.79% by Rich Time which
is wholly owned by WOE, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On Group
Limited ("WOG") which was owned as to approximately 48.69% by Mr. Tang,
together with his associates).

(c) Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin was taken to be interested in the
7,320,095,747 Shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang, was deemed to be
interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, there were no other
persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who had any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

All of the Group’s subsidiaries are equal opportunity employers, with
the selection and promotion of individuals based on suitability for the
position offered. The salary and benefit levels of the Group’s employees
are kept at a competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance related basis within the general framework of the Group's
emolument policies.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and the Directors
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The Company has adopted the Scheme
as an incentive to the Directors and eligible participants. Details of the
Scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
Annual Report and note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group pays retirement contributions in accordance with the
statutory requirements for our PRC staff and operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme for our Hong Kong staff. Particulars of these
retirement schemes are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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(b) REEREAZFTEMTE 2 SRR RESIALN
#27,320,095,747 i B% 15 & 1 - 2,007,700,062 % A% 17 1
Onger Investments £ 5 & 5,312,395,685 % [i% {7 3 Goal
Success$F A © Onger Investments F /2 2 (5 5 = )
ERZAWBAR  55SAABTE (FERZER
B)2EHEA)HE2EWA © Goal Success Fi Biomore
Investments (Total Smart ¥ E 2 & W B AR - m
Total Smart AL T E B2 EHA) ER2EHA)
HE2EES o (17T % A Rich Time %A 4765.79% -
Rich Time A WOE(ZZ B AR AR ([RREE]) (H
B AR BB A A 48.69%) N2 BB A F)
TEWE -

(o) MRIEREE R FTASA T8 2 AR IR B A% - B Mt
WARVER BB E 5t £ R GBS LR IR R A
T RS )3 7,320,095,747 B A% () h A #E RS ©

BREXEEEIN KT —_F=A=+—H #
EHMATL (EERARFERTHRABRIN K
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AEEMBEMBARHATSEHERET - REME
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AEEREEREEZHFHB R BFHNEZESRE
BE2INB - BE M BEITRGT o 2NA 7B N
ZETE - (ERHESRABRSMEZHE - 45
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HMERMIFE33 -
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R UREBEBTIZ2EBHEAEDFE - ZFR
R8I 2 FHIBEN A BT IRRMRE 1

81



82

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the percentages of sales and
purchases attributable to the Group's five largest customers and five
largest suppliers, respectively, were both less than 5%.

At no time during the year under review have the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the issued Shares) had any interests
in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations of
approximately HK$3,033,000 million (for the year ended 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$863,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 38(c) to the
consolidated financial statements, no controlling Shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries has any contract of significance with the Company or its
subsidiaries during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on corporate governance principles
and practices adopted by the Company and any deviation to the code
provisions of the CG Code, if any, during the year under review is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 42 to 65 of this annual
report.

FERFRHES

HE—Z-—F=ZA=+—HIFE  AEEREK
BERAANHERZ HEBAREBESRAMEE D
L5  5% o

REEFEEREARE  EFRTARSEZER
8 AN E ST ANER ANQFE BT HleSS%LAL

ZEMBIR - IEEAARE AATPAHER
Efa]—J7 2 4k
1B

REIEFERN - AEBEELZEZS B 3,033,000
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Contractual Arrangements

Upon signing of the Structured Contracts, the details of which are set
out in the section headed “Principal Activities and Business Review
— Structured Contracts” above, Shenzhen Gudeng was treated as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Shenzhen Zhibo and the accounts of which
are consolidated with those of the Company. Notwithstanding that
Shenzhen Gudeng will be treated as the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, it is, at the same time, treated as the Company’s connected
person as it is wholly owned by the Nominee Shareholder, a director of
certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, for the purposes
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Structured Contracts constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The amount of financial assistance made by the Group to
Shenzhen Gudeng was approximately RMB600,000 for the year ended 31
March 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Yulin Market Development
Service Centre* (T #R 0 7 45 7 85 R % 7 /L) (the “PRC Shareholder”),
a substantial shareholder of Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-products
Wholesale Marketplace Limited (E M 72 R B E R BETHEER A
7)) (“Yulin Hongjin"), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a capital reorganisation agreement in respect of Yulin
Hongjin, pursuant to which (among other things) (i) the PRC Shareholder
waived its entitlement to the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020 in the amount of approximately
RMB40.95 million and directed the same to be paid to Century Choice,
and (ii) the amount of registered capital contribution by Century Choice
in Yulin Hongjin reduced by an amount equal to approximately RMB41.9
million, which amount was paid by Yulin Hongjin to Century Choice in
cash (the “Capital Reorganisation Agreement”). As a result of such
reduction of registered capital contribution, Century Choice’s equity
interest in Yulin Hongjin decreased to 51%. Such decrease in equity
interest constituted a disposal by the Company of its equity interest
in Yulin Hongjin under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. The Capital
Reorganisation Agreement also constituted a connected transaction for
the Company under Chapter 14A the Listing Rules, details of which were
set out in the joint announcement of the Company, WYT and WOG dated
18 June 2021.

2022 Annual Report

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

AL HE

BATHBLEH BAABIEN EX X E2EK
EEMmEE - EBIEa ] )& RIIBEWR
FEBEN2EMNBAR - BRYAEZRE S
ARBRBEAAR - BERVNAEBRRAS
REMEEMBAR - Bt EHARBIE 14AE T
5 EARERAARRNEEAL  REHKA
ABR(ERRRETEZEMBRRINER) 2EH
B Bt REBELEWRAUFE14AE - SEEESHIE
THEET 2 RGBRARR 2 HEMERS - BHE
TR CHF=A=+—RIFE - AREEER
BERENPEE B R AR 600,000 7T ©

—

)

SR RE

FERXRS

RZEZ—F~A+NHB - gBEER2A (5
B ARalz2ENBAR) BEMT SRR
HHo ((FERR EMEELERMETS
BRAR ([EMEED ZEBRE - MZARAR
REIZEEEMBRR) L EMEEF LRAER
e - B (HpaE) (FEREREEZEE
MERESEEE-_T-TF+_A=1+—HLEK
FEH AR 40,950,000 70 2 fx B 2 #EF) - WHER
eI TR Ri)EERENREE M
BEAZTE R 2 FBRAZN L AR 41,900,000 7T
ZeWAIMEREIR SN TR ((REAEAR
&) o B EFEMEATERD - RN EMNE
EZBRERDZES1%  RIEEMHRANE14E - %
MR 2 R DB R AN B B B B TR 2 BRAE ©
A SHEBZERIE ETERE 14AETER AR A
2ERER S BEFEENARRE NLERELE
EEHAE—ZT-_—FA+NBAZHBAERM -

83



84

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

The transactions relating to the remuneration of the Directors took place
during the year under review as set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements under the heading of “Material Related Party
Transactions” were the service contracts entered into between the
Directors which were exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The remaining
transactions which took place during the year under review as set out
under the heading of “Material Related Party Transactions” did not
constitute connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued Shares as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events of the Group after the reporting period are
set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31
March 2022 have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited as the external auditors of the Company for the
subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022

RAMBEmRMEBIERBEALR S| —HiFT
FNOEFEANETNEBESHENRS - /A
ERFIUMREEH - BH2ET ETRAONE
RBERHERTE - [EABEALR S| —EIFTER
CIEEHIAEI TR ER T XS R LT AR RITR TRV RS

ERZABERE

BRBARBMSZARERRBEEMA  REE
TR E- A=+ RIEFERARBEERFRA
MR ARFREREEMRAUZRE - REAR
BEIR BT RBT DR 25% N BHARIFTRE -

BEMREE

REBNREPRR 2 EREHZFBRENGREYTH
HmEMIE40 -

M

BE-Z-—F=A=1+—RHULFRFEZHFEY
BHRERELHRESTMEBABERARNERZ « #
BRAQBIEERERATAE LM - AREHER
RAREEREBFAS HIR2 —BRARRERLR
e EBTERARBARR BRF 2 INEIZER
Bl o

RRESE

B
BB

BB —E-_FA=Z+WH



—ECCOEER

2022 Annual Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT

BT 43t E A R A A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA AGRI-PRODUCTS EXCHANGE LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Agri-
Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 228, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIC FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

B ZBEN RS

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central, Hong Kong
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

RRERER

Valuation of investment properties

REYFZ1GE

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements
2B EVIBIREWE 17

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group's investment
properties to be approximately HK$3,178,403,000 as at 31 March 2022,
with net loss in fair value for the year ended 31 March 2022 recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of approximately HK$53,477,000. Independent external valuations were
obtained in order to support management’s estimates. The valuations are
dependent on certain key assumptions that require significant management
judgement, including market selling price, market rental and plot ratio of
land use right.

EREEHMER-_Z__F=A=1T—1H ESEREVEZATEAR
#4)3,178,403,000 8 7T - WRiREER LA EIAKERESFHE-F
= A=+ BIEFENRTEFEIRL 53,477,000/ 7T - BEEE
MEBLINDEBAZFEGE - ZSHEIARE THEEERERH
R EZRBR (BREMSEE - T5HEE R D ERENMRLX)

FRARFZEE

REBHRMNBEHE - BREZFASEMBZNA
HE MG MBHRRTREENER - RAIERZS
EUBBREBLERERARRBNEEE A
PUFEREFHHERER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMEFRRP NGRS A

Our procedures in relation to management'’s valuation
of investment properties included:

B EREERENMERZGEETHIEFEE

Evaluation of the independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

AHEB(AERMEE N REBRE

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based
on our knowledge of the property industry and
using our valuation experts; and

IRIRFR PIET A 17 2R 0 A S M R R PI B B (E
BEND - SHERANTEREIERRNE
BRE &

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

TS FTER A 89 8 A R 00 AE 1 1 K AR R AR
g o

We found the key assumptions were supported by the
available evidence.

HABEREZMRITERE T
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Key audit matter

RREERER

Carrying value of stock of properties

WRFEZREE

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements
ELMRE M BIRERN 19

The carrying value of stock of properties was approximately
HK$1,534,063,000 as at 31 March 2022, with no written down for the year
ended 31 March 2022 recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. The management estimated the net
realisable values of the stock of properties by reference to sale proceeds
received after the end of reporting period less selling expenses, which
involve management estimates.

REIZE-—F=A=+—H  WEFEZREEL1,534,063,000%T -
TERGEEEREMEANRRMBEEZE_E_—_F=A=1T—BItF
EEASEMHOR - B EERBIRE BIAR 2RI Z 358 Wz w35 E
XEEYEFEZ SR EE  HeEERENME -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMERRPNEET A

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
determination of the carrying value of stock of
properties included:

B EEEEE 2 YEFERABEETHNERFE
&

Assessing the appropriateness of the
methodologies used by management for the
assessments of the net realisable value of stock
of properties; and

FHE BB B A ERE 2 TR ER T
RANFENGEEE 0 &

Comparing the management’s estimates of
selling prices for similar properties to market

data.
TS8R EE R B REMENESENEE
YELLER ©

We found the carrying values of the stock of properties
were supported by the available evidence.

BAERYEFE 2 REESERESS -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the
“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group'’s financial
reporting process.

HtfER

EXAHEMERAREMR - HUES BRENFR
MER ([EMER])  ETERRA R BHmR LM
EAZ BRI IR o

PSR S MBMRIELHNERLEREEMES -
AT ZE R MEREREMTANEEE® °

FEERMEHEAMBRROET - BRANEERME
BEMER  ElBREPEEEMES ST BmAaNE
BRIBMESHBREPHTENBERFEENE
8 HUFFEERERBANER - ERRFAEH
T THE - MRBRPIR B EAME S FEERERR
A RPVEREZEE - BETE - RPPRAEMNR

& o

EERERZEERRSUBERR
AEENEE

EEFAEREEESHAMAGRONFEHBRS
ERIREBRAGEPIMREER - FEHEEMA T
RRERN G IHEERER - RERETHREGESY
BHRBMNENAAANEERE - MEZEHE MER
RAGTFAE R RS SR T B B0 R SRR AL

EREEEVBRAE  EFAAHN G BE5EF
BB W EEFELEFHNER (NE
) BRIFEERE BEEBRNFIEE Bt
2N BB ERAIITRIDE - BRIERAARERL
BRERNEHEA

BEBENTBRERIE °



—ECCOEER

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’
report is Yau Wai Ip.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yau Wai lp
Practicing Certificate Number: P07849

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L05 AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEmNEMmEEWER
nvJj\
For the year ended 31 March 2022 H{ZE — T - —F = A=+—HIFE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt s FHERT FHT
Turnover EE S 5 868,685 650,529
Cost of operation LR AN (412,500) (298,721)
Gross profit EF 456,185 351,808
Other revenue and other net income H YRS K H At FE U A 6 26,669 41,158
Gain on litigation judgment FrAAFR 36 48,572 660,833
General and administrative expenses —RRITHFAS (148,828) (157,436)
Selling expenses HERX (61,067) (30,559)
Profit from operations before fair AR ESBRREA
value changes and impairment Fed =gyl 321,531 865,804
Loss on early redemption of convertible  H2 5 & [B] A[ % {E55 2 518
bonds - (5,067)
Allowance for expected credit losses B 5 R E b e YR IE A
on trade and other receivables and MEWER Z BHEEEEE
loan receivables, net BT (2,522) (42,969)
Allowance for expected credit losses BRATEFRREE MM
on financial assets at fair value through a5 12 (R AFEIIRRE
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") H2EWRHEE]) 2 £ &b (5,566) =
BEZEHEEERRE
Net loss in fair value of investment REMERNTEFEE
properties (53,477) (14,202)
Loss on disposal of financial assets HERATESIERREHA
at FVTOC! PHNEREE S RMEE R (22,190) -
Loss on fair value change of derivative MEeRITAZ A TEZEER
financial instruments (59) (263)
Unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets &2 (B8R R E Bk EIE 2
at fair value through profit or loss SREE ABR N (518) 46 (6)
Written down of stock of properties YETFEMOR - (1,747)
Profit from operations &R 237,763 801,550
Finance costs RLE A AN 7(a) (131,970) (157,087)
Profit before taxation MRBL AR F 7 105,793 644,463
Income tax FRASH (68,757) (143,293)
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meaEmkAt2ERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiZE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FExT FHT
Profit for the year AEERA 37,036 501,170
Other comprehensive income/(loss),  Hh2mEUkE~ (E8)
net of income tax (HRRFTEHL)
Items that may be reclassified HignEoEE8n v EA -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating REBINEG I B ERER
foreign operations 120,361 255,811
Loss on fair value of financial assets BATFEHREREEMEE RS
at FVTOCI REGEZ eRMEEANTHESRE (27,756) =
Reclassified adjustment for allowance BRARATES R REREMEE
for expected credit losses on financial WRRIEFTE SREEY
assets at FVTOCI TREEEER R 2 EX D R E 5,566 =
Release on disposal of financial assets HERATESREEMEE
at FVTOCI BRI 82 SREERRER 22,190 =
Other comprehensive income for REEEMEE
the year, net of income tax ek FORRFTISHL) 120,361 255,811
Total comprehensive income for AEEEHEKE
the year, net of income tax “zE (NBRFTBH) 157,397 756,981
Profit attributable to: BN AT AR
Owners of the Company ZIN/NGIE 2N 6,401 489,602
Non-controlling interests IR 30,635 11,568
37,036 501,170
Total comprehensive income DTATEGEZR
attributable to: s 4858 -
Owners of the Company IN/NETE 2= 117,255 716,508
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR R A 40,142 40,473
157,397 756,981
Earnings per share FR2R
— Basic (HK cents) - BK (B 13(a) 0.06 4.92
- Diluted (HK cents) - 5 (B 13(b) 0.06 491

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

BEM 2 P RERE AR L i & A TS R 2 LR AR D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SRR

As at 31 March 2022 1A —

A

- F=HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CF - —4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P 7 FExT FAET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE k& 15 59,200 56,800
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 15,303 19,632
Investment properties KEYHE 17 3,178,403 3,069,723
Loan and interest receivables EURE A S 21 18,525 =
3,271,431 3,146,155
Current assets RBEE
Stock of properties MEFE 19 1,534,063 1,692,714
Trade receivables B 5 ElEIE 20(a) 1,888 9,766
Prepayment, deposits TERRIE - TR K
and other receivables H b fEGRIE 20(b) 199,533 288,336
Loan and interest receivables e E R F 8 21 12,913 22,472
Financial assets at fair value through BRATFEFRREERR
profit or loss B eREE 22 112 125
Pledged bank deposits BEMRITER 23 30,820 =
Bank and cash balances RITRIBSER 23 440,328 424,675
2,219,657 2,438,088
Current liabilities REaE
Deposits and other payables Be N E b ERRIR 24 487,653 520,612
Contract liabilities SHEE 25 233,727 586,577
Receipts in advance TR FRIE 243,927 234,863
Bank and other borrowings SRITREMEE 26 809,122 227,856
Convertible bonds Al AR (& 29 - 131,363
Lease liabilities HEA ﬁ 16(b) 4,912 5,054
Income tax payable FEATETS R 30(a) 97,073 75,781
1,876,414 1,782,106
Net current assets MENEEFRE 343,243 655,982
Total assets less current liabilities REERREBARE 3,614,674 3,802,137
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A N
mEEARRT
Asat31March2022 RZZE-_—_F=A=+—H
2022 2021
—E-CF -5
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
5T FHET FHT
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bonds E% 27 216,542 195,630
Bank and other borrowings SRITREMEE 26 466,553 816,453
Lease liabilities HEBE 16(b) 15,035 20,200
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBAG 30(b) 565,012 564,001
1,263,142 1,596,284
Net assets BEE 2,351,532 2,205,853
Capital and reserves EAXRR#iE
Share capital &N 31(a) 99,531 99,531
Reserves &t 31(b) 1,839,782 1,708,617
Total equity attributable to owners AAREEABLESEARE
of the Company 1,939,313 1,808,148
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE 2 412,219 397,705
Total equity SRR 2,351,532 2,205,853

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for AN BREENR T __F A THHEESS
issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf — #t/#REEHE - WHATATRKRESE -
by:

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond Tang Ching Ho
RinE BE
Director Director
BE BE

BERT 2 Mt e A It iR & B TS ek 2 AR ER D

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE&I/N EQUITY
GOBRBEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{ = — % ::izﬂ —t+—BHLFE

Atributable to owners of the Company

KLAREARE
Capital Convertible Share Non-
Share Share ~ redemption Contributed Shareholders" Other  Exchange bonds ~ FVTOCI  option  Statutory Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reseve  surplus contribution  reserve  reserve  reseve  reseve  reserve  resemve losses ~ Sub-Total interests equity
BATE
SERER
Bf &4RA Ré BR i EX TEERR GEbE EE it #ER B

BR OB BE BE MR BE  BE  GR AR BRRER 0 BE 0 BR 0 Nf B 4
HSOW  HESOOD HRSODD HKSOO0 SO0 SO HKSOMD B MO0 HSO0  HSO0  HSOD  HKSOD HKSO0 KRS
TAT TEL TEn  TAn  TAT TR TR TEn TR TR TR TEL  TBL AR TER

Asat 1 April 2020 R-E-3FMA-A 99531 39347 95 2215409 664 (15021) (33034 19541 - - 15094 (400464 1091640 39375 1485365
Bichangediferencesontrangition ~ AEAZHERELZE
into presentation currency - - - - - - 6% - - - - - 6% 8905 295811
Other comprehensiveincome fortheyear ZEEER2ENA - - - - - - D6 - - - - S B 25
Puoftfortheyear B - - - - - - - - - - S e TS s
Total comprehensiveincome forthe year - ZEE2EUALE - - - - - - 6% - - - - 9D TIESB 404 TS6%!
Ealyredemption of convertble bonds ~ EREET 2% - - - - - - - (s - 2 - Bm o = =
Tranferto satutory esenve ERTTRE - - - - - - - - - - (15 - - -
Dividend paid tonon-controling nterests 211 F3EA T ER 2 /78 - - - - - - - - - - - - - (649 (649
Asat31 March 2021 and 1 Aprl 2021
99531 3923147 945 2215409 664 (15,021) (96,128 40495 - - 16652 (4377,546) 1,808,148 397,705 2,205,853
Bxchange ifetences onrslaton @Zﬁz?ﬁ“‘kzﬁﬂﬁé
into presentation currency - - - - - - 110854 - - - - - 110854 9507 120361
Lossonfairvaueoffiencilassets — FATEIIEREL 2T
athinod WaRE SHAEL
ATEEE - - - - - - - - () - - - () - (s
Reclssfed adjustmentforallowance ~ BERATEFEREE L
forexpected retlosses on %E%Mﬁwﬂéﬁ
financial assets at FYTOC!
- - - - - - - - 5,566 - - - 5,566 - 5,566
Release ondisposloffinancia asets u“iEFfz ;fﬁ?‘lﬂiﬁﬁﬁf
o SENARE SHERR
i - - - - - - - - nw - - - 09 - W
Other comprehensiveincomefortheyear ZEEEG2ENA - - - - - - 103 - - - - - 084 9507 120361
Proftfor the year HERER - - - - - - - - - - - 6M1T 6401 065 370%
Tota comprehensiveincome fortheyear  ZEE2ENALE - - - - - - 11085 - - - S GA IS MM 17307
Redemption of convertble bonds BomikEs - - - - - - - (4odgs) - - - b - - -
Equity ransactionwithnoncontroling ~ EEFE iR 7 RER 7
interests - - - - - 16,669 (3,898) - - - - - 7m (12m) -
Recogriton o eqity-setled B EREENRA
shared-based payment BERZAR - - - - - - - - B AL - - -
Transfrto statutory eserve ERTIRAE - - - - - - - - - - 188 (1688) - - -
Dividend pad tono-<ontrlling nterests 21 F5 2 iER 2R & - - - - - - - - - - - - - (12857)  (12857)
Asat31 March 2022 REZESRSt-H | 99831 393147 945 2,215409 664 1,648 10828 - - 1139 18340 (4332338 1939313 412219 2351532

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial ~ B&HI 2 BisE BRIt E47 6 B That 2 48Rk 305 -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
melEeSnREER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ElZ =%

TCFE=A=t+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E-CF %
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FExT FAT
Operating activities R
Profit before taxation BR A5 A A 105,793 644,463
Adjustments for: BATEBEZARE :
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BB REEITE
equipment 7(c) 13,317 12,501
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 7(0) 3,685 4127
Allowance for expected credit losseson B 5 & E i & Y 708 K FE UL
trade and other receivables and loan BN EHEERRE
receivables, net B AR5 2,522 42,969
Allowance for expected credit losses BATESRREEME ARG
on financial assets at FVTOCI BEzemEERREEREERH 5,566 =
Gain on litigation judgment FFRAHIRMES 36 - (660,833)
Unrealised (gain)/loss on financial BATEFRRRIBS KRR
assets at fair value through ZEMEEZ REE (k)
profit or loss &8 7(0) (46) 6
Loss on fair value change of ?)?EE%EHIEZ
derivative financial instruments N EEHEE 7(0) 59 263
Loss on disposal of financial assets BATES R REEMEERE
at FVTOCI BBz HESREAERE 22,190 -
Net loss in fair value on investment REMERNTEFEE
properties 17 53,477 14,202
Written down of stock of properties YT EMOR 19 - 1,747
Loss on early redemption of convertible 2R iEEIE 5 2 &g
bonds 7(c) - 5,067
Finance costs A& B 7(a) 131,970 157,087
Bank and other interest income HRITREAF SUWA 6 (8,518) (7,980)
Gain on disposal of investment properties H &R & Y3 2 Uzs 6 (63)
Equity-settled share-based payment DA EE AR D BEM 2R 7(0) 1,139 =
Gain on lease modification HEElaEs (76) =
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWZ - HE K& EE
equipment 7(c) 5,533 238
Operating profit before changes in EEE BB 2 LE R
working capital 336,548 213,857
Decrease/(increase) in trade B S REWNIE
receivables B () 7,785 (7,224)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayment, FERRIE - Zek
deposits and other receivables E b EUEIER A (1 hn) 99,698 (52,631)
(Increase)/decrease in loan FEUE R R A B (12 hn) SR (8,946) 3,731
and interest receivables
Decrease in stock of properties YEFERD 229,920 49,866
(Decrease)/increase in receipts in advance TBUEIE (&) 1840 (851) 59,332
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities & #I& & O&d) 180 (371,976) 80,264
(Decrease)/increase in deposits and g M EAMFES R
other payables CRA),/$8 0 (59,099) 31,638
Cash generated from operations REEKB2ES 233,079 378,833
Tax paid [EADEE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB FEAEH (72,863) (57,140)
Net cash generated from operating REEBFMEB2EEFEHE
activities 160,216 321,693
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n/j_\ IE%/)H:ED%E

For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

2022 2021
—EB-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt EE FHRT FHT
Investing activities REHE
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME  BERREZ
plant and equipment FriS5/38 454 204
Proceeds from disposal of investment L EIREYE 2 S RIE
properties 15,751 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets & 1% /A F{EFIBR R FEE A
at FVTOC| FHWERE 2 S REE
Z TS HIA 11,118 -
Payments for investment properties REYEZ N 17 (51,558) (9,527)
Payments for purchases of property, HEYE  BEREZEZ
plant and equipment, net EFRE 15 (19,300) (19,948)
Payments for purchases of financial assets 8 & 1%/ B8R RAEE A
at FVTOC! FHRESERIE 2 & REE K (39,252) =
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEE MBI TFR 23 (30,357) =
Bank and other interest received EUERTT R EABFILE 7,489 7,980
Net cash used in investing activities REEXEKFTAZESFE (105,655) (21,291)
Financing activities RE K
Proceeds from new bank and other FTILERIT R H M AE R Z PSR
borrowings 531,982 333,550
Repayment of bank and other borrowings {E3R17 & EAbfE 3k (322,949) (334,946)
Redemption settlement of convertible AIHRRR & 25 8 Bl 31
bonds 29 (134,800) =
Early redemption of convertible bonds 2 R & [E] 2 AJ Hﬁ%% - (130,000)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 7 {5 FE42 Hi4E 25 (12,857) =
Repayments of leases liabilities EEHEEAE (6,661) (6,730)
Interest paid EAFE (98,542) (104,914)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEEKFMAZREL R (43,827) (243,040)
Netincrease in cash and ReRBRESESHENFHE
cash equivalents 10,734 57,362
Cash and cash equivalents at the REQAZBRERRESEHE
beginning of the year 23 424,675 339,599
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERE B /& 4,919 27,714
Cash and cash equivalentsattheend RERZRERBREZSE
of the year 23 440,328 424,675

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial ~ F&ff =z Mt sEERK It S47 6 B 753k 2 4K 30D ©

statements.
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SRR M

For the yearended 31 March2022 {2 — T - —“F=HA=+—HIFFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries the “Group”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and the principal
place of business is Suite 3202, 32/F, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong
Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The immediate holding
company of the Company is Goal Success Investments Limited and the
intermediate holding company is Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings
Limited (“WYT") (Stock code: 897). In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the ultimate holding company of the Company is Wang On
Group Limited (“WOG”) (Stock code: 1222).

The Group is principally engaged in the management and sales of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") which is also the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“HK$’000") except otherwise indicated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)  Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”"). For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CO”").

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to the periods
presented, unless otherwise stated.
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A BB RARMIEE

For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b)  Basis of preparation of financial statements

(i)

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Lease, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

2. FESHHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiZE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b)  Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Basis of measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's subsidiaries are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is HKS. For the purposes of
presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
Group adopted HKS as its presentation currency for the
convenience of the readers. The directors consider HKS,
being an internationally well-recognised currency, can
provide more meaningful information to the Company’s

investors.

All values are rounded to the nearest thousand unless
otherwise stated.
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For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

(iii)  Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk
of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in
note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with investees; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiZE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(©)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the period/year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

(i) Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are

generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(©)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS
19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
Standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the
underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognized and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(©)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
noncontrolling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(@]

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS
9 would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect
new information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would
have affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(©)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group'’s cash-generating units
("CGUs") (or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of
CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)  Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(iii)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components
of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under

construction for such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets upon application of
HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease

income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the property)
is included in profit or loss in the period which the property is
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any (see note 2(g)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives are as follows:

Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 30 years after
the date of completion.

. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 5 years after
the date of completion.

Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles are depreciated
over 5-10 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the items is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a leasee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-

lease components.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of staff quarter and office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful live. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful lives and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line

item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0]

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognizes
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modification

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a
lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective

date of the modification.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0]

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Lease modification (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the
change is a lease modification if all of the following conditions

are met:

the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised
in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the commencement date at amounts equal to
the Group’s net investment in the leases, measured using the
interest rate implicit in the respective lease. Initial direct costs
(other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors)
are included in the initial measurement of the net investments
in the leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting periods
so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s

net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognized as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model. Upon application of HKFRS 16
on 1 January 2019, variable lease payments for operating leases
that depend on an index or a rate are estimated and included
in the total lease payments to be recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when
they arise.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate the consideration under
the contract to each component. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0]

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

. property, plant and equipment;
right-of-use assets;

In any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible assets with
finite useful lives, the recoverable amount if estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

. Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.,
a cash-generating unit).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generated unit (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying amount of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs to sell, or value-
in-use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if these has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognized in prior years.

Allocation of corporate assets

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

(h)  Stock of properties

Stock of properties, which are held for trading, is stated at the

lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is

determined by reference to sale proceeds received after the

end of reporting period less selling expense, or by management

estimate based on the prevailing market conditions.

Costs necessary to make the sale includes incremental costs

directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs

which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BB RARMIEE

For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market

place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9 initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that is required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

2. FEEHBEE®

i) SHMTE@E@

(i)

TREE (@)
EEREESERERE (B)

HETIHRE 2 =MEERRZ
NFESR R AR M2 E S
2 (RAVEIRREHMGZE
WEEE]) A E

TREER B AREA LR
enERLECREEETSR
MEBEARTE - &

EREENSOIERFREE
HHEENRSRBMARR
SRS RAERBZARE
EZHEB o

MBEREtERMEERRIZATE
SRR RN BEREE - RIS
&R & BB 15 &S R 95 4
PHACHEEE R AKEA
NA] U R A b AR A Weas
FEIBARENERAFEE
8 AIIE R X ERE L I
BE  THRBEITREBTHR
SERIE 3 [EB A6 ERANE
BE G RER RS A AE -

HEBATRER SHEERDA
REERE -

WEZEHEENBENER
EEEHAHE %

MY FHERE » ZEREE
BRASE—HEENDH
e TANES &
I B AA I B G HER
B X

% BB E SRR ERT
AT ANAIBRUERLEHMT
Ho

UESN - ANEE R e RIISE
TR IRBE R AN SIR A RS AR
MEREMEEKREEAENS
BMEERRAFESIRINER
REIEFTE - AIERBULE AT
KRB EFHERIER



—ECCOEER

2022 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other
revenue and other netincome” line item.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amounts of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency are determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at
the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

for financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss; and

for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or

loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, loan and interest receivables and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assetss (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises

lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase

in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the

credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased

significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures

the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an

amount equal to 12-month ECL.

(@)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that are reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that are available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group'’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic
expert reports, financial analysts, governmental
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core

operations.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assetss (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular
financial instrument, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor, or the
length of time or the extent to which the
fair value of a financial asset has been less
than its amortised cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its

debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assetss (Continued)

(0]

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

1) The financial instrument has a low risk of
default;

(2)  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the

near term; and

(3) Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset which has
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with
the globally understood definition or if an external
rating is not available, the asset has an internal
rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assetss (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that financial assets that meet either of
the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the debtor; or

information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event (see (ii) above);
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assetss (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any

recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assetss (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the

following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's trade receivables are assessed as a
separate group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables, loan receivables
and other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance

account.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds

received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held-for-
trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Financial liabilities including borrowings, deposits and
other payables and contract liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Compound instruments

The component parts of convertible notes issued by
the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities
and equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Compound instruments (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a
whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of
income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible loan note, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are recognised directly in equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability component and are
amortised over the lives of the convertible loan notes
using the effective interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss for financial liabilities that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses (Continued)
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially
recognised and redemption value being recognized in profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

Deposits and other payables

Deposits and other payables are initially recognised and
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated

at cost.

Bank and cash balances

Bank and cash balances comprise cash at banks and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in
which the associated services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share options reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date using the option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the period
of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the share options reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to accumulated losses).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary

difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, which is always
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For lease transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to rightof-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-
ofuse assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of

remeasurement or modification.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)  Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

(0)  Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliable, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
no-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability

of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(p)  Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance

I

obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “contro

services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct

goods or services that are substantially the same.

of the goods or

2.
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For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognized over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following

criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(“HKFRS 9”). In contrast, a receivable represents the Group'’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer. A contract asset and a contract liability
relating to a contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

(i) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from properties leasing under operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEETBXR @
(Continued)
(p)  Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) p) BPEAWE &)
(i) Revenue from properties sale (i) YFEHER D

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the customer obtains

the legal title of the completed property and the Group

has present right to payment and the collection of the BRI (BRI RR o

consideration is probable.

A 49D 3R 45 1 I AL B ] B B R
MMERERBEEAAME - K
BREFPRGETIMES =X
AR 5= B A HE OB AR AL AR AT

(i) Revenue from property ancillary services (i) YELEREZ K
Revenue from property ancillary services are recognised Y BLE BR 7% 2 Wz A 1R R AR 75
when the services are rendered. R EaR o

(iv)  Commission income from agricultural produce (iv) BEBXRZTEIHSHA
exchange market
Commission income from agricultural exchange market BERR MG ZASKRAZRR
are recognised when the services are rendered in P25 21 Wi i 2 IR SR 4R 4 AR 75 i
accordance with the terms of the agreement signed. R o

(v)  Food and agricultural by-products merchandising (v) RonREEEmED
Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods are Wz P 7 o PR I RE A AR RN S
considered to have been transferred to the customers. EEPRER ©

(vi)  Otherincome (vi) EAEA

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. R o

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established. A HERR ©

Government subsidies that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or

B RARE LR IRE B F XX

P 2 M A T ST YR ER R IR 2 R

70 15 75 5% [ Py 2 A= B < B U #
HBERELFRINR—HHE - F

loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which R e RP R AN

the expenses are incurred.

(@) Translation of foreign currencies (@ INEB#B®E

Foreign currency transactions during the period/year
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

BN INER B TR 5 A E XK
B MNEFHEZ BN BEERAEBDR

transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated HERAZERKE - [EXRERGEE
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange AR ©

rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost on a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transactions dates.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was
determined.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the results of the Group’s operations not
denominated in Hong Kong dollars are translated into Hong
Kong dollars, i.e., the presentation currency of the Group, at
the average rates for the period/year. The items of statement of
financial position, including goodwill arising on consolidation
of foreign operations acquired, are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised directly in a separate component of equity. Goodwill
arising on consolidation of a foreign operation acquired is
translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied at the date
of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognised in equity which relate to
that foreign operation is included in the calculation of the profit
or loss on disposal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s)  Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers also
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (2).

A person identified in (2)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s)

Related parties (Continued)

) (Continued)

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that
is engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical segment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting
system, the Group has chosen business segment information
as the primary reporting format and geographical segment
information as the secondary reporting format for the purposes
of these financial statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment. For
example, segment assets may include stock of properties, trade
receivables and other receivables and right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment. Segment revenue, expenses,
assets, and liabilities are determined before intra-group
balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of
the consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-
group balances and transactions are between group entities
within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on
similar terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period to acquire segment assets (both tangible and
intangible) that are expected to be used for more than one
period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate
assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowings, tax balances,
corporate and financing expenses.
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.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(u)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other revenue and other net income”.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortization
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised

in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

The Group regards its financial guarantee contracts in respect of
mortgage facilities provided to certain property purchasers as
insurance contracts.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(w)

Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL,
are subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the revenue recognition policies.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted into equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of shares
that would be issued on conversion and the value of the
consideration that would be received at that time do not vary,
are accounted for as compound financial instruments which

contain both a liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the convertible
bonds is measured as the present value of the future interest
and principal payments, discounted at the market rate of
interest applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. Any excess of
proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the liability
component is recognized as the equity component. Transaction
costs that relate to the issue of a compound financial
instrument are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised
cost. The interest expense recognised in profit or loss on the
liability component is calculated using the effective interest
method. The equity component is recognised in the convertible
bonds reserve until either the bond is converted or redeemed.

If the convertible bond is converted, the convertible bonds
reserve, together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred to share
capital and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the convertible bond is redeemed, the convertible
bonds reserve is released directly to retained profits.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE®

(Continued)

(x)  Convertible bonds (Continued)

When the convertible bond is extinguished before maturity
through an early redemption or repurchase where the original
conversion privileges are unchanged, the consideration paid
and any transaction costs for the redemption or repurchase
are allocated to the liability component and equity component
using the same allocation basis as when the convertible bond
was originally issued. Once the allocation of consideration and
transaction costs is made, any resulting gain or loss relating
to the liability component is recognised in profit or loss and
the amount of consideration relating to equity component is
recognised in equity.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1
April 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

x) AREES @
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HKFRS 16 (Amendment) Covid-19-Related Rent BAEMTISHRELER —ZT-—FXA
Concessions beyond £ 165 (BFTA) =+REHE
30 June 2021 A 5 AR R
HeER
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform BAEMSHREERFE T - FIREENRE —
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 —Phase 2 BAGHEAE 395 - EREER

and HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the International
Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the
costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make

the sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets

(Amendments) between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture?

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)?

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
Statement 2 (Amendments)

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment
- Proceeds before Intended
Use'

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiZE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumption about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs to sell and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset, which requires significant judgement relating to level
of revenue and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of revenue and operating costs. Changes in
these estimates could have a significant impact on the carrying
amount of the assets and could result in additional impairment
charge or reversal of impairment in future periods.

(i)~ Valuation of investment properties
Investment properties are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their fair value, which is
assessed at the end of each reporting period by independent
qualified valuers, after taking into consideration all readily
available information and current market environment.
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For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Net realisable value of stock of properties

Valuations of stock of properties are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value at the end of the reporting period. Net
realisable value is determined on the basis of the estimated
selling price less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The directors of the Company estimate the net realisable value
for stock of properties based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. In addition, the directors
of the Company perform an inventory review on a product-
byproduct basis at the end of each reporting period and assess
the need for written down of stock of properties.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and loan
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. The provision of
ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

Income tax and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and certain tax losses are recognised as management considers
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax
assets and tax in the period in which such estimate is changed.
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=

5.

6.

BB R

F=ZA=+—HIFE

TURNOVER 5. EXH
Turnover represents revenue from (i) property rental income, (ii) EEEEOMERSRA - ()VDERER
property ancillary services, (iii) commission income from agricultural (IEEREMR ST B ZMBWA - (iv) %%
produce exchange market, (iv) property sales and (v) food and HERVRMRERIEREEME 2 WES
agricultural by-products merchandising. The amount of each FERRZBEEAMEIER 258 @D@%?ﬁﬂ
significant category of revenue recognised during the years, net of RAHERBER) DMTAT
discount and sales related tax, is analysed as follows:
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Revenue from contracts with customers: 2
Recognised at a point in time }JLA% f@ﬁﬂs T TR
Revenue from property ancillary services MERERS 2 RS 101,389 98,389
Commission income from agricultural KERERRIGMISL
produce exchange market RBEUA 94,909 83,276
Revenue from property sales YIS E 2 s 418,564 233,183
Food and agricultural by-products R M REIEMREE
merchandising 11,429 41,960
626,291 456,808
Revenue from other sources: HAbHOR 2 Yz -
Property rental income WEBSWA 242,394 193,721
868,685 650,529
32 T
OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NETINCOME 6. Hftulizs & H A F U A
2022 2021
—EB-F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Bank and other interest income HRITREMFSHA 8,518 7,980
PRC government grants (Note) FR R AT RERE (B EE) 4,907 23,433
Gain on dispsoal of investment properties HERE Y 2 W 63 -
Others H 13,181 9,745
26,669 41,158

Note: PRC government grants represent various form of subsidies granted
to the Group by the local governmental authorities in the PRC for
compensation of expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are
generally made for business support and awarded to enterprises
on a discretionary basis. The Group received these government

grants in respect of COVID-19 and its investments in the agricultural
products exchange market in the PRC. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

BRE © A BRI T 1 86 5 v B3 5 BURT BB P ) AR =
Bk 2Ema  WHEAEEMES

ZRX -
i fe it

TR

REBKITEB R
C WIREIEEERRGE D - A

B A REEPRRERERR S

M5 W ERZ %
BEHORER Z IR REAE R -

BFHERE - WERA RS
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 7. BRBADEF
Profit before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting): BB ATE IR GEA)
(@) Finance costs (@) BEKA
2022 2021
—EB-F —E-—F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Interests on bank and other AR AFANBHEE ZRIT
borrowings wholly repayable HibfEEZFE
within five years 95,990 84,470
Interests on bank and other ZEFQ FIRBHER 21T
borrowings wholly repayable EEZFE
over five years 1,339 3,768
Interests on promissory notes EAEEEZFS - 18,720
Interests on convertible bonds AIARRE SIS 8,974 26,261
Interests on bonds BHFE 23,812 21,529
Interests on lease liabilities HEAGBHNS 1,855 2,339
131,970 157,087
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) (b) BINAN (BHEES=HE)
2022 2021
—E-—F -4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Contributions to defined M TE HFGR ARG B
contribution retirement plans 3,985 1,775
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEMER] 61,345 56,819
Equity-settled share-based payment  SAREZSAEE LARAD A AR 2 (3R 1,139 -
66,469 58,594
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7. BRBUANGER )
Profit before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting): (Continued) BREADSEMEHRR S GIA) © (8B)
() Otheritems (0 EmER
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FH&T
Property rental income mEMRS WA 242,394 193,721
Less: Outgoings AR (19,977) (17,591)
Net rental income He WA FEE 222,417 176,130
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #7% - FiE K& EITE
equipment 13,317 12,501
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 3,685 4,127
Loss on disposal on property, plant HEYE - R RZE 2 EE
and equipment 5,533 238
Auditors’ remuneration Z 2R <
- audit services - BB 1,980 1,980
— other services - H AR 280 280
Expenses relating to short-term lease 2 HATH EHRI 2,505 146
Loss on early redemption of IRRER R ES 2 BB
convertible bonds - 5,067
Loss on fair value change of MTEERIEZ
derivative financial instruments NEEZBEE 59 263
Unrealised (gain)/loss on financial BATFEHRRERRK
assets at fair value through profit REZEREERER
or loss (Wz%) /BB
—investment in listed equity security - _ETIRAEHILE (46) 6
Total unrealised loss on financial BATFEHEREERRERE
assets at fair value through profit 2 & BB ERE T EE
or loss, net AR {E 13 269
Equity-settled share-based payment  LAMEZRAEE DARRD AERE 2
S 1,139 =
Cost of stock of properties YIEFERKAR 266,413 156,215
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8. INCOME TAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(i) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income represents:

SEBRAMEERSERZ

frafRs Rk 2SR ABIRE -

2022 2021
—E-CF —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHExT
Current tax BREAT 1R
PRC Enterprise Income Tax AR RS EL 90,680 103,346
Deferred tax EREBLIE
(Reversal) and origination of TRERZ (BO) RES
temporary difference (note 30(b)) (Bff5E 30(b)) (21,923) 39,947
68,757 143,293

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. PRC Enterprise
Income Tax is computed according to the relevant legislation
interpretations and practices in respect thereof during the year.
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate is 25% for the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021.

HRASBERBEZE-_TE=-__F=H4
=t+—BR-_ZE-—FFEEILHERE
BEEMFERTESN - Bt WERS
BRGEBELEE - FAZRBIEERR
BRTIREARR A B2 KB HIAE -
HE-_T-_—_#=A=+—RHAK=F
Z—FFEI REMEMER X
£525% ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiZE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

8. INCOME TAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

GeEakEMtEERERS
8% @

(i)  Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit at (i) IHERABERFE CMERAZ RS R
applicable tax rates: ZHER
2022 2021
—E-CE —EF
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TAn TATL
Profit before taxation B AN 105,793 644,463
Notional tax on profit before REERNEBAEER
taxation calculation at the rates BRZBEHE 2 B
applicable to profits or losses in the S ERZ EEHE
jurisdictions concerned 26,448 25,0 161,115 250
Effect of different tax rates in other tax H R AEEE TR
jurisdiction REmye 2,760 26 (40,838) (63)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses THAS R EEEN
and temporary difference il 24 17,162 16.2 109,481 169
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEFHRART K2 (3,839) (36) (120,858) (188)
Utilisation of tax losses previously B 2 AIARD L HEE
not recognised - - (2,802) (0.4)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised AERZHEERZ BT 2 46,226 437 17,195 27
Withholding tax on distributable FERBARTAE
profits of PRC subsidiaries 2 B (20,000) (189) 20,000 3
Income tax expense for the year KEEFERAS 68,757 65.0 143,293 22
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9. EEM<E
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section 383 of the RRBEBRR ERESMZER RO (F
Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of 622G E) F 383 KW EMNFANESIE T ¢

Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) during the years are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_Z-__H=H=1+—HLEFE
Salaries, Equity -
allowances  Retirement settled
Directors’  and benefits scheme  share-based
fees inkind contributions payment Total
NRRLEE
¥e MR N R
Ezne BNAIE A BHZAR #wE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER

Executive directors: HITES:
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond DInE (THER)

(Chief Executive Officer) (Note 9(a) (Fif3E 9(a)) 1,912 968 18 252 3,150
Yau Yuk Shing TR 300 25 15 - 340
Non-executive director: FHTES:

Tang Ching Ho (Chairman) (Note 9(c)) BE (%) (3 9(0) 240 - - - 240
Independent non-executive directors: BYFHTES:

Ng Yat Cheung REE 164 - - - 164
Lau King Lung Bl 164 - - - 164
Wong Ping Yuen Fing 164 - - - 164

2,944 993 33 252 4,222
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9. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued) 9.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BEEMWE »
BE-—T-——F-AS+—ALEE

Salaries, Equity -
allowances Retirement settled
Directors'  and benefits scheme  share-based
fees inkind  contributions payment Total
PEREE
e RHR RIK BABR(A
EE ko EYHE ATEIfR ERZAR s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET TET THT
Executive directors: YTEE !
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond PInEEL L (THEH)

(Chief Executive Officer) (note 9(a)) (7t 9(@)) 1921 597 18 - 2,536
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas (note 9(b)) BRIRERSE 4 (PTEE9(b) 1,153 - 17 - 1,170
Yau Yuk Shing BEHEE 300 = 15 = 315
Non-executive director: FHTES:

Tang Ching Ho (Chairman) (note 9(c)) B EE (F7) (E90) 35 - - - 35

Independent non-executive directors: BYEHTES :

Ng Yat Cheung REE 164 - - - 164

Lau King Lung Bl 164 - - - 164

Wong Ping Yuen BRI 164 - - - 164
3,901 597 50 = 4,548

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. No directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Notes:

(a) Director was redesignated from the Chief Financial Officer to the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and was appointed as
the Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Company on 8
February 2021.

(b) Director was resigned as an executive director on 8 February 2021
and has ceased to be the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer.

(c) Director was appointed as a non-executive director and the
Chairman of the Board on 8 February 2021.

REE-—_BE-_—F=A=+—BAR-_T-_—%F
FEIE - NEBEER A D RES S HEA B
& (EABENBERINBAEE R EEHIE
AEBEE NBE_Z-_—_F=A=+—H
RZZ-—FFEIF BEEARARIESEK
Z ol RIBWEEAEM -

GEX
@ HEFHEEUBEHEAALATRA

H YR —_B-—F-_AN\BEZEAX
RRPITERESE -

(b) ZEFR-_TZ—F_A/\BEHERTE
= UABEEERSERERITHRER -

(0 ZESER-_T-_—F_A/\BEZEARKE
WTBEERESEELRE -
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10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

(a)

(b)

(0

FFR

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2021:
two) is director whose emolument is disclosed in note 9. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining four
(2021: three) individuals who are neither a director or chief

2022 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEMBREME

For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

10. REFMAL
BEBBHFMALES £ (CB=—
£ MR REE - HEZME BN
HOBE - RBMA (CF=—F : =F)
At I3 A R AEFRITREE) 2

(a)

executive officer of the Company are as follows: e @zEmT :
2022 2021
—E-CF —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHExT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 6,459 4,017
Retirement schemes contributions RIRET B 72 54
Equity-settled share-based payment LAz S & PARR 10 A EEME 2 45K 277 -
6,808 4,071
The emoluments of four (2021: three) individuals with the by WECEZ—F:=R)E=HMAL
highest emoluments are within the following bands: SN TATEE :
2022 2021
—E-CHF —EFE -4
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z% 1,000,000 % 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 75 % 1,500,000 75 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2 2,000,000 75 7T 2 1
Over HK$2,000,000 {38 2,000,000 /7T 1 =
4 3

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management (excluding the directors as disclosed in note 9) are
within the following bands:

(@]

EfNENTFTRREEEKE (TRIEN
TR R ER) ZH N FIATEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 5 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 37T 1,500,000 %8 7T 3 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 87T 2,000,000 8 7T 1 1
Over HK$2,000,000 738 2,000,000 78 7T 1 =
5 5

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration
received and receivable from the Group by these members of
senior management in their capacity as employees to the Group
and/or in their capacity as the members of senior management
of the Company during the years ended 31 March 2022 and

2021.

X REMIEBE—S=_F=A4

=t+—HEZ=ZZ=

—FEEILZESR

ERERBUAEERE HH KA
ARABREEERE FHERRER

REERFHH -
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10.

11.

12.

13.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

() (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the senior
management as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENTS BENEFITS

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
(the “Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities whereby the Group is required to make contributions to
the Schemes at certain percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries,
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC. The
local government authorities are responsible for the entire pension

obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has no other obligation for the payment of postretirement
benefits beyond the contributions described above.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 respectively.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(@)  Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$6,401,000 (2021: approximately HK$489,602,000) and the
weighted average number of 9,953,067,822 ordinary shares
(2021:9,953,067,822 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

10. RS HMA L @

11.

12.

13.

© &

BE_T-_—_F#=A=+—BEk=_%
Z—FFEIE  AEEREREMNS
BEBELZNME - LRSI EMARE
Bk ERIMARE R E ) RE) SR B

18 e

EEEAREF

ARES R AR S BT RAEEL R
ORI B (SRR » it - AREAR
o BRI S R ROR R K S A R
B HREAAAREEFRZETENL -
st BUTREAR X TRAEE 2 2BUR I
Gp @

AREBRBEESBEIERESTEEN - AF
EFEREEHEE 2 ZRE TIRHEHIMEATE
S E(FABSHE]) - aBSEIEBY
SHAABEZREHEFCERAKGTE - BERES
FEIZHAE  BEREESBHAMEED
R BB AEERBWRAZ 5% - &AM
AU A PR 30,000 74 7T o [AIETEI1E AR B
w3 -

B _E SRt 2 RSN
BIRINRENZEIE ©

AR B E At S R

8=\
EETEBENAIRE-_T-—F=7
St-BR-B--FEEILEAKS -

BRER

(@) EREXRZEF
BRENBF TIBEARA G HE AN
s A1) 496,401,000 (ZTZ—F : 4
489,602,000 7% 70) & FF A IN#E F 35 B 2%
1TE AL ELE 9,953,067,822 (% (- FE——
£ 1 9,953,067,822 X LML) 5T H -
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For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b)  Diluted earnings per share

13. BRERN &

(b) EREERF

2022 2021
—E-F - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABxT
Earnings ZF
Earnings for the purpose Rt ESRERRF 2 ZF|
of basic earnings per share 6,401 489,602
Interest on convertible bonds, net AR ESH T2 (FOBRFTSHL)
of income tax 7,833 21,458
Loss on fair value change MESBIAEZ A FEZEEE
of derivative financial instruments 59 263
Loss on early redemption IR R BRI AR &S 2 BB
of convertible bonds - 5,067
Earnings for the purpose of diluted REst EBRESS B A 2 B A
earnings per share 14,293 516,390
Number of shares
R EE
2022 2021
—E-CF —EF-—%F
Shares ;%7
Weighted average number of AREET EZRER
ordinary shares for the purpose of Bz hntE
basic earnings per share T ERAREE 9,953,067,822 9,953,067,822
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary BELRRZEETE
shares:
Convertible bonds AR R 2 185,580,822 562,273,973
Weighted average number of REtESREERA 2
ordinary shares, for the purpose of DNt L mARE R
diluted earnings per share 10,138,648,644 10,515,341,795

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2022
was the same as basic earnings per share because the impact
of the Company’s share options had no dilutive effect and
convertible bonds during the year had anti-dilutive effect.

14. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has two reportable segments under HKFRS 8, (i) agricultural
produce exchange market operation and (ii) property sales. The
segmentations are based on the information about the operation of
the Group that management uses to make decisions and regularly
review by the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of
allocating resources to segments and assessing their performance.

BARARA R Z BRI S EE R A]
BRREFRFNARBELE  WHZE
R _F=A=+—HULEFEZEK
EERNATREARFIER -

14. D EPRE
BB BUEREENZs%  AEERLM
THEMDE ¢ ()& EBEMRZHTE X (i)Y
e o LS ENEIEE R ER
% AR TESEAFET SR - L3t
BT SIS S B ERIEL AT B RS
By REEGEEH -
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FEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiZE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 14. DEHRE @
Segment revenue and results PoR= G
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenues and results by REENAFE BT FEREHD HEID
reportable segments for the current and prior year: W REESTT
Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated
EEEL G EL AR &4
202 m 202 m 022 01 022 01
CECCE | CB--F | BocE | SE--F | 8- | Eo-F | CEocE | B
HK$'000 HK§000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000
T ThL Tén ThnL Tén S Tn T
Tumover BXE
Bxtemalsals e 450,121 a6 | mesed | 338 - S| eesess | 65059
Result E |
Seqmentresult L | mm 167975 91303 62284 - - 304080 80259
Other revenueand other netincome EfHERATIA 10953 36768 - - 15,716 4390 26,669 41,158
(Gainoniigaton judgment Firmie 4850 - - - - 660833 1851 660833
Netlossnfairvalueofnvestment properties RENZATERRE (53477) (14200 - - - - (53477) (14200
Loss onfairvalue change of deivative fEEHT A ATERIER
financial instruments - - - - (59) (263) (59) (263)
Witten down ofstock of properties NEFERE - - - (1,747 - - - (1747
Allowance orexpected reitlosses on tradeand other &5 R & e BAGUEM REMER2
recevabls and loan recevabls, et BHERERARRE (426) ) - - (20%) | (@) Rs2) | (4299
Allowance orexpected crditlosses on BATESRRER 2 ANEREL
financial assets at IO SHEERE - - - - (5,566) = (5,566) .
Loss ondisposel offinancil assets at ATOC! HEATEIRREL pEANERE,
SHAEER - - - ) - ) -
Loss onearyredemptionof convertble bonds REEETARES(BR - - - - - (5067) - (5067)
Unvealised gainoss) on inancil assets BATESIRRERRRREL
atfairvale through profitrloss SHEEZA NG/ (5B - - - - 4% 6) 3 6
Unallocated corporate expenses FORRERS (57,790) (66,46
Profit from aperation by 7763 801550
Financecosts RERA (8541 | (896 - - | A | (sng | (m9m0) | (157087
Proftbeforetaraton B 105793 644463
Income tax fih (68757) | (143293
Proftfor the ear gt 37,03 501,170
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements. Business segment represents the
profit from each segment without allocation of certain other revenue
and other net income, loss on fair value change of derivative financial
instruments, unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, allowance for expected credit losses on trade
and other receivables and loan receivables, allowance for expected
credit losses on financial assets at FVTOCI, loss on disposal of financial
assets at FVTOCI, loss on early redemption of convertible bonds,
certain gain on litigation judgement, central administrative costs and
directors’ salaries, certain finance costs and income tax expenses.
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

14.

DEHRE =

o EpMEE R FEE ()

ERH A2 LB RELEE ﬁ?ﬁ‘%&i\%ﬁﬁ*}zﬁﬁ
Mz AEBETBRAR - EEDEIERD

BT E s R EMFRA - TES @EI/E\Z

NP EZBHERE  BATEINRRERGRRE
BreméEsAER s (BB 25K

H i FEUCR IR A R FE W & 50 2 TRERE B e 1R
B BATEIRMER R ERGEE S
BEERMEREERRE  HERATEIR
EREMEEKEREZ CREEESR R
RO ES 2 EE - B TR ARk S
EF'&*%ﬁBZﬁJZZK CEBEHH - ATRERARM

%Rlafﬂiﬁuﬂﬂ"*ﬁzfmfl I Th 5 E IR BL

K aPR BT A LR LBREAERZTT
e

EREFRUSBETRINABFEEZ K - HE
T —F-A=t+-—HR-_T-—FFEIt
WS EEHEE o
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For the yearended 31 March 2022 {2~ T = —“F=A=+—HILFE
14. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 14. 2 HHRE @
Segment assets and liabilities DEEENAE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by AEBRERSHE D 2 EERBERYIM
reportable segment: ™
Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation Property sales Consolidated
RERERR ST MEHE &FR
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—EZF | 2% |ZBZZf | —E-—F |ZBZZf | E-—%&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TET TER TET
Assets &E
Segment assets NEEE 3,653,129 3,731,650 1,534,063 1,692,714 | 5,187,192 5,424,364
Unallocated corporate assets APROCEEE 303,896 159,879
Consolidated total assets FREERE 5,491,088 | 5584243
Liabilities 8
Segment liabilities AEHEE 2,048,190 | 1,970,543 233,727 408568 | 2,281,917 | 2379111
Unallocated corporate liabilities ~ RAECEEE 857,639 999,279
Consolidated total liabilities maaERE 3,139,556 | 3,378,390
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating HERDHLZDHRBALSEEIRMNE
resources between segments:
= all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than - BIZAFEIIRIEREREREZ & /@
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and corporate BERGREEZS  MBEEESDK
assets. TE2EWHEL ©
= all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than - BRES  IREES  ETEEHRAR
bonds, convertible bonds ,certain deferred tax liabilities and BREEAEZI FEREHSET

. e i fd o
corporate liabilities. EHHE
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Other segment information

The following is an analysis of the Group’s other segment information:

Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation

SEgERRATS
202 201
§ICf | CEo-E
HKS'000 HKS'000
Tin TAn
Capitl expenditure (Note) BAR (i) 7052 078
Depreciation of property lantand equipment 0% BERGERE 10,98 10434
Depreciaton ofightf useassts [FREdEnE 3,685 417

14. 7
H

R =

LD JRE

— - —

=

2022 Annual Report

REBEEMDEBERDTLAT :

Property sales Unallocated
ES 15 AR

0 01 0 01
ZPoCE | 3o | ZBoCE | CEo-E
HKS$'000 HKS000 HKS$'000 Hk§000
T TR TR Tin
34 6690
3019 2067

Consolidated

4

02
CECCE
HKS'000
Tn

70,858
13317
3,685

201
5-F
HKS1000
Tin

29475
12501
417

Note: Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment and investment properties.

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no other single

customers contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue.

Geographical information

As at the end of the reporting period, the entire revenue of the

Group were generated from external customers located in the PRC

and over 90% of non-current assets of the Group were located in

the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical segment analysis on the

carrying amount of segment assets or additions to property, plant and

equipment is presented.

s - EARXBENE  BERREBUARKE

b AHPENBE-T-—F=A=+—BAR
SBoFEEL - RREME-—RFARA

MEZRE -

£E10% A _E 2 Iz -

Hh [ &

REREHR - ANEE 2 U TE £ B AR
Bz INER P - RARSEE R 90% FE R ENE E AL
R - Bt WEESF S HBEERBER

M BERREREETHRD BN -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - MERKE

Furniture,
equipment
and motor Leasehold
Buildings vehicles improvements Total
%A - HE
BFE RERAE MELE wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT FHAT FAT
Cost: %N
At 1 April 2020 N=—ZE=TFMA—A 7,343 108,213 7,845 123,401
Exchange adjustments BE F 2 611 9,263 876 10,750
Additions NE - 13,151 6,797 19,948
Disposals HE - (3,952) - (3,952)
At 31 March 2021 and RZT=—F
1 April 2021 =A=+—H
R=—ZT=—FMA—H 7,954 126,675 15,518 150,147
Exchange adjustments b 5 R 298 5,261 648 6,207
Additions NE 1,225 18,075 - 19,300
Disposals HE (3,740) (7,622) (539) (11,901)
At 31 March 2022 R=2=Z=
=R=t+-H 5,737 142,389 15,627 163,753
Accumulated depreciation: RitE
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZTFMA—H 1,515 70,635 5,492 77,642
Exchange adjustments 0 7 136 6,088 490 6,714
Charge for the year RNEZ MR 298 11,204 999 12,501
Disposals HE - (3,510) = (3,510)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-T——F
=A=+—8
kZT=—FMA—H 1,949 84,417 6,981 93,347
Exchange adjustments 0 7 A 89 3,411 303 3,803
Charge for the year AEEMBR 386 12,342 589 13,317
Disposals HE - (5,813) (101) (5,914)
At 31 March 2022 W-Z-—F
=A=t+—-H 2,424 94,357 7,772 104,553
Carrying amount: HREE
At 31 March 2022 R-B==F
=R=t+-AH 3,313 48,032 7,855 59,200
At 31 March 2021 RZT=—F
=A=+—H 6,005 42,258 8,537 56,800
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES 16. FREESE HEAE

(@) Right-of-use assets (@) FAEEE
Leased land
and premise
HEWE
HK$'000
FHET
Costs 2%
As at 1 April 2020 RZZEZEFMHA—H 22,416
Additions INE 3,796
Modification Ea] (378)
Exchange adjustments i AR 1,977
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZE=——F=A=+—H
M—ZE—_—FHA—H 27,811
Modification &5 (1,796)
Exchange adjustments I 1,149
As at 31 March 2022 REB-ZZH=A=+—H 27,164
Accumulated depreciation E- i
As at 1 April 2020 R-ZT-ZFMA—H 3,614
Depreciation provided during the year FRIFTERE 4,127
Exchange adjustments I 5, 438
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZT=——F=A=+—H
M—Z-—F/MA—H 8,179
Depreciation provided during the year FAHTERE 3,685
Modification 1E5] (399)
Exchange adjustments HE 5 R 396
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZBZZHF=H=+—H 11,861
Carrying amounts FRMEIE
As at 31 March 2022 R=-ZB-_—F=A=+—8H 15,303
As at 31 March 2021 RZT=——F=A=+—H 19,632
The right-of-use assets represent the Group's rights to use FRAREEEASERESEHERH
underlying leased land and premises under operating lease REHAFERERAE T R YE
arrangements over the lease terms, which are stated at cost less A - BB AR R5H T & R REHREE
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, BYE URERNEEaEENTET

and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities. VAFHEE o
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES 16. EAEEE HEAEE®
(Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities by HE&AE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Analysis as PV
— Current - B 4,912 5,054
- Non-current - JEmED 15,035 20,200
19,947 25,254
Lease liabilities payables: EAEEAE
- Within one year -—FR 4,912 5,054
— More than one year but not later - —FRERFEA
than two years 4,299 5179
— More than two years but not later - FRRFZERFA
than five years 7,949 12,210
- Over five years -RAFHUE 2,787 2,811
19,947 25,254
Less: Amount due for settlement B 12E A NE|HREE 2 3B
with 12 months shown under (RRBAFE TR
current liabilities (4,912) (5,054)
Amount due for settlement after 128 A& ER4EE 2 5/IB
12 months shown under
non-current liabilities 15,035 20,200

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to

lease liabilities was 8.33% (2021: 8.37%).

MK 5833% (ZF—

—4F 1 837%) °
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For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

17. REYHE

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAxT

Completed investment properties ESEKIRE Y 3,178,403 3,069,723
At the beginning of year REL) 3,069,723 2,839,091
Additions NE 51,558 9,527
Disposal & (15,688) =
Transfer to stock of properties HEYEFE (3,205) (587)

Fair value loss recognised RERERZ AT EEE
in profit or loss (53,477) (14,202)
Exchange adjustments b SRR 129,492 235,894
At the end of year RER 3,178,403 3,069,723
(@)  Valuation of investment properties (@)

The investment properties amounted of approximately
HK$3,178,403,000 of the Group were stated at fair value as at
31 March 2022 (2021: approximately HK$3,069,723,000). The
fair value were arrived at based on the valuations carried out
by an independent firm of qualified professional valuer, RHL
Appraisal Limited (“RHL"), who has among their staff members
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience
in the location and category of the properties being valued. The
valuations conform to the Valuation Standards 2020 Edition

published by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

RHL has valued the properties on the basis of capitalisation of
the net income derived from properties rental. In the course of
their valuation, RHL has also made reference to the comparable
market transactions as available. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the Group and valuers
at least once every six months, in line with the Group’s interim
and annual reporting dates. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the
fair values of the properties have been determined by RHL. At
each financial year end, the Group (i) verifies all major inputs
to the independent valuation report; (ii) assesses property
valuations movements when compared to the prior years
valuation input; and (iii) holds discussions with the independent

valuer.

WEWE BB

RZTEZ—F=A=+—H ' &~&EH
493,178,403,000%8 ;L (Z T = — F : £
3,069,723,000 % 7T) Z I E Y IR A FE
PR e AFEDIREABLIEEAKEE
HERMKFITHEBEB AR A A ([KF
THFREREMETE - kFTBRERE
BRAEMEegs  WHETHEYE
I EREREA L RGESS - BH
HEFEESEMBE TR 2 HE%E
Bl CZ=ZFR) -

XFTTIRB G MER S F WA IFTER
ZEERYZETHE - REGEBRE
B OKFITELRBRABSREMSERS -
REBRGEEMKZLDEREA —IRE
WEEBRERGER  BAEEZFHRE
FEREEH B - RZTE=Z=F=A
=+—BERZZT=—F YEIZATE
EEKAITEE - REEMBREER
AEEOZEHBYLGEREZMEE
REABIE : () FHE B FEGER
ABUBMLL 2 M EEZS) - K (i) 258
SAHERETTE R o
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(a)

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

The valuation assumptions, unless otherwise stated, RHL
assumed that:

(@) all necessary statutory approvals for the properties or the
subject building of which the property forms part of their
use have been obtained;

(b) no deleterious or hazardous materials or techniques have
been used in the construction of the properties;

(c) the properties are not subject to any unusual or
especially onerous restrictions, encumbrances or
outgoings and that good title can be shown; and

(d) the properties are connected to main services and sewers

which are available on normal terms.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
the prior years. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The valuation of investment properties is determined by various
major inputs:

The major key inputs applied in valuing the investment
properties were market unit rental per each square meter
per month (the “s.q.m. per month”). The ranges of s.q.m. per
month of various locations were from RMB8.74 to RMB67.2
(2021: RMB10.1 to RMB68.3). A significant increase in the s.g.m.
per month used would result in a significant increase in fair

value, and vice versa.

The term yield and reversionary yield were one of the key inputs
used in valuing the investment properties. The ranges of term
yield was from 7.0% to 8.0% (2021: 7.0% to 8.0%) while the
ranges of reversionary yield were from 7.5% to 8.5% (2021: 7.5%
to 8.5%). A slight increase in the term yield and reversionary
yield used would result in a significant decrease in fair value
measurement of the investment properties, and vice versa.

17. BEWE @

(a)

B B (@)
RSB BRI - KFITER AT HER
5

@ ZVEIZOEBK—HORAE
MR TERGMA B EEE
SEHLAE

b) RENERERBYERAEE
BRI BAT

@ ZEVEIIXBRRERMEFE
EEEFNRS  EEBEXX
i BRRRTEEMERE R

d) REMEERZRRIGETEMH
ZERRMIITKETE °

RBEF R PR R EAY E 3 A E
MEE - NIAHYERD D FER - W%
HRERRERGREENAE -

REMEMHEHZAT R ARIRE

= .
iE -

HEREMEMRAZEZHASEA
BABTAARMSECHES ((BAEGT
R TRME 2T A EGFHKEE
NFERARKE 874 TE AR 6727 (=
T-—F: ARE101TTEARK683
TD) ° TR B ABF A RE R KEE
e - HEERAFEBEEN R2
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FHRRE R ERERE IR HERE
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(b)  The analysis of the carrying amount of investment (b)
properties is as follows:

17. REVE »
LAY BEEEAFTIT -

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
In the PRC G
- medium-term leases - R HAFA 4 3,178,403 3,069,723
(c)  Details of the Group's investment properties and () AEER-ZFT-_—_F=H=+—H
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March B —F7REMEFERE
2022 and 2021 are as follows: AATERER cERT ¢
Fair value as at
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
W-B-Z%
-8 E-@ 2= ZAYE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
Investment property unit frre &
located in the PRC MREN - - 3,178,403 3,178,403
Fair value as at
Level 1 Level 2 Level3 2021
WIZ—%
1 F- E ZBYE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THL TAL THr
Investment property unit A B 2R E
located in the PRC MREN - - 3,069,723 3,069,723
There were no transfers into or out of level 3 during the year. RER - =R EAE A LEH -
(d) Investment properties leased out under operating leases (d) RBLEHESEHHEZREYZE

All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals are measured using the fair value model and
classified accounted for investment properties.

AEBMANFEERRELEMER
B URBRAFEERGEZHS
WA R AREYE -
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(d)

Investment properties leased out under operating leases
(Continued)

The Group leases out its investment properties which is
agricultural exchange markets to various tenants. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 year to 5 years, at the
end of which period all terms are renegotiated. None of the
leases includes contingent rentals. For the year ended 31
March 2022, the rental income from investment properties
less direct outgoings of approximately HK$19,977,000 (2021:
approximately HK$17,591,000) amounted to approximately
HK$222,417,000 (2021: approximately HK$176,130,000).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The

17. BEYE »

(d)

RBKEHELEZREDE (@)

AEERZZAFEHAEREDE @ A
BEMR ST - HO—RYLRE—
FERF  HREEEIERTA ISR
MO E IR - HE_T ==
F=ZA=+—HIFE  REEKEWE
2 e W AR B % 5 X 4719,977,000
BIL(ZZF = —F : 417,591,000 7T)
#97/222,417,0008 L (ZTE=Z—F : 4
176,130,000 7 7T) °

Hﬂﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ‘*ﬂ%‘%lf‘égxézm%
BE¥HE  MAKELERBE LM
ﬁﬁ&ﬁl\%ﬂxﬂ HE A& A B A FER

lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/ BEERESEME AN S RE
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease BEYRE R -
term.
The Group's total future minimum lease payments under AEBERBEAATHHEAEHERRKE
noncancelable operating leases are receivable as follows: KRS BREAT
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FH&T
Within 1 year —ER 214,862 201,612
Between 1 and 2 years —FRERERN 78,760 76,427
Between 2 and 3 years MERE=FR 22,427 15,864
Between 3 and 4 years =FRENFR 9,632 7,230
Between 4 and 5 years NFEREBERFA 5,116 5,089
Over 5 years AFLAE 12,762 12,264
343,559 318,486
Pledge of investment properties ) WREMEZER

As at 31 March 2022, the land use rights in respect of investment
properties with a total carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,574,129,000 (2021: approximately HK$967,753,000) were
pledged to banks for the Group’s bank borrowings, details of

which are set out in note 26.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had been applying for
the relevant certificates in respect of the buildings erected on
the land included under investment properties owned by the
Group.

RZZT=_=—F=A=+—H REWX
48 BE T {8 49 /1,574,129,0007%8 7t (= &
— — % : #9967,753,00078 JT) 2 £ H
B st AL B 2 RIT1E MK 18 F 88
T FEFHIEE26 -

R-ZE—_—F=ZA=+—BK=-_T—_—
F AEE-—HRBERAEEMES
KWEWMERNZ L FEENEFTERFE

BAREE o
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 18. EEM\T%"E

(@)  General information of subsidiaries (@ MBARZ—HKEH
Particulars of Proportion of ownership interest
Plae of issued and fully and voting power held
incorporation/ paid ordinary Group's
registration share capital/ effective Held by the Held by
Name of Company and operation registered capital interest Company Subsidiaries Principal actvities
BRAREBAR FEERRRRZRLA
AL/ ERRRE/ 4582
] BHREEHE iifEsEE ERER KAARE i} DL TERE
022 01 022 01 022 m
- i S i B e A 2
Novel Talent Limited Britsh Virgin lslands/ UsD1 100% 100% 100% 100% Investment holding
Hong Kong
RERIBR/BE 11 REAR

BB ERERARAA ThePRC RMBS1,220000 51% 1% - - 51% 5% Agicuburel poduce
(note 18(a)(i) exchange market operation

EEEERARAA i AR 612200007 EeEERRS A
(180

REAYHREERATS The PRC RVB180610000 100% 0w | 72% Ul | 92T7% Seh Agiculturel produce
12 note 18(a)) (2021:RMBS8,500,000) exchange market operation

REnYBaERATS ik ARE 1806100007 FERERRATS
RRAR (it 180 ===

B 8850000077)

hEERRERYETS The PRC RMB34.285,700 51% 5% - - 51% 6% Agicultrel produce
BRL note 180)) (2021: RMB76,230000) exchange market operation

and property sales

THEERAERNETS He ARE 32857007 BERERLATHR
AR (i 180 (z3=-&: S 4

AR T8 23000077)

HHEENRERARAA ThePRC RMB320,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Agrculturalproduce
(note 18(a)(i) (2021: RMB160,169617) exchange market operation

and property sales

IHEEREEARAA he ARE 3200000007 HERERRATER
(R 180 ((E=-&: REE

AR 1601696177)

SNEEREERNE TS The PRC RMB160,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Agricultural produce
HRAR (2021: RMB150000,000) exchange market operation
(note 18 (a)i) and property seles

PHEERRERLETS i AR 1600000007 EEEERRGTAR
RO (Fz 180 === fzae

AR 1500000007
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of Company

AER

RiTEEAER AT
AR note 18(ai)

BHTEREERNEDS
AR (18000

HRTERIERIATS
B note 18(a)i)

AETERBERNETS
BIROE (i 180

BRTERIERNATS
AR note 18(3))

REREREERNETS
AIRAR (31zt 100

BSRERERSATS
AR note 18(ai)

BETEERERNETS
AR (3 1800

HEREREERR
AR
(note 18(a)(i))
RETERRERR
BIRAR (A1t 10

ERTEERER
IEAERAR
(note 18(a)()

ERTERAERYATS
ARAR (5 18a0)

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

it/
BIRAL4E

ThePRC

i

The PRC

8

The PRC

G

The PRC

i

The PRC

The PRC

G

Particulars of
issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
BRfREEER
2ERRR/
ifeni

SD23,230000
BBI0ET

VB 208,182,500
(2021:RMB 146 200000)
NE 2081825007
(CE=-F:
AE%146.20000070)

RNB140,000,000

ARE 1400000007

USD10,000000

100000007

U5D30,299805

(2021:USD29.18,839)

029980557
(FF-%:
191885ET)

RNB2,000,000

ARE 20000007

F=ZA=+—HIFE

18. X EMMEB AT @
B AT — AR )

(@)
Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held
Group's
effective Held by the
interest Company
RERRRRATALN
L P
RRER K0AkE
0 201 022 01
CEoCE | ZE--F |CBCCE | DR
100% 100% - =
100% 100% - =
5% 5% - -
100% 100% - =
100% 100% - =
80% 80% - -

Held by

subsidiaries

HEATHE
022 01
CECCE (DR
100% 100%
100% 100%
5% 5%
100% 100%
100% 100%
80% 80%

Principal activities

3]

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales

HeRERRATAR
S

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales

EEEERRATAR
U

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales

BERERRATAR
fzie

Agricultural produce
exchange market operations
and property sales

HeRERRATAR
U

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales

EEEERTY
UES

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BB RARMIEE

For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

18. FEME AT &=

(@)  General information of subsidiaries (Continued) @ MEBARZ—RER &)
Particulars of Proportion of ownership interest
Plae of issued and fully and voting power held
incorporation/ paid ordinary Group's
registration share capital/ effective Held by the Held by
Name of Company and operation registered capital interest Company Subsidiaries Principal actvities
BRAREBAR FEERRRRZRLA
AL/ EElRA/ KEEY
nAgR BHREEHE iR ERER KAARE i} DL IEER
022 01 022 01 022 m
CECCE | ZE--F | CBocE | CE--F [C80ck | CEof
ERTAERIEAER ThePRC RVB12,820,000 5B58% | 5858 - S| sese | sess%  Agriculturalproduce
SR AR note 18()i) (2021: RMB12,680,000 exchange market operation
EETEEBLRRER ik AEE 180007 FeEERRA TR
HEmRERAR (i 18i) (B
AR 168000077
HMIBEREERAT The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Financialsenviceoperation
(note 18(a)(i)
RIABHARRAR ik AR 100000007 G LT
(FzE 1)
[HEVIIEE e The PRC RVB3000000 51% 51% - - 51% 5% Agicuburel poduce
1R e note 18(a)i) exchange market operation
EHEYNRRERY ik ARE 30000007 FeRERRATS
RIRAR (A1t o)
REREVEEERAT The PRC VB, 000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Foodandagriculturel
(note 18()(i) by-products merchandising
BERRDEEERAR i ARE 10000007 REREAERHE
(K 80
Notes: FI5E -
(i) Registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture under the (i) BEPREEEZLZAEPIEGEEE

laws of the PRC.

(ii) Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the

laws of the PRC.

(iii)
of the PRC.

Registered as a domestic-funded enterprise under the laws

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at

the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give detail of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
lengths.

G

(i) RIEPEIERELAIEEEDRE -

(i) REPEERBLR/NERHE -

LB AEART P 8 2 B O 4F 48 B 5 AR (AT B
R EREKES -

ERIHEERBREIEXEAEEER
FEEZAEENBAR - EFR /M
EREMHBRARDFBEREFEBNE
& e
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—E-FZA=tT—HIFE

18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests

Name of Company

AREH

FINRFHERRER AR
TR %EE&H%W%
BRD

Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests

BRFERER
{HRIFFEAMBA

Proportion of

ownership interests

Place of and voting rights
held by

non-controlling

incorporation/
registration

and operation interests
ML FERER
BRERKERE  FEEAELA
The PRC 49%
i

The PRC 49%
it (2021:35%)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the

Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests

is set out below. The summarised financial information below

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

18. TEMMEB AT @

(b) TZEEE?@H IR FERE N E
NGl

Profits allocated to Accumulated

non-controlling interests non-controlling interests

AEREFERERER R FERES
2022 2021 2022 2021
—ECCF —E--F —E-CF ZE-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT TET THT
9,445 4,190 181,044 173,151
18,165 6,069 197,143 190,865
34,032 33,689
412,219 397,705

ﬁ%$%l%ﬁiﬁﬁ%k%mzxw
NEABERBEZHR T o XX
%ﬁﬂm EREEMAIEIHATRUE ©
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. TEMBE AR =
(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) HWEERFERERZIEDENE
material non-controlling interests (Continued) RRIZFIE @
()  FHRFEEZFRGRAA (i) BIWNFFEEEREBRAA
2022 2021
—E-—F -4
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET Tt
Current assets MENEE 65,829 75,167
Non-current assets EMENE B 461,522 439,306
Current liabilities mENEE 59,367 57,502
Non-current liabilities SEREAaE 98,481 103,577
Equity attributable to owners of R A A A AFE(LHERE
the Company 188,459 180,243
Non-controlling interests IR 181,044 173,151
2022 2021
—E=-= —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FAET
Turnover EEE 50,639 46,629
Other gain G 2,034 1,501
Net gain/(loss) in fair value of REMENFERZE
investment properties (E18) 558 4,857 (6,003)
Expenses Az (38,255) (33,575)
Profit for the year FE R H| 19,275 8,552
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. FEMEARE @
(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) HEEREERERZIEDENE
material non-controlling interests (Continued) RRIZFHE @)
() FINRFEEEZEFR 2 A (continued) () BN EEEREERAR
(%)
2022 2021
—EB-CHF —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
Profit attributable to owners KR AR AEERT]
of the Company 9,830 4,362
Profit attributable to FEPRE AR R 2 P A1 s A
non-controlling interests 9,445 4,190
Profit for the year F R 19,275 8,552
Total comprehensive income NS AEL
attributable to owners 2ERABTE
of the Company 17,542 18,570
Total comprehensive income IR e RS
attributable to non-controlling EAr N
interests 16,854 17,707
Total comprehensive income FAZEBARTE
for the year 34,396 36,277
Dividend paid to non-controlling XTI R 2 R B
interests 8,961 -
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HEZZE - —F = A=+—HIFE

18. TEMME AT &

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) HWEERFERERZIEDENE
material non-controlling interests (Continued) RRIZFIE @
()  FNRFEEZREFRZ F] (continued) () BHFEFEEZERARLA]
(#&)
2022 2021
—E-—F -
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FExT FHBT
Net cash inflows from KETEBIR M AEE
operating activities 25,387 16,753
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from BEESIRS
investing activities WA G 358 5,952 (9,618)
Net cash outflows from BEEBR ML FE
financing activities (32,150) (13,755)
Net cash outflows &7 FEE (811) (6,620)
(i) FEHEELEEGYETIEERAT] (i) FEMEHERBEDHETSE
R A]
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Current assets mENE 718,048 846,992
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,637 1,481
Current liabilities MENBE 273,305 264,288
Non-current liabilities FERBaE 45,780 43,296
Equity attributable to owners of RRARGER AR
the Company 203,457 350,024
Non-controlling interests JEFERR A = 197,143 190,865
2022 2021
—B-F ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Turnover EEE 161,138 209,601
Other gain E bz 295 1,148
Expenses Fx (121,042) (193,408)
Profit for the year FRm A 40,391 17,341
Profit attributable to owners QN EHEE AR ST
of the Company 22,226 11,272
Profit attributable to non-controlling FEF2E R fe 2 FE (1 5 )
interests 18,165 6,069
Profit for the year FNRA| 40,391 17,341
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

18. TEMMEB AT @

(b)

BABARFE L 2 IF 2

NEZFFE @)

BB

EREHE R B E i FE T 55 B R A A] (continued) (i)  EMEERRERHETSE
BR 2 A] ()
2022 2021
—EB-—F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Total comprehensive income RAFHES AN
attributable to owners EERABEE
of the Company 27,609 41,150
Total comprehensive income RS IE(E 2
attributable to non-controlling Nt
interests 21,206 22,158
Total comprehensive income FARHE
for the year N L] 48,815 63,308
Dividend payable to non-controlling FERT IR 2 2 IR B
interests 2,157 36,493
Equity transaction with EREREAC i g 2 AR 5
non-controlling interests 12,771 -
Net cash inflows from EETEBIR G
operating activities MAFRE 24,522 29,929
Net cash inflows from REEERE
investing activities MAFRE 43,924 58,015
Net cash outflows from mEEIRE
financing activities R e (100,169) (69,445)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows BE R,/ mAEE (31,723) 18,499
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19. MEEFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAxT
Completed properties BRI 1,491,852 1,663,749
Properties under development BERPYZE 42,211 30,712
1,534,063 1,694,461
Less: written down of stock of properties B T EMOR - (1,747)
1,534,063 1,692,714
As at 31 March 2022, the stock of properties of approximately RZZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H WEHFEYD
HK$382,532,000 (2021: approximately HK$437,683,000) were pledged 382,532,000 T (=& = — 4 : %)437,683,000
to bank for the Group’s bank borrowings, details of which are set out BT ERANEE 2 IRITEFIER TIRTT - B
in note 26. FEIBEMIRE 26 ©
20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. ESRHEMERRIEA
(@) Trade receivables (@ EBIZEWFIE
2022 2021
—EB-CH —T——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Trade debtors, gross EUE SRR 45 10,096 17,943
Less: allowance for expected B TREEEEERE
credit losses (8,208) (8,177)
1,888 9,766

Ageing analysis

Trade receivables, net of allowance for expected credit losses,
with the following aging analysis presented based on the

BRER DT
W E 55008 HI B E EBRER)
AR TE B 197 % 5 SR AG AR 0 2 D1 3R 5

payment terms on the tenancy agreement as of the end of the RZEREAHTIAT

reporting period:

Less than 30 days

More than 30 days but less than

90 days

More than 90 days but less than

180 days
More than 180 days

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAxT
30 HARA 703 8,617
B3 30 H18 90 H AR

470 385

HBiE 90 H18 180 HLAA
322 548
180 HMA E 393 216
1,888 9,766
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZRHEMERRIE
(@) Trade receivables (Continued) (@ EBZEUGIE#E)
Ageing analysis (continued) BRE 24T (8)
The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 rEE-—RETEESEFI0AZTH
days to its trade customers. The Group may on a case-by-case EEH - AEE A EERIERRER
basis, and after evaluation of the business relationships and AHEEERP 2 EBHEAREEE - B
creditworthiness of its customers, extend the credit period BEFHREMEREER -

upon customers’ report.

(b)  Prepayment, deposits and other receivables (b) TEMFIE - e REAEUEIER

2022 2021
—E-CF -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Deposit for land acquisition T RE 59,855 57,428
Other deposits Hitize 10,405 7,733
Prepayments TR 3IE 88,498 157,411
Other receivables Hfth e R IR 42,090 66,002
200,848 288,574

Less: allowance for expected W TREEEEERE
credit losses (1,315) (238)
199,533 288,336

=
21. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 21. BRERKRIE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Loan and interest receivables, secured EWERRFE - B 63,031 =
Loan and interest receivables, unsecured FEREFRFE - 12,945 67,244
Less: allowance for expected credit losses B REE RIS (44,538) (44,772)
Loan and interest receivables, net EWE RN A B IEEE 31,438 22,472
Analysis as: DA
Current portion BNHEAER 12,913 22,472
Non-current portion JEBNEREL 7 18,525 =
31,438 22,472
The average effective interest rates on the Group's loan receivables are REEZERKRERTFHERFER58%(ZF

5.8% (2021: 7.7%). ——F 1 7.7%)°
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

23.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

FZRA=+—HILFE

22. ATV EIBRERESZSRER
ZEMEE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAxT
Listed investments: LETRE -
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong -RBB L 2 IRAFES 112 66
Derivative financial instruments: MTESRTH :
— Redemption option derivative - BEIERESTAET AR D
component (note 29) (FE29) - 59
Fair value ~¥EE 112 125

All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at

fair values. Fair values of the listed investments are determined by

reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant

stock exchanges. Fair value of derivative financial instruments was

arrived on the basis of valuation carried out by a firm of independent

professional valuers and was valued by using binomial model.

BANK AND CASH BALANCES/PLEDGED

AR AFEINRERBRRREEZ SREE
BIRAFEIER - ETREZAFELSER
HERERZAMEmSEANEMER - /T4
SRTAZ A HERBBI ZXAEMTER
AT 2 AEER

23. ﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁ/afé?%ﬁﬁ

BANK DEPOSITS XN
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Cash at banks and in hand IRITHEBRRFERS 440,328 424,675
Pledged bank deposits (Note b) B ERRITIER (HiEEb) 30,820 =

Notes: Hi%E

(a)

Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash held by the Group and

bank balances that bear interest at prevailing market rates ranging
from approximately 0.001% to 1.76% (2021: approximately 0.001%
to 3.05%) per annum and have original maturity of three months or

less.

Included in cash at banks and in hand as at 31 March 2022 is an
amount denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) of approximately
RMB325,233,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$400,947,000)
(2021: approximately RMB300,518,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$355,453,000)). Renminbi is not freely convertible into other

currencies.

RITHEKRERTFERCPEASEFE 2R
& URIEGFENF£0.001% = 1.76% (=
T —4F : £0.001% = 3.05%) ZIR1TH5
FERFEBRIHE A=A KA T ZIE

TTHEER °

R-TE-_—F=A=+—H  RI&HK
FHEESBEE—"BUARE ((AR%]) AT
B2 RIEH AR 325,233,000 70 (FEE R4
400,947,000;87T) (C T = —4 : HARMK
300,518,0007T (18 & 7 49355,453,0007% 7T) °
ARETEBRRIBRAEMEY -
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23. BANK AND CASH BALANCES/PLEDGED
BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

()

(Continued)

Included in cash at bank and in hand as at 31 March 2022, restricted
cash of an amount of approximately RMB5,804,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,155,000) represents certain companies of the
Group which are required to place in designated bank accounts
certain amount of pre-sale proceeds as guarantee deposits for the
constructions of the related properties. The deposits can only be
used for payments for construction costs of the relevant properties.
Such guarantee deposits will be released after the completion
of construction of the related properties (2021: approximately
RMB18,013,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$21,306,000)),
and restricted cash of an amount of approximately of RMB49,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$61,000) is the restricted cash
held at banks as receipt on behalf of tenant in agricultural produce
exchange market (2021: RMB18,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$21,000)).

Deposits amounting to HK$30,820,000 (2021: nil) have been
pledged to secure short-term bills payable and are therefore
classified as current assets.

23. RITRBE LR CEIFRIT
T?‘ZFA (#&)
BsE - ()

(@)

RZZEZ—F=A=+—8  RITEHK
FHER S BE—EL AR 5,804,000 7T (15
& #)7,155,000 7 7T) K BR I EF AR A
EENETARAREERITEEERE
FERENBEMERGIIE - (EREEY
RFHETRENEES  ZRESETAR
SNEEMENEETIRER ZRES
B BEMERET R TRER
B (ZE=—F - HHAK® 18,013,000 7T (16
éﬁé%@maoaooo%ﬁﬁ)&%ﬁﬁﬁliﬁi\%%‘é
4 A R 49,000 7T, (F & 7 4761,000 7 7T)
AREEERRZMHAF KEARITIR
FlEER(CZT=—F : AR 18,0007t (17
ER#21,000787T))) °

155£30,820,0008 7T (ZE=—4F : #)EH
WM BEHREMNZBIERER  YREHE
BREEE °

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (0 BETHEENAGELHR:
Bank and
Lease other Convertible  Promissory
liabilities  borrowings Bonds bonds notes Total
BITR
HESE HebfE™@ &% URRES RARE Fot ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT AL TAET TAT AT
(note 16(b)) (note 26) (note 27) (note 29) (note28)
(Fffz= 16(b)) (3 26) (HzE27) (£ 29) (GEZL)
Net debt as at 1 April 2020 RZZZTF
MA—RE&
BFE 24,243 1,011,489 176,998 246,894 376,000 1,835,624
Change in cash flow, net Rene2y 58 (6,730) (86,551) (2,900) (146,859) = (243,040)
Foreign exchange differences [ 5 =58 1,983 34,299 = = = 36,282
Other non-cash movement HinIERe® 5758 85,072 21,532 31,328 (376,000) (232,310)
Net debt as at R-E-——F
31 March 2021 and ZA=+—-Hk
1 April 2021 —2--5mA—-H
REREE 25,254 1,044,309 195,630 131,363 - 1,396,556
Change in cash flow, net ReneERy 28 (6,661) 118,928 (2,900) (140,337) - (30,970)
Foreign exchange differences [ 5 =58 972 22,333 - - = 23,305
Modification 5] (1,473) = = = = (1,473)
Other non-cash movement HihFREEE 1,855 90,105 23,812 8974 - 124,746
Net debtasat31March2022 R-Z==f
=RA=1+-H#H
BEFE 19,947 1,275,675 216,542 - - 1,512,164
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'A.l
24. DEPOSITS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24, BERHEMEARIE
2022 2021
—EB-H —ET-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHT
Accrued charges FEETE R 31,514 29,402
Construction payables FETRREEFIR 47,123 43,217
Deposit received BluzE 100,836 96,733
Interest payable FERTFIE 22,397 29,506
Other tax payables HAbERTIIE 45,242 52,567
Other payables H A R R0E 240,541 269,187
487,653 520,612
25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. EHEE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to: AEBEERETISEEENARE -
2022 2021
—EB-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers: BPEHE
Contract liabilities relating to sale of HEEMESHBENEHNAE
properties contracts 233,727 586,577
The contract liabilities relating to sale of properties contracts will EARKEEREEYFERGETEPBITERE
be recognised as revenue when the Group satisfies its performance DEER - BEEMESVEENGNEERS
obligations by transferring the control of the properties to the R AW -
customers.
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the TRETRARESHMEREFBLENES
current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities AWHEBSHAERBENKESRE -

relating to sale of properties contracts.

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FHT
Revenue recognised that was included FHEEAE A ERERT
in the contract liability balance at the B R S

beginning of the year 418,564 233,183
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26. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

26. SRITREMER

2022 2021
—E-CF -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Secured bank borrowings BEHEMRITER 5 @ & (d)
(note (a) and (d)) 699,675 444,309
Unsecured other borrowings (note (b)) R AE A AR (T EE (b)) 576,000 600,000
1,275,675 1,044,309
Carrying amount repayable: JA(ERAREE ¢
Within one year —FR 809,122 227,856
More than one year, but within two years —F A BT BBMRE 134,930 644,947
More than two years, but within five years MFEA BT BBRSF 294,639 45,538
More than five years AFNUE 36,984 125,968
1,275,675 1,044,309
Less: amounts due within one year shown B RBABE Y —FR
under current liabilities B EAZRIE (809,122) (227,856)
466,553 816,453

Included in the above balances are bank borrowings of variable
rate of approximately HK$215,740,000 (2021: approximately
HK$125,377,000) which carry interest adjustable for changes
of borrowing rate offered by The People’s Bank of China. The
average rate charged by the banks during the year ranged from
approximately 4.9% to 5.2% (2021: approximately 3.0% to 7.1%)
per annum. Interest is repriced every 30 days. Bank borrowings of
fixed-rate of approximately HK$483,935,000 (2021: approximately
HK$318,932,000) carry interest fixed from approximately 2.6% to
7.4% (2021: approximately 3.3% to 7.6%) per annum. In addition,
included in the above balances are bill payables of fixed rate of
approximately HK$61,640,000 (2021: HK$41,398,000). The average
rate during the year was approximately 5.65% (2021: approximately
5.3%) per annum. All bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.

il R BRI BERTTIE 5K A 215,740,000
BIL(ZZT=—4 : #9125377,0007% 7T) *
ZEEBRZFERFEARRITIREZ
ERFREEMAE - A - RITHEZ
FIF RN T HEL49% E52%(ZF——
F:H3.0%E71%)  FEER=THEHN
TEE— IR o &R IRTTIE 5K 483,935,000 7%
JL(ZZ = —4F : #9318,932,000% 7T) 1L 4F
lm*'ﬁi\ﬁze%lm%(_?:—ir 49
33%E7.6%) T8 o W) EaESHRP BT
E*'JLA"EZJT’%TH?%TE%’U61,640,0005%75(:
T~ —£F : 41,398,00087T) ° FRZFHF
EATFH565%(ZFT=—F : 4953%) °
A RITEFEBUAREE -
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26. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(b)

(d)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has unsecured borrowing
with carrying amount of approximately HK$70,000,000 (2021:
HK$75,000,000) from Double Leads Investments Limited (“Double
Leads”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOG and unsecured
borrowing with carrying amount of approximately HK$506,000,000
(2021: HK$525,000,000) from Winning Rich Investments Limited
(“Winning Rich”), a wholly owned subsidiary of WYT. The unsecured
borrowings carry fixed interest rate at 10% per annum with maturity
date on September 2022.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which equal to contracted
interest rates) on the Group's total borrowings are as follows:

Effective interest rate: ER
Fixed-rate borrowings E

Variable-rate borrowings

26. SRITRHEMER =
R-B-—F=A=+—R0 ~XEEHEK
ARZZ2EWNBARGHEEGRAR
([f& %) BR E{E %) 4 70,000,0008 7T (=&

(b)

——fF:

75,000,000 7T) 2 5 5 38 ig 3 %

%Efﬁmizj—gﬁﬂmﬁ RIEIMIEE BR
7] ([8138]) BR T {& 49 /4 506,000,000 75 7T

( T — —4F : 525,000,000 7% 7T) Z £ 1K
1§§K ERRERETEFFERE10%  R=
T —FNAEIE -
REBEBERZBERFR BERELHFIR)
BEWOT :
2022 2021
—E-CF —E -4
2.6% to 10.0% 3.3% to 10.0%
2.6% % 10.0% 3.3% % 10.0%
4.9% t0 5.2% 3.0% to 7.1%
4.9% & 5.2% 3.0% = 7.1%

The secured bank borrowings are secured by the land use rights
included in investment properties, pledged bank deposits and
stock of properties with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,987,481,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,405,436,000) as
set outin notes 17, 19 and 23.

BHEARRITIE A M EE17

19 % 23FTE 2

FREREE 4 /4 1,987,481,000/8 7T (— & ——
& 1 #91,405,436,000/570) 2 REWHE - B

HRRTES
&R o

ARMEFEN

T PR
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27. BONDS 27. &%

Listed bond
maturity
in 2024
(“Listed
bonds 2024”)
R=EB-mE
)i
tmES
(==2=m#
LtESD)
HK$'000
FHIT
(Note a)
(GET)
At 1 April 2020 RZTZFPA—H 176,998
Add: Interest charge e FEBA 21,529
Less: Interest paid/payable BN AR (2,897)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZZ—F=A=+—HK
—T-—%NA—-H 195,630
Add: Interest charge m: FMEER 23,812
Less: Interest paid/payable BN AR (2,900)
At 31 March 2022 RZTBZZF=R=+—H 216,542

Non-current portion FENHE D
At 31 March 2022 ——%#=A=+-H 216,542
At 31 March 2021 —f#=A=+—H 195,630
Notes: FieE

a. On 19 May 2014, the Company established a HK$1,000,000,000
medium term note program. The bonds issued under the program
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited by way

of debt issue to professional investors only. The Company further

announced that interest on the notes will be payable annually in
arrears at the interest rate of 1% per annum.

The Company has totally issued 40 batches with the principal
amount of HK$400,000,000 with 1% interest rate per annum on 30
May 2014, 11 June 2014, 25 June 2014, 2 July 2014, 10 July 2014, 18
July 2014, 28 July 2014, 29 July 2014, 26 August 2014, 30 September
2014, 6 October 2014 and 7 October 2014 respectively. The entire of
the Listed bonds 2024 will be matured on 30 September 2024.

)

RZZ—NMERA+TNE - AARRKRI
1,000,000,000 7 7T 2 R EAZRAE T  ARIRAT
BRI EFARMBEREERITEY
WA RREBHAERBABRAR LM -
ARAE—FEHGEREFEFTEIN
FRER1% °

ARBEDRHR_E—MNEFRAA=+H

—mEXNA+—HBH  ZT—HEEAN
A=-+aB - —ZT—WmW&ELA=-H =
T-—NELA+H —E-—mWELA+N
=[S :%—V_Elﬁtﬁ _+/\EI —ZF—r
Etﬂ +na EEAH +7<
= minﬂ +E — g

+A /\E|&_i Pﬂi‘f’ﬂtﬁ m/\ﬁ‘ﬁ
40 #E 7 8 4 400,000,000 BT F FIE 5 1%
WEHF - —T_NFEMESFFEIRZ
TN FANA=+HEE -
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The information of Listed bonds 2024 are presented as follows:

Principal amount:

Interest:

Issue date:

Maturity date:

Redemption period by
the Company:

Redemption period for
the bond holders:

Redemption amount
on maturity date:

HK$400,000,000

1% p.a. payable annually

40 batches issued from

30 May 2014 to 7 October 2014
30 September 2024

Three specified redemption dates

from 31 December
2023 to 30 June 2024

Twelve Specified redemption
dates from 30 September 2022
to 30 June 2024

HK$387,400,000
(96.85% of principal amount)

As at 31 March 2020, the Company has completed the purchase
of and cancelled the Listed bonds 2024 in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$110,000,000. The Listed bonds 2024 purchased by
the Company was cancelled, upon which the Listed bonds 2024 in
the principal amount of HK$290,000,000 will remain outstanding.

The fair value of the Bonds 2024 is approximately HK$239,134,000 as
at 31 March 2022 (2021: approximately HK$205,400,000). The Bonds
2024 were classified as level 2 of fair value hierarchy.

The imputed interest expenses on the Listed bonds 2024 were
calculated using effective interest method by using the effective

interest rate of 11.6%.

27. BF =

()

(#)

—ZoMFE EHESCERZNNMNT

REHE - 400,000,000 /57T
FE : BE1%  BEESA

BITHH H-ZE-—MFERAR=+HZE
—Z-E+ AR
40 AR

Z|EAR - —E-NFENA=TH

AR RHEE R HAR - =@ ERER
HEH=Z==%F
+=A=+-A%

—E-mFARA=+H

BEHFH AN + = A5 EE R
e o] HAR - HEH=ZT=——F
HA=+H

ETUF

~NA=+H

REFAMER S5 - 387,400,000 75 7T
(& EEH) 96.85%)

RZZFE-TF=A=+—H' ' ARFE%
A B [B] % 5 85 2N € 42 58 /3 110,000,000 75 T
WM-ZT_NFLEHES ARRBEEMN=
TMFLFHESFEHEN MASEA
290,000,000 8 TTH) =T UG EmEHD
KRIEE -

—E_NF EmEFR T Z_F=A
=+—H B’J/Aﬂ?fﬁ,%’vi,%239,134,ooof9§7_z (=
T — —4F : #9205,400,000757C) 0 —ZF — P
¢tﬂiﬁ%"*§%£ﬂ?ﬁi&%f£& o

—EoNF EMESEERNERZER
ERF R EREBRAER11.6% °
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28.

29.

PROMISSORY NOTES

On 5 December 2007, the Company issued two promissory notes with
an aggregate amount of HK$376,000,000 as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Wuhan Baisazhou Market (the “Promissory
Notes”). The Promissory Notes bear interest at 5% per annum and are
repayable in five years from the date of issue. The Company may, at
its absolute discretion, pay all or any part of the outstanding principal
amount and interest of the Promissory Notes.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group was pursuing a
litigation regarding the Promissory Notes. As at 18 January 2021,
the promissory note was offsetted with the gains granted under the
Judgment upon settlement of the litigation. For details, please refer to
note 36(B).

The movement of the carrying amount of the Promissory Notes during
the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out below:

At 1 April 2020

Less: offsetting upon litigation judgment
(Note 36)

—E-TFNA—

28.

S|

ARERE

R-ZTZTLHE+-AAA » KARIEITRIER
& ¥8 /5 376,000,000 % 7T 2 A Z1R - (ERUEE
BERDNTIG 2 B RE (REEE]) - &
HEBIRFENES%TE - BRBETHRR
FANEE - ARF A 2B NEALERZ
2HHEABOREZRNSHERFE

HE_Z-_—F=-A=1+—HIFE £5H
HALRIBRE—IBFR - R _E-—F—H
TNARB - BRFREA N RIBERBFIRE T
ZMERFHH © FBm2 MR 36()

HE-_ZT-—F=-A=1+—HILFE ALE

HK$'000
TAT

376,000

B ARRAFRIRIDH (Fi5E36)

(376,000)

At 31 March 2021

R—ZF-_—F=A=+—H _

The effective interest rate of the Promissory Notes before matured and
matured were 12.23% and 5.00% per annum respectively.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 19 October 2016, the Company issued 7.5% denominated
convertible bonds with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$500,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”). Each bond entitles the
holder to convert into the Company’s ordinary share at a conversion
price of HK$0.4 and maturity on 19 October 2021.

The Company issued the Convertible Bonds for the principal amount
of HK$500,000,000 to raise additional funds for the general working
capital and repayment of indebtedness of the Company.

The Convertible Bonds may be converted into shares of the Company
at any time on or after issue date up to the close of business on the
maturity date.

29.

R RE Rz AR RE  ERFEFES R
75512.23% 5 5.00% °

Al R & 55
RZZ—AF+ATIA  ARRETEASE
8 /500,000,000 7% 7T #7.5% A & & % ([7
BRER]) -  BHEFE THAEAENRER
Bo4BTEMANR 2 ERBK  RZE-—F
+ATHBEIH -

NN BB 1T R4 58 /5 500,000,000 55 T B BT 3R G
&5 UEKHINESIER—REBELESRE
BARNEMER °

AHERESNETEHE A2 REAKEE
EIHRAREETERRARRRD
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Unless previously redeemed, converted, purchased and cancelled, the
Company will redeem each Convertible Bonds at its principal amount
with accrued and unpaid interest thereon on the maturity date.

The Company shall, at any time before the maturity date, have the
option to redeem the Convertible Bonds in whole or in part by giving
not less than seven clear business days’ prior notice. The amount
payable for any redemption shall be the relevant amount of the
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds so redeemed.

The Convertible Bonds bear interest from and including the issue date
at 7.5% per annum in arrears every six calendar months after the date
of issuance of the Convertible Bonds. The interest payable amount is
calculated by 7.5% to outstanding principal amount of such Bonds.

The Convertible Bonds contain three components: redemption option
derivative, liability and equity elements. The redemption option
derivative and term extension derivative components are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible bonds
equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the liability component on
initial recognition is 12.31% per annum. The valuation of Convertible
Bonds was performed by an independent qualified professional valuer
of the Company.

On 6 April 2017 and 19 April 2017, 380,000,000 shares and 115,500,000
shares have been converted. On 19 December 2017, the Convertible
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK$37,000,000 were used
to set off the consideration of rights shares of the Company.

On 9 December 2020, the Convertible Bonds with the aggregate
principal amount of HK$130,000,000 were redeemed early with loss of
HK$5,067,000 recognised in the consolidation statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2021, the Convertible Bonds with the principal amount
of HK$134,800,000 were outstanding and the maximum number of
shares to be converted is 337,000,000 shares.

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds of approximately
HK$133,982,000 as at 31 March 2021. The Convertible Bonds were
classified as level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

On 19 October 2021, the Convertible Bonds with aggregate principal
amount of HK$134,800,000 were fully redeemed.

29. AIRARES @

A#S‘EETJE@EEIEI R BEE R 0 BRIA
RESRE I R A SRR B AN AE
B O AR B o

REER B ATERI R ZNA R AT 3E 2 2 E0 5k &
SHEEARRES  EAEET DR EEEE
HELBA - st ENRIERNEBESERA
WHRER AR ESN A SFE o

RBREFEETH (BEZB) BERENE
75% 5T B - RARRERETAREEERE
A& - ENFA BB IREBESRITER
SE L 75%THE -

—Hﬁ‘%%%‘%ﬁ E=80 BRBRESTET

%fi&@é/”\i o MEIBRETET AR
LEHH@IEI DR AP EERMNMERTER

3?15%@3.#@ a0 BB [ IR AR B 551

fﬁfﬁjﬁf‘%ﬁii - MIFHERABDHER

FRER1231% - ATRRESR 2 BEBAAF
—REILAEREEAEET

RZFE—+tFNANBER=ZZE—tFHNA
Jer Ei =) %IJE}ﬁssoooooooﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ &
115,500,000 fxf& 1D - R=ZZE—LF+=A+ N
= $$i@§57%37oooooofﬁﬁa’qﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁ%‘%
PRI S AN A Bl AR RAE -

RZEZZTF+_ANAB XeBER
130,000,000 7% 7T &) A] AR E 2 E R R REE]
TRirEBRmREMEEREREREE
5,067,000 BT °

R—ZE-_—F=ZA=Z=+—H ALEA
134,800,000 /& 7T K AT AR B 25 M AR T{E + Al 82

AR5 Hiﬁi% 337,000,000 fi% °

R-TE-—F=A=+—8 aEREHFZA
F{E @7%133 982,00078 7T * AIEIRES DA
ANFEBRE=H

R=Z=——F+A+NB ' K& 4%8134,800,000
BT Z AR E R E RS E R o
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The Convertible Bonds information are presented as follows:

29. A[RAIRES @
AR A 2 AR 2EIT

Convertible
Bonds
AR ES
HK$'000
FAT
Principal amounts: $ﬁ§5
- as at 31 March 2021 -RZEZ—F=A=+—8H: 134,800
interest: in HKS settlement
7.5% p.a. payable
per six calendar months
after the date of issuance
ARETAHRENE
BRAUABTRENEGSE
% 157.5%
Issue date: FEITHER - 19 October 2016
—ZT—RFTA+TIBE
Maturity date: Z|HAH - 19 October 2021
—E=—F+A+NHE
Conversion price per share: BREIR(E HK$0.4
04787
Risk free rate: 4 5 B ) =R 0.64%
Discount rate: Pra|= 12.39%
Liability component =R "B
As at 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZFMNA—H 246,894
Early redemption REED (124,933)
Imputed interest charge (note 7(a)) HEF B (HFE7) 26,261
Interest paid BRFE (16,859)
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—F=A=+—HK
T —FmMA—H 131,363
Redemption i (134,800)
Imputed interest charge (note 7(a)) RS E 7)) 8,974
Interest paid BRFIE (5,537)
As at 31 March 2022 R-B-ZF=ZH=+—H -
Equity component T
As at 1 April 2020 RZZEZFMNA—H 79,547
Early redemption REREE (39,052)
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZTEZ—F=A=+—HK
—ZE_—FMA—H 40,495
Redemption fE[al (40,495)
As at 31 March 2022 R-FB-_—_F=HA=+—H -
Redemption option derivative component WEBRETET RS
As at 1 April 2020 RZZEZZTFHWA—H (322)
Change in fair value NTEES 263
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RIBZ—F=A=+—HK
—ZE-—FMA—H (59)
Change in fair value NEEEH 59

As at 31 March 2022

REB-—H=A=1+—H
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30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 30. MEMBRRRZTEBH

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Income tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial (a)
position represents provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax.

(b) Deferred taxation recognised: (b)

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021
are as follows:

FERBIMARBNAENETBEEE
PSS

EERIRERIH ¢
HEe_ZT-_—"F#-A=+—HE_-Z
——FEIL BEREAMBERRARER
ZIBEERIBEBE AR E D RE S0
T

Fair value
PRC  adjustments
withholding of investment
tax on properties
distributable  and stock of Convertible
profits properties Bonds Total
REMER
ARENZ  MEEEZ
FEENR A PERE  TRRES e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET TR FET
Deferred tax arising from: EEBEELR :
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-TFMA—H - 477,577 5,944 483,521
Exchange adjustments 0 7 = 40,533 = 40,533
Charge/(credit) to profit Mmer,/ GrA) 188
or loss 20,000 24,750 (4,803) 39,947
At 31 March 2021 and RZEZ—5F
1 April 2021 =A=1+—Hk
—E-—fF
MA—H
20,000 542,860 1,141 564,001
Exchange adjustments 0 7 A = 22,934 = 22,934
Credit to profit or loss P AE& (20,000) (782) (1,141) (21,923)
At 31 March 2022 R=B==F
=A=+-H - 565,012 - 565,012
2022 2021
—EB-CH —ET-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAxT
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised iR a MR E
in the consolidated statement RIEITE
of financial position RIBAEFE 565,012 564,001
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30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(c) Deferred taxation not recognised

30. FEMBIRRKRZFABH @

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$383,483,000 for the year ended 31
March 2022 (2021: approximately HK$398,114,000) available
for offset the future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has

been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future

profit stream. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$339,924,000 (2021: HK$362,492,000) arising
from the PRC which may be carried forward for five years. Other
losses of approximately HK$43,559,000 (2021: HK$35,622,000)
may be carried forward indefinitely. The Group had no other

significant deferred tax assets/liabilities not recognised as at the

end of the reporting period.

31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

RUERZBLEHIA

RBEHR AEEEARERAEE
T - —HE=-—fA=1+—HILEEH
383,483,000 T(= T = — F: &
398,114,000 7% 7T) %% 18 &5 18 7] F LA 4K 84
AR TR FR A v ) o BR 28 LA FEDR) AR 2R A
TR MW ERRECRIBEE - £
MEBRREEEETE 2 AERKIE
&5 18 #9339,924,000/8 7L (Z T = — F ¢
362,492,000 7T) Al R A F A4 o H
ftb 5 18 49 43,559,000 8 T (T = — & ¢
35,622,000 7% 7T) A fEPR B 45 88 o ISR
HiK  AEBEVEEMERNRERZIE
EHIBEEBE -

31. EXRK#E

(@)  Authorised and issued share capital @ FEERBBEITRA
2022 2021
k- et 3 “T-—F
Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value of shares value
RPEE [ENED %A EfE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of BREGET
HK$0.01(2021: (ZZ=—F: 00
HK$0.01) each BIT) 2 ERR 30,000,000,000 300,000 | 30,000,000,000 300,000
Ordinary shares, issued BEKR - BRIR
and fully paid: R
At the beginning and the end RENRER
of the year 9,953,067,822 99,531 9,953,067,822 99,531

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends

as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per

share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank

equally in regard to the Company'’s residual assets.

ERBHE AT EE 2 B8
RABRADAZ Q8% R ERE—
£ AL EREALARBAESS
BRI -
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31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b)  Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda.

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal
value of the Company’s shares repurchased which
has been paid out of the distributable reserves of the
Company.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents (i) the difference
between the underlying net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued pursuant to group
reorganisation in 1995, and (ii) contribution arising from
capital reorganisation in 2003 and 2009.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to shareholders. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make distributions
out of contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts.

Shareholders’ contribution

The shareholders’ contribution represents imputed
interest expense on the non-current interest-free loan
from ultimate holding company in 2005.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements into presentation currency of the Group
which is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(q).

31. EXKG#HE =
b) EEEZHERB

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(vi)  Otherreserve
The other reserve of the Group was the changes in the
Group’s ownership interests in its subsidiaries that do

not result in the loss of control.

(vii)  Convertible bonds reserve
The convertible bonds reserve represents the conversion
option of convertible bonds recognised in the equity
until either the bonds are converted or redeemed.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was nil
(2021: Nil).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to strictly control the debt level. The Group
maintains a strategy on acquiring land only if the project
development can commence within a short period of time
so as to minimise the time period between acquisition and
development of the acquired land, thus the Group'’s capital can
be efficiently deployed.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing
ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines net debt as total
debt (which includes bank and other borrowings, bonds and
convertible bonds) less cash and cash equivalents (which
includes bank and cash balances and pledged bank deposits).
Capital comprises total equity of the Group. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

(b)

31. EXRKf#E®
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31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 31. EXNH#E @

externally imposed capital requirements.

ZEARRE -

(d) Capital management (Continued) (d) BXREE @
The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 was as follows: R-ZE-_—F=A=+—HK=-FT——
FEZBBLERMT :
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
Mot FHET FABT
Current debts mENETS
- Bank and other borrowings - $R77 R E AL E K 26 809,122 227,856
- Convertible bonds - AR ES 29 - 131,363
Total current debts BNERE RS 185 809,122 359,219
Non-current debts IERENERS
- Bank and other borrowings —SRIT R EMIER 26 466,553 816,453
—Bonds - &% 27 216,542 195,630
Total non-current debts JERNHA(ETS 4B %R 683,095 1,012,083
Total debt (Bt 1,492,217 1,371,302
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : 384 MIREE5E 23 (471,148) (424,675)
Net debt BRFE 1,021,069 946,627
Total equity S AREE 2,351,532 2,205,853
Net debt-to-capital ratio B F L E AR X 43.4% 42.9%
Neither the Company not its subsidiaries are subject to NN REM B AR BEESE N
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONAND  32. &AA R AR R EIESE

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(@)  Financial position of the Company (@ ARARZHBEMRA
2022 2021
—EC-CF B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR Z2RE 164,855 319,580
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables E b FE U RIE 2,237,891 2,051,793
Financial assets at fair value through  3Z/AE5IBR KA B R 12
profit or loss L EREE - 59
Cash and cash equivalents e MReERE 30,395 64,607
2,268,286 2,116,459
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables HAtb BT RIE 805,085 732,366
Convertible bonds Al AR E 5 - 131,363
Other borrowing HAB{ER 576,000 -
Income tax payable FERTER1S AR 8,685 =
1,389,770 863,729
Net current assets REEEFHE 878,516 1,252,730
Total assets less current liabilities EEERRBEE 1,043,371 1,572,310
Non-current liabilities FEREBAE
Bonds &5 216,542 195,630
Other borrowing E A &R - 600,000
Deferred tax liability EERIBAG - 1,141
216,542 796,771
Net assets BEE 826,829 775,539
Capital and reserves EAXR#iE
Share capital A&7 99,531 99,531
Reserves & 727,298 676,008
Total equity ERAEE 826,829 775,539

R —F A-tHAEESSH
HERIRRETE

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
24 June 2022.

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond Tang Ching Ho

RInEE BEA
Director Director
= EE
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b) A summary to the Company’s reserves is as follows:

32. AARHBRR KRR HELE

(&

b) ARFZFEEHEWT :

Capital Convertible Share
Share  redemption  Contributed bonds Shareholders Accumulated options
premium reserve surplus reserves  contribution losses reserve Total
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000
U TRRES
REE fE  EHER fE  BREE  RAER  BRERR a5
TR TER Ti#n THR TiEn TR TiEn TR
At 1 April 2020 RIB-RE
MA-A 3923147 945 588,812 79,547 664 (4,003,270) - 589,845
Early redemption of RERE
convertible bonds ARG - - - (39052) - 39052 - -
Profit for the year RERRT - - - - - 86,163 - 86,163
At31March2021and ~ RZFZ—
1 April 2021 =A=+-Ak
—E--F
MA-H 3,923,147 945 588,812 40495 664 (3,878,055) - 676,008
Redemption of [HERE
convertible bonds &% - - - (40495) - 40495 - -
Profit for the year RERRF - = - = - 50,151 - 50,151
Recognition of equity TNEREE
settled share-based MR AER
payment PARE - = = = - = 1139 1139
At31 March 2022 R=B==f
=B=t-H 3,923,147 945 588,812 - 664  (3,787,409) 1,139 727,298

33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 3
May 2012 whereby the directors the Company are authorised, at their
discretion, to invite selected eligible persons (the “Participants”) to
take up options for their contribution to the Group. The Scheme will
remain in force for 10 years. Under the Scheme, the board of directors
(the “Board”) may grant options to the Participants to subscribe for
shares in the Company for a consideration of HK$ 1 for each lot of share
options granted. The exercise price is to be determined by the Board
and shall not be less than the highest of:

(@)  the official closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date
which must be a business day (and for this purpose, shall be
taken to be the date of the Board meeting at which the Board
proposes to grant the options);

(b) the average of the official closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five

business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c) the nominal value of a share.

33. LUERGEUROAER 2
2
REBEAARR-Z——FHA=BRMAZER
A ([FH8)) ARFREFERENREE
FEAEAERAL ((BRE)RRFHAE
EoERMEAELRE - FIBERSTF8
Mo REFE BEEE ((EEE)AIRSES
RERE  SHERTREARRRN 2B
Bz RERVET - (TREBHESTSEE -
T PMHERATEBZHZSE

@ BORBRERHER (ARZEXEE B
U E  RIEREFSEARRLBR
BrEfeeE ) EMXEERE
RS2 IERMTE

(b) BRONEERHBREE AR REZXE
R e R REXRMI 2 EX KT
B8 &

@ BRIHEE-
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Scheme, the maximum number of shares in the
Company in respect of which options may be granted when
aggregated with any other share option scheme of the Company is not
permitted to exceed 995,306,782 shares, representing approximately
10.0% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this report. Subject to the issue of a circular and the approval of the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time,
the Board may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of the
Company in general meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of

the shares in issue from time to time.

The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to the Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in
issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders in
general meeting. The participant and his associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) are abstained from voting and/or other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time. Options granted
to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess
of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

There is no specific requirement that an option must be held for
any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is
empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at
the time of grant of any particular option. The period during which
an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than
ten years from the date of grant.

No options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during
the year ended 31 March 2021.

On 2 January 2022, the Company granted share option (“Share
Option”) to the chief executive officer and certain employees of the
Group, the exercise of which will entitle the holders to subscribe for an
aggregate of 226,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the Company. Details of the Share Option is as follows:

33. UESZAHURDAERZR

2 (&)

RARETE] - & R ARR &) o] E Ath B AR 5T 2 7]
R 2 ERERT P R ZARRIRMDE=EE T
1S58 38 995,306,782 % + BIZN A AR AR5 H Hf
BEITIRZA410.0% o BRIEFIZME - ANQF]
MR A& A K3 TR RN RT
R HMBAE  BEEAENERESNEE
ARARRRRERRAE EHEE BE BT
RIDBE 2 10% - BER LMBRE - BTG
IR AR RME(E MR ERT B T E R A
RITEZFTE mARITEERER Al T 8T 2%
7 REARRERETEBRETRERITRMDZ
30% °

iM% B HA (R 3Ea% B) B+ =& A 28R
A BRARIREAI 2 EE R 2 B 2 IR ) #X
BRSHBOEL BB ETRNDEE 1% - £
Al — PR BB 1% PREE 2 BB AR E - AR
RRBRERAE EHE - 2EEREBEAL (F
ER LR ERERZER, SGEST EHRA
TEFTRAZEMBAE o ME T EERRIE L
HEHITEE ZEREBBARNRAFTRAZ01% -
s EL (B (BB 5,000,000 57T + RIZBEAR R ERR
RESLHE -

BRI R AR A (RS HIR 5 /]
1 - B HRBBRE D EAER B
EREMERNREHR - EFan 2ERNEE
FERITTR BB A 2 B - HER AR T A R IR
B EERT DR TE -

RBE-Z-—F=A=+—BIIFEILEE
IRE AR AR ~ 1708 - SESH R -

NR-ZT-—F—H-H AARAFLERRE
(EBRE) FTAEEZTHREBHEETES
TEZERREGE TRAAEN - TREXR
A EIRE A A 4 £ 226,000,000 3% 5 I FIE 0.01 75
TCHIRR D o
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Details of options granted are as follows:

33. UEREELURNAER 2R
2 )
BB ST -

Number of
Date of grant Expiry date Exercise period Exercise Price options
Rt B JE 5w B 8 TEEH T8 BREZA
3 January 2022 2 January 2032 3 January 2025 HK$0.118 226,000,000
to 2 January 2032
—T-—#—H=H —T=—#—A-H Z—E-_RFE—A=HE 0.118757T

—T=—F—HA=H

The vesting dates of the share options are as follows:
Tranche 1:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2025 up to 2 January
2032;

Tranche 2:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2026 up to 2 January
2032;

Tranche 3:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2027 up to 2 January
2032;

Tranche 4:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2028 up to 2 January
2032; and;

Tranche 5:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2029 up to 2 January
2032.

BhigEsRBABNT

F—Ht: 200 LERES S _RF—
A=R#&z-_ZT=—F—HA_-Hnk
BR1TfE

FH 20T EERES T NF—
A=RRZE-—_E=—F—HA_-H0kK
BEIT(E

FE=Ht: 20T EEREE S _tF—
A=Rz-_ZT=—F—H_Hnk
BFITfE

FP0Ht - 20T EERES —S - \F—
A=B#8&Z-_T=—F—H_HAk
1T &

FRHL : 20MAELERES S - NF—
A=RfZE-_T=—F—HA A7k
BEIT{E ©
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Scheme during the

33. %*Eé%%%’l«lﬁﬁﬁ%E%Z%
()

TREBEZTENFERZES :

year:
Date Exercise Exercise Vesting Outstanding ~ Granted  Exercised  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
of grant price period date at 1 April during during during during  at31March
2021  theyear  theyear  theyear theyear 2022
i
—E--F W-B-=%
mA-A ZB=t-8
RiiAH ke i GRS HAOR REREE AFERE AFERK AEEEN  HAOK
Directors gz
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond ~ ZJE
Tranche 1 ERif 3 January HKS 3 January 3 January - 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
2022 0.118 2025upto 2025
2 January
2032
B S ongEr  ZEZRE ZECRF
—R=H -A=HEZ -A=AH
3
—-AZA
Tranche 2 £ 3 January HKS 3 January 3 January - 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
2022 0.18 2026 upto 2026
2January
2032
=== 0uET  ZER i Sl
—-A=A -A=HBEZ -—A=H
S
i
Tranche 3 F= 3 January HKS 3 January 3 January - 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
2022 0118 2027 upto 2027
2 January
2032
St IRRE Ty S 5
—-H=H -F=REE -A=A
3
—AZH
Tranche 4 Eg 3 January HKS 3 January 3 January - 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
2022 0.118 2028upto 208
2 January
2032
B S ongEr  ZEDN\E ZED)\E
—R=H -A=HEZ -A=AH
3
—-AZA
Tranche 5 E5it 3 January HKS 3 January 3 January - 10,000,000 - = - 10,000,000
2022 0.18 2029upto 2029
2January
2032
=E== ongELT  ZEINE ZEROAE
—-A=A -A=HBEZ -—A=H
S
i
- 50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000
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The following table discloses movements of the Scheme during the
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33. g\%%ﬁ%”ﬁuﬁiﬁﬁ%éﬁﬁZQ
()

TRRBEZTERFAZES : (&

Date Exercise Exercise Vesting Outstanding ~ Granted  Exercised  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
of grant price period date at 1 April during during during during  at31March
2021  theyear  theyear  theyear theyear 2022
i
“E--F W-8--%
mA-A =R=t-H
RHiAH %8 i GEAE  HAOR REREE AFEMR AEERN AEEEN  HAOK
Employees &8
Tranche 1 £t 3January2022  HKS 3 January 3 January - 35,200,000 - - - 35,200,000
0.118 2025 upto 2025
2January
2032
i ongEr  ZE-RE ZECRE
—A=R -A=REEX -A=H
“R=CF
—-RZH
Tranche 2 g 3January2022  HKS 3 January 3 January - 35,200,000 - - - 35,200,000
0.118 2026 upto 2026
2January
2032
- St 0BT ZEAE ZEoAE
—R=H —-A=HEZ -—A=H
—Z=C
-AZH
Tranche3 E=t 3January2022  HKS 3 January 3 January - 35200000 - - - 35200000
0118 2027 upto 2027
2January
2032
i ongET  ZE-AE ZECAR
—-H=H -A=REZ -AZ=H
3o
—A=H
Tranche 4 gt 3January2022  HKS 3 January 3 January - 35,200,000 - - - 35,200,000
0.118 2028upto 2028
2January
2032
i ongEr  ZE-NE ZED)E
—A=R -A=REEX -A=H
“R=CF
—-RZH
Tranche 5 FRt 3January2022  HKS 3 January 3 January - 35200,000 - - - 35,200,000
0.118 2029upto 209
2January
2032
S ongET  ZE-AF ZEDAE
—R=H —-A=HEZ -—A=H
—Z=C
-AZH
- 176,000,000 - - - 176,000,000
Total ) - 226000000 - - - 26000000
Weighted average exercise price METAAER HK$0.118 - - - HKSo18
01188 - - - 08T
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, options were granted on
3 January 2022. The estimated fair value of the options granted is
approximately HK$21,915,000. The fair values were calculated using
the Trinomial model. The major inputs into the model were as follows:

Grant date share price HK$0.118
Exercise price HK$0.118
Expected volatility 97.03%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 1.442%
Expected dividend yield 0%
Exercisable period Tranche 1: 3 January 2025 to 3 January 2032

Tranche 2: 3 January 2026 to 3 January 2032

Tranche 3: 3 January 2027 to 3 January 2032

Tranche 4: 3 January 2028 to 3 January 2032

Tranche 5: 3 January 2029 to 3 January 2032

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over the approximately previous 10 years.
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the
directors’ best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$1,139,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2022 in relation to share options granted by the
Company.

The Trinomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the
options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain

subjective assumptions.

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of the shares available for issue
under the Scheme is 226,000,000, representing approximately 2.27%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company.

33. LERGEEUROAER X

2 (&)

HE_Z-_—F=-A=1+—HILFE  BEE
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ZfhE A Wﬁﬁzi@m 915,0007% 7T ° A FEER
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

Exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks (including interest rate,
currency risk and equity price risk) arises in the normal course of the
Group's business.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies
and practices described below.

(@  Creditrisk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, loan and interest
receivables, and cash deposits with banks.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, loan and interest receivables, and cash and cash
equivalents represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit

risk in relation to financial assets.

In relation to the Group’s deposits with bank, the Group limits
its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial
institutions with high credit rating and no recent history of
default. The directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk on the bank deposits is low. Management continues
to monitor the position and will take appropriate action if their
ratings should change. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the
Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in relation
to deposits with bank.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain individual
customers. At the end of reporting period, the five largest
receivable balances accounted for approximately 76.3% (2021:
approximately 37.7%) of the trade receivables and the largest
trade receivable was approximately 69.1% (2021: approximately
31.6%) of the Group's total trade receivables. The Group seeks
to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have
good credit history. Majority of the trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired have no default payment history.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
location is mainly in the PRC.

For loan and other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of loan and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group's outstanding balance of loan and other receivables.

34. BBEREEERRBE

FEBRNEREBBIETELEE RBES
KrmisRE R (BENE - SRR EEERR)

AEERE TR BERERRREOIRGIZE
[2\fz

@ EERK

AEEHRZEEE ZEKREA B
READEUWGRIA - BREREFEIAR
RITASEREENEERR

B SRR - e R E M ERRIE -
REERRFNZARRSRREEHN
RHEEASEABESHEENRAE
Rk -

RAEETEHRRITZERME + A%
EEBAEFEREIRAESEETA NI
BAND fR8 X 40 8% 2 & B - FELURIE
FIEEZEERRE - NABEERA -
REBRITERZEERBRE - 12
BEBZZAEMI  WERERE T
BEZFRIEETES - RZFT =

Z—A=+—BR-_ZT=—F AEEW
BmAEBRTERZaEEREERR

AEBEAHETENEFZEHEER
B o M IR - AARERFBESR
FEWE 5 FIAL763% (—E-—F : 4
37.7%) * MR AENRE 5 HBEEREH
JEURE 5B EREN69.1% (T ——F :
#1316%) - AEEBBAFELHRIT
Z R FRGARRE R - KEBH
B R 180 BRI R (B 2 FEWUE 5 R IE R 1T
A fBHE R R EC R ©

AEERWEMES D 2 EFERRER
SRR -

RERREMEEHIETNS  BEES
ENBEAECHIBERRYEERR
H At i W SRR 2 AT (3] W o TE B4 B
FHE R @RI - ARREZRR/AE
I3 B0 R A 1 R R R B A P MR R IR A A
BEEANEERR -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(@)  Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of, a financial asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

internal credit rating;
. external credit rating;

. actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s
ability to meet its obligations;

. actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower;

. significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same borrower; and

. significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the borrower.

34, IREMEEEERBE @

(a)

EERR (@)

AEERENSREEN S HERE L
BERN  UWHETHEERBRN SR
SHEANRGEELM - AFTHEER
METEELN AEEHEERRSE
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BIBRREAKREEBEREE =
AND POL|C|ES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables.

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of credit risk. In
general, the credit record and credit period for each customer
or debtor are regularly assessed, based on the customer’s or
debtor’s financial condition, their capacity to obtain guarantee
from third parties, their credit records and other factors such as
current market condition. Management overall considers the
shared credit risk characteristic and the days past due of the
trade receivables to measure the expected credit. The Group
considered among other factors including forward looking
information, analysed historical pattern.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 and 2021
was determined as follows for trade receivables:

(a)

EERR @

AEERBBOEREBY RS ER
S 9SRATRTE VTR EME BB
ZEANEFE B RKE ZFAERE
HiTE R IR R

AEBERERABRREREERRK
Fo —RME - RBETPREF AN
Bk HERFE =D ESERORE
N~ RENERRENARE /SRR
FEMAZR  EMFESEZTS RES
ARERLERERY - EEERE
BE SRR K REE R R E R
BN ERNEE - AREEEE
REZREBE EHPFEAREER K
DELEN -

Bk EE R-T-——&=-H=+—¢
T W REKRE 5B R
BEEMT

More than
90 days but
As at R-EB-—F Less than less than More than
31 March 2022 =H=+-—H 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
BB 90 H
90 B A {180 ALK  ##EiB180H bk
Trade receivables FEWE 55038
Expected loss rate LB -% % 95.4%
Gross carrying amount RERMEE (FA7T)
(HKS$'000) 1,173 322 8,601 10,096
Loss allowance EERE (THT)
(HK$'000) - - (8,208) (8,208)
Net carrying amount BREFE (FA7T)
(HK$'000) 1,173 322 393 1,888
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

TR CHF=ZA=+—HILFE

B EREEE

AND POLICIES (Continued)

ZRBER @)

Credit risk (Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 and 2021

@ EERR®@
REE®R R-_F-__F=A=+-A

was determined as follows for trade receivables: (continued) R —FHEKE AN EER
BEEWT « (&)
More than
90 days but
As at RZE——F Less than less than More than
31 March 2021 =A=+—~H 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
#3890 H
90 HIARW  {E180 HIAR @180 H b
Trade receivables e E 578
Expected loss rate iﬁ HAE 1R % % 98.6%
Gross carrying amount HREREE (THT)
(HK$'000) 9,002 644 8,297 17,943
Loss allowance BB (TAT)
(HKS'000) - = (8,177) (8,177)
Net carrying amount BREFE (FAT)
(HK$'000) 9,002 644 120 9,766

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March
2022 and 2021 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as

RZZE-_—_F=A=F+—BR=T=—
F 2 EIE 5508 2 AR B 15 1 1 B HR

follows: EEBHEOERNT
Trade receivables
EWE S IE
HK$'000
FHBxT
At 1 April 2020 RZZZFFMHA—H 6,089
Increase in loss allowance recognised FAR B R 2 E B A FRRIL N
in profit or loss during the year, net 1,532
Exchange difference e =R 556
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—F=A=+—AHK
T —FmMA—H 8,177
Increase in loss allowance recognised FRRBRAP IR 2 BRI FERIE N
in profit or loss during the year, net 381
Amounts written off as uncollectable R Bl TR SR SRR (692)
Exchange difference ER%%E 342

At 31 March 2022

R-B-_f#=A=1+—H

8,208
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BIBRREAKREEBEREE =
AND POL|C|ES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group will monitor debtors with long outstanding
balances and will engage in enforcement activities to recover
the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these are
recognised in consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The Group closely monitors
trade receivables balance more than 30 days. Those trade
receivables, due more than 90 days, with financial difficulties,
declining credit standing and poor historical payment pattern
will be considered as default. The Group will write off these
unrecovered receivables after all possible means of debt
recovery activities.

For loan and other receivables, the Group applies either a
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivables has occurred since initial
recognition then impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit losses.

In determining the 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss
for these receivables, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical payment experience and the corresponding
historical credit loss rates, and adjusted for forward-looking
macroeconomic data. In assessing whether the credit risk
on these receivables have increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on these receivables as at the reporting date with the risk of
default occurring on these receivables as at the date of initial
recognition. Management would re-assess these factors
periodically for any deterioration or improvement indications to
determine if credit risk from these receivables has increased or
decreased.

(a)

EERR @

AEEBEERAREEERNES
A+ 30 BRER G 17 Bh SA UK [ B 27 e
FH © 13 AWM EFOR - AR HE s
REMEEPRSRERZFNR - A%
BB R 30 B E BRI 2
ek - 2ERHBBE0 R - AAHKR
o ERMARTEEBEERBRRE
M E 5 EURIR R RR L - WEH
PRA R R ES K EHE R - ARE R
MsHZ S AR E 2 FEHRIA

AR R A R WGRIRT 5 - AR E
B12EARREEERK2HEHREE
B8 BT EERR B MRERARE
BEEZINMIE o i #E 1) 56 FE R AL FE I
FRBZEERARHRBEZELN - ARE
ZeHEREEEEAE

REETE % 5 R YR IR Y 1216 A 32 B8y
BHEEEER  AKSEZEEAE R
ENEENELEEN  BREBEERE
BREAERNBEEEBEEX - WREA
EUERBEEBIBETRE - REHEZ
FRUFIENEERR B 7116 BIAR
EBAEEI - A5 E % WA
NEBRELENEORR EZSRE
FIBAR R THER B AEENE DR R E
TR - EREREPRENTEZER
= UABEEEMBEHBRETR - W
EEZ SRR TR EERBR 2T
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(@)  Credit risk (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

RS E PR

Low risk

1K B

Watch list
BEmPE

Doubtful

AJ&E

Loss

&R

Write-off

@@ EFERR
AEEZz R EERB AT GE2EN

34, IREMEEEERBE @

(&)

TR

Description

it

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not
have any past-due amounts

R F 2 EZNRBRER - WEEABEFIA
Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle
in full

BERALERBREAER - HERETEEHE

There have been significant increases in credit risk since

initial recognition through information developed internally

or external resources
EERR B VLSRR ARE NI E RSN ERMEAR
Bl

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired

BEREBEFZAEESHRESRNE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery

BRBENEBABABRENBNE - BAREE YR

El /HQ‘/E

Deposits and other
receivables and loan
and interest receivables
RERHMERFIE
URERERRFE

12m ECL
1218 ATEEE AR

12m ECL
1218 ATEREEEIR

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
> HTEAEEEE -
W EEERE

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired
%Hﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘é}gﬂ% -
EERE

Amount is written off

SR I
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BIBRREAKREEBEREE =

AND POLICIES (Continued)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) @ EERR®)

TRBFAEESREE 2 EERBM
A MzEeREERETREERS

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

BAA
2022 2021
—E-=HF T
Internal 12mor Gross carrying Gross carrying
creditrating  lifetime ECL amount amount
12f8AR
REBEEFR 2HEHEEFE HEREE HEREE
HK’000 HK’000 HK'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHERAARZSREE
Loan and interest receivables Low risk 12m ECL 15,899 12,412
(Note 21)
EREREFE (fiE21)  (EREE 1218 ATEBREEERE
Doubtful Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) 1,726 1,656
A&t > HEHEEBE
(W EEERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL 58,351 75,976 53,176 67,244
(credit-impaired)
&E > HEHEEBE
(EERE)
Other receivables (Note 20)  Low risk 12m ECL 27,521 47,539
Hoth e WosRoR (Pt 20) NS 1218 AFEEREEEE
Doubtful Lifetime ECL 14,327 14,274
(not credit-impaired)
A&t > HEHEEBE
(FEEERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL 242 42,090 4,189 66,002
(credit-impaired)
& > HRMEEEE
(EERE)
Other deposit (Note 20) Low risk 12m ECL 10,405 7,733
Hitize (7 20) NS 128 AFEBRERERE
Deposit for land Low risk 12m ECL 59,855 57,428
acquisition (Note 20)
T2 RS (HEE20)  EEMR 128 AFEMEEERE
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(a)

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BiEBREEEEREEK @
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued) @ EERR @)
The closing loss allowances for deposits and other receivables RZBEZ—F=A=+—HRZ=ZZT=—
and loan receivables as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 reconcile to FriRe REMBWERERERZ
the opening loss allowances as follows: HASK 5 15 1 EL R W S R BB 0 T BR 0
T
Deposit and other receivables ReRHMERRE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12mECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HTEH 2HEY
12{8A FEEE FEFE
BHEEEE (LEREERE) (E&HE) kel
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
At 1 April 2020 RZZZTEFMNA—A 431 406 - 837
Decrease in loss allowance FRRNBRPRERL
recognised in profit or loss BEEERD
during the year (353) (309) - (662)
Exchange difference i =5 24 39 = 63
At31 March 2021 and RZZZ—%
1 April 2021 =A=+-HEk
“Z--4MA-H 102 136 = 238
Increase in loss allowance FRRNBRTRERLZ
recognised in profit or loss BIEREEM
during the year 9 31 1,010 1,050
Exchange difference ERER 4 6 17 27
At 31 March 2022 R-B-—%=fA=1+-H 115 173 1,027 1,315
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BIBRREAKREEBEREE =

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued) @ EERR®)
Loan and interest receivables ERERRIE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HES 2HES
12188 EFE FEEE
BHEEEE (YEEERE) CRECERR) g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT THET TET
At 1 April 2020 RZZZTEMA—H 33 1,158 - 1,191
Transfer to credit-impaired BREEERE - (997) 997 =
(Decrease)/increase in loss H W‘EAEEEP ﬁﬁ?’
allowance recognised in B ORL) /0
profit or loss during the year (24) (154) 42,277 42,099
Exchange difference [N =5 2 9 1471 1,482
At 31 March 2021 and RZE_—%
1 April 2021 =R=t-Hk
—“T-—F#mA—H 1 16 44,745 44,772
Amounts write-off as AW E SR
uncollectable - - (3,185) (3,185)
Increase in loss allowance FRARBRPERL
recognised in profit or loss SRR N
during the year 6 4 1,081 1,091
Exchange difference ER= - 1 1,859 1,860
At 31 March 2022 R-B-_—&#=A=1+-H 17 21 44,500 44,538
Liquidity risk b) NBEERR
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet ﬁ@ﬁ/ﬁ@ % AN SR B B T (B 7 B R
its financial obligations as they fall due. Individual operating RREEBITEBZRAR - NEEETZ
entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash %ﬁ%L? BEBTARRSERET
management, including the short-term investment of cash B BRReBMIEHIRERERE
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash KA TEHAIR & F sk - MEAE KR D
demands, subject to approval by the parent company’s board EERESHEINEESERARIESSH
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of & FAETT o AKEZBURZEH
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its current ERBAIRTEHRSESRTEARER

and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, there
were no unutilised banking facilities.

BEETEERBZRTE  BREAER
FHRHRSHEBERREZERBBREG

RHHEAERE  NENEEHRK
HrREgEeHsk e RZTE=-_—_F=H

ET—BERZIZEZ—F - WERPAZ
RITREREE o
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

34. BIAREEBEERBE @

(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) mBETRER @)
The following table details the remaining contractual TRFFIAEER RS BRAGTAIAREL
maturities at the end of reporting period of the Group’ s non- RBeRERAERZENESREE (R
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual BiREHF =L (W EF 2 AREREE
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments KRBT ZF) ) 5HE 2 F B30 2 Fgk
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates AIAVERH - ARAKEERARRFAE
current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the BEMZBEzEHE
Group and the Company can be required to pay:
At 31 March 2022 REZBZZF=ZH=+—H
Total More than More than
Weighted contractual Within Tyearbut  2yearsbut
average Carrying  undiscounted 1year or less than less than More than
interest rate amount cashflows  ondemand 2years 5years 5 years
THRER
BehE -£R -4 RER
IERERE BEE ag FREX BfER BE%R k3 4
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEn TR TEn TR TEn
Depositand other payables 2 [ E- A e F0R - wman 4 man - - -
Bankand other borrowings 85 4T [ E- AR 766% 1275675 1,428,724 873,09% 164,389 339,054 52,185
Bonds &% 116% 216,542 289,565 2,900 2,900 283,765 -
Lease liabilties RERE 833% 19,947 25,296 6372 5,361 9210 4353
1,954,575 2,185,996 1,324,779 172,650 632,029 56,538
At 31 March 2021 RZT=_—F=A=+—H
Total More than More than
Weighted contractual Within 1year but 2yearsbut
average Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
interest rate amount cashflows  ondemand 2years 5 years 5 years
SRR
R —£R £ Wk
ETIHE HAfE 2% JEEX 1BmER {En%R ik
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Thr Thn Thn Th Thn Thn
Depositand other payables 12 [ E B (1 7B - 468,045 468,045 468,045 - - -
Bankand other borrowings  $R17 [ E- AR 82% 1,044,309 1218,188 308346 688768 7237 148,702
Bonds &5 116% 195630 291011 2900 2900 285211 -
Lease labilties HEAR 84% 25254 2407 6,952 6,655 14244 4556
Convertible bonds AR ES 123% 131363 140365 140365 - - -
1,864,601 2,150,016 926,608 698,323 371,827 153,258
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BIBRREAKREEBEREE =
AND POLICIES (continued)

(@]

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank and
other borrowings, bonds, convertible bonds and cash and cash

equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise mainly cash at banks and in
hand, with the annual interest rates ranging from approximately
0.001% to 1.76% as at 31 March 2022 (2021: approximately
0.001% to 3.05%).

The interest rates of the Group’s bank and other borrowings,
bonds and convertible bonds are disclosed in notes 26, 27 and
29 respectively.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, bonds, and convertible
bonds (see notes 26, 27 and 29 for details).

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in respect of
its variable-rate bank and other borrowings (see note 26) and
bank balances (see note 23) due to changes of interest rates. It
is the Group’s present policy to keep its borrowings at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.
The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant fixed-rate bank
and other borrowings should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2022, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group'’s
profit after tax and increase/decrease accumulated losses
by approximately HK$1,618,000 (2021: HK$940,000). Other
components of equity would not be affected (2021: Nil) in
response to the general increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of
reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to
interest rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in
existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in the respective interest rates over the period until the
next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2021.

(@]

)2 [ g

AEEEH 2 MERERERKERTR
HMfEw - Ex  AREREFAMRE
NBREER -

ReERBSERITERRBITEHRLETF
SRS R—E-_—_F=A=+—HH
R Z A F 490.001% = 1.76% (7> = Z
——%F : #J0.001% £ 3.05%) °

RNEBRITREMMER - EHRATRK
B 2 FED RIFMIE26 « 27229155 -

7N E5 B FG B E A R R 1T R E A fE 3R
BEERBRESZ AN TFEMRRR G
15 R 26 - 27 5%.29) ©

MEBEOAEEMBEZERITREAM
B GE2 B 5 26) LA RRITHE 85 R
SN 23) AR S REN AR - K
B B 2 BRER AR B EARE
RNFERERERR - AEE B A EER
MREDPIE - AT - B EERNX
R YERAEHBREGATZRLEHE
BUE BIRTT R ELABEK -

R-ZTBE-_—F=A=+—8 - &z&F
R EH T HA—BEER - MAA
EMTER=ZERIE - NEBE 2R
B FlEE R g inm R BiEgE
#9098 4 491,618,00078 L (ZZF = —
4F 1 940,000/87T) > BEFIK L7,/ TH

"SR ERR BMEKE D (2T —
o).

LRBEEAN T ERAERH N
AT REEARK B EE2ZIN
ELBT A2 FIERBTES « 203
M- BEERRREREHHERNE
ET—EFEHE N HNA R EES
B2 i3 - —F = —F 2 D RIS
AR -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d)  Currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the Group’s
transactions denominated and settled in the functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate. Most of the
Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are also denominated in
the Group’s functional currencies. Therefore, the Group has no
significant currency risk exposure as they are denominated in a
currency same as the functional currencies of the group entities
to which these transactions relate.

(e)  Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through
its investment in listed equity securities. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with difference risk and return profiles. The Group
exposed to equity price risk arising from changes in the Group’s
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date. If equity
price had been 5% higher/lower, the Group’s net profit for the
year would increase/decrease by approximately HK$5,600 (2021:
approximately HK$3,300). This is mainly due to the changes in
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

(f) Fair value of financial instrument

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(i) the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market prices; and

(ii) the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The carrying amount of other financial assets and liabilities
carried at amortised cost, approximate their respective fair
values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial
instruments.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BIBRREAKREEBEREE =
AND POL|C|ES (Continued)

(/) Fair value of financial instrument (Continued) H SRMIEZAFE®E
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated AR & I A2 R 22 FEFF
statement of financial position =3
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments TREHRVTHERRRATEFELZ
that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, TRMITEZHN  WRERZ=ZZT ==

grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair )E] == &f%ﬁ\:*iz AEEZ
value is observable as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. BRRENRE—E=HRHE -
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from . E—RATEFERIEHGED
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical % EEREERABEZRE (TE
assets or liabilities. HAFAE) S 2 A EHE -

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from F_RMATEAEREEF —
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 A Z B LAY 2 7] B 8 (BI{E %)
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly B (AR ERSH SR H
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). EESBEEEZEAZERSEN

ZAFERE -
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from E=BATEFEREHBEL
valuation techniques that include inputs for the assets FERAIBRMSEIE 2 EESK
or liability that are not based on observable market data B ERAR AR (TRIBRHE A
(unobservable inputs). R 2 HERMEE 2 AT ER
=T

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£—& -t E=& B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET FHER FHER

At 31 March 2022 N-ZBE-—F
=H=+—H
Financial assets SREE

Financial assets at fair value 12X F(EZIER &
through profit or loss RBmREE 2
SREE
- Equity securities listed -REBLTZ
in Hong Kong MR A 5 112 - - 112
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Fair value of financial instrument (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

At 31 March 2021

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

- Equity securities listed
in Hong Kong

Derivative financial
instruments
- Redemption option

derivative component

Level 1
E—R
HK$'000
FAT
RZE=—%F
=A=+—H
DREVEE
BAFESRR
MERREE L
BRVEE
-RBEB L2 I’RA
BEH 66
PTEEmMIA
- B CI AR IENT A
TEFS -

34. BIAREEBEERBE @

H S@MIEZAYE@#E
RIFEIBRAXER AT
£ (#)

Level 2 Level 3 Total
E_M E=M Rk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAxT FAT
- - 66

- 59 59

There were no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 in both

years. When a determination is made to classify an asset or

liability within Level 3, the determination is base upon the

significance of the unobservable inputs to the overall fair value

measurement.

Financial assets

EREE

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

Valuation
techniques

fhER

Binomial model

- derivative financial instruments

BATEIIRRAERRREIEZ

TRIEE
-PTEERTA

ZIRFERY

As at 31 March 2021, the discount rate used to compute the fair

value is 15.86%. The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair

value.

For reconciliation Level 3 fair value measurements of financial

assets, refer to Note 29.

RMEFE  F—& F_RZRFE=R
Z B EEE - fREHEEXRES
BRAE=F  BRRERBENATEE
BARBHERATEABZERRE
RELAE o

As at

31 March

Unobservable 2021
inputs R-Z=——F
TG ABE =H=+-—H
Discount rate 15.86%

BRI

RZZE-_—F=A=+—08 " AR:E
RFEZ B E 315.86% © BhIR K B
= AFEBE -

S RMEEZFE =R ATEAEZY
IR - B2EMIEE29 °
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CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN A
SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Century Choice Limited
(“Century Choice”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
a substantial shareholder (the “PRC Shareholder”) of Yulin Hongjin
Agricultural Byproducts Wholesale Marketplace Limited (“Yulin
Hongjin") entered into an agreement in relation to the reduction of
registered capital contribution of Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin.
Pursuant to the agreement, the PRC Shareholder waived its entitlement
to the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin for the financial year ended
31 December 2020 in the amount of approximately RMB40,950,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$49,214,000) and directed the same
to be paid to Century Choice (“Dividend to PRC Shareholder”), and
the amount of registered capital contribution by Century Choice in
Yulin Hongjin was reduced by an amount equal to approximately
RMB41,944,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$42,328,000). As
a result of such reduction of registered capital contribution, the
Group's equity interest in Yulin Hongjin was decreased from 65%
to 51%. Details of the capital reduction were disclosed in the joint
announcement of, inter alia, the Company dated 18 June 2021.

An amount of approximately HK$12,771,000 (being the difference
between proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net
assets of Yulin Hongjin and Dividend to PRC Shareholder) has been
transferred out of non-controlling interests. The proportionate share
of accumulated exchange reserve of approximately HK$3,898,000
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests. The resulting gain of
approximately HK$16,669,000 has been credited to other reserve.

LITIGATION

(A)  Writissued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co.,
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1")

1. On 7 January 2011, the Company received a writ (the
“Writ”) issued by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") and
Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development
Co., Ltd. (“Tian Jiu") (as plaintiffs) against the Company
(as defendant) and filed with the Higher People’s Court of
Hubei Province (the “Hubei Court”) of the PRC, together
with the related court summons dated 4 January 2011
(the “Summons”). The writ also joined Wuhan Baisazhou
Agricultural By-Product Grand Market Company Limited
(“Baisazhou Agricultural”) as third party to such civil
proceeding.

35.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(A)  Writissued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co.,
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1") (Continued)

1.

(Continued)

Major allegations of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as set out in

the Writ are as follows:

(@)

(b)

it is alleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged
a share transfer agreement (the “Contended
Agreement”) in relation to the acquisition
of Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Acquisition”)
wherein consideration for the Acquisition was
understated and the manner of settlement of the
consideration was inaccurately described;

it is alleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged
the related documentation for filing with the
PRC Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM") and the
Hubei Administration For Industry and Commerce
(the “Hubei AIC”"), and that such documentation
and the Contended Agreement involved forged
signatures; and

it is alleged that MOFCOM and the Hubei
AIC approved the Acquisition and processed
the related filings on the basis of the above
documents that are allegedly forged.

At the relevant time of the Acquisition, none of
the current Directors or senior management of
the Company as at the date of this report were
involved in the Acquisition.

According to the Writ, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
were seeking an order from the court that the
Contended Agreement, to which the Company
is a party, is void and invalid from the beginning
and should therefore be terminated, and claimed
against the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural
all relevant profits of Baisazhou Agricultural
which were attributable to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu,
together with costs of the legal proceedings.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

Writ issued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co.,
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1") (Continued)

(A)

2.

On 18 November 2011, the Hubei Court made an interim
order that the 8% equity interest held by the Company
in Baisazhou Agricultural be subject to a freezing order
pending determination of the Writ. The percentage
of equity interest held by the Company in Baisazhou
Agricultural subject to a freezing order was subsequently
reduced from 8% to 1.3%. On 26 May 2015, a decision
was issued by the Wuhan Intermediate People’s Court
discharging this freezing order. It follows that the
freezing order no longer has any effect on the Group.

On 18 June 2014, the Company received the judgment
(the “Hubei Court Judgment”) dated 31 May 2014 from
the Hubei Court in relation to PRC Action No. 1. In the
Hubei Court Judgment, the Hubei Court dismissed the
claims of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, and they were ordered
to bear the legal costs of the matter.

On 4 July 2014, the Company received the notice of
appeal to the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC (the
“Supreme People’s Court”) from Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu regarding PRC Action No. 1 (the “Appeal”). In the
Appeal, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu sought an order from the
Supreme People’s Court that the Contended Agreement

was void.

On 13 January 2015, the Company received the
judgment dated 31 December 2014 handed down from
the Supreme People’s Court in relation to the Appeal
(the “Beijing Judgment”). In the Beijing Judgment, the
Supreme People’s Court ordered that: (a) the Hubei Court
Judgment be revoked; (b) the Contended Agreement
was void; and (c) acknowledged that the HK$1,156
million sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”) shall be
the actual agreement being performed by the Company,
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

36. =Rak @

(A) EFBLEIERRERINTEZEREA
[RARRPERARREL 2T
(FEE-HSR) @

2.

R=Z——F+—A+1\B  #
AR IER R GS » AAFAT
BAEBYDINEEE D& 8%k
BRE  ARFEESK - XA A]
B DM R BIE @ AT A H AR
BAOLLZRESHIR - HZH8%
WME13% R-ZE—HEFRA
Z+R8 - RETmHFRARZER
TEHRERILRES - HiEZ
RESTEHEAEEGEMRT -

RZZ-WFEXNA+TNR AR
ARERILEARER — T —NEFE R
A=+—R{ELEBATHE %
SIREHLR (RALERRFIR]) £
HIEEE FHR B - B3 AB & [
FRERRAHRE - AREFW
BEORERERAOEEER -

R-ZE-—NFELAMB  RAAF
EEPEERARER (REA
RERD BEELL KRR NS
BE - EFBMIE
) o & LHFP - FrLRKRA
SREBARERESFE R E
A -

RZZE—RAF—A+=8 AR
A EIES ARERR =T —N
F+_A=+—RAEHEMLF
BI#R ([IEZRABR]) o IR FANR
FEeARZERES (@) BUEE
HHEEBTHIR (o) 5 s R
X (c) 7 #81,156,000,000 % T 2 B
Eih= (BB BARARTF]
FLRERRNEITZER B ©

215



216

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiZE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

36. LITIGATION (continued) 36. HFEA (@)
(A)  Writissued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan (A) I;’%ﬁﬁi&ﬁ%%ﬂl 2IRAR
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co., NG AR P N/NT S Janhrde=i 8
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1") (Continued) ( [REE—HSR]) @)
5. (Continued) 5. (#)

As advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company:

(@) The Supreme People’s Court only ordered the
Contended Agreement void, but it did not make
any ruling regarding the Acquisition itself, and/
or the approval of the Acquisition issued by
MOFCOM in November 2007.

(b)  The Beijing Judgment will not directly lead to any
immediate change of ownership of Baisazhou
Agricultural. The Company continues to be the
legal owner of Baisazhou Agricultural until and

unless the revocation of:

(i) the approval of the Acquisition from
MOFCOM; and

(ii) the registration of the transfer of shareholding
by the Hubei AIC.

6. On 23 June 2015, the Company submitted an application 6.
to the Supreme People’s Court for a retrial, requesting
that the Beijing Judgment be set aside.

7. On 21 July 2015, the Company received the written 7.
Notice of Acceptance of the retrial application from the
Supreme People’s Court.

8. On 22 December 2015, the Supreme People’s Court 8.
dismissed the Company’s petition (the “December 2015
Judgment”). The Company received the December 2015
Judgment on 7 January 2016.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(B)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiuin Hong Kong

1.

On or about 24 October 2011, the Company issued a Writ
of Summons in the Hong Kong Court of First Instance (the
“Court”) against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. The Company (as
purchaser) sought damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
(as vendors) for their breach of various provisions of the
SPA for the Acquisition.

On 5 October 2012, the Company obtained a court
order from the Court to the effect that undertakings
(the “Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu not to: (i) indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the
two instruments (purportedly described as promissory
notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments”); and (ii) enforce
payment by presentation of the Instruments until the
final determination of the court action or further court
order. Pursuant to the Undertakings, the Instruments
will no longer fall due for payment by the Company on 5
December 2012.

On 9 June 2017, upon the parties’ joint application to the
Court, the Court varied the Undertakings to the effect
that the Undertakings shall stand save that Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu can make a counterclaim under the present
action as per the draft attached to the Consent Summons
filed by the parties on 2 June 2017.

The trial took place in February, March and June 2019 for
23 days.

On 18 January 2021, the Court handed down a judgment
(“HK Judgment”). Pursuant to the HK Judgment, the
Court ruled, inter alia, that:

(a) Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to the Company
damages in the total sum of RMB510,000,000 for
loss and damages suffered by the Company in
that the value of Baisazhou Agricultural’s shares
was substantially less than what Ms. Wang and
Tianjiu warranted;

(b)  Ms. Wang shall pay to the Company nominal
damages of HK$1 for the failure on the part of
Ms. Wang to assist the Company or Baisazhou
Agricultural to obtain the Land Use Certificates in
question;
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36. LITIGATION (Continued) 36. =REA @

(B)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian (B)
Jiuin Hong Kong (Continued)

5. (Continued) 5.

() The Company is entitled to set-off the amount of
HK$54,211,000 from the sum due by the Company
to Ms. Wang under one of the Instruments, being
the net profit shortfall;

(d) As the quantum of the award of damages to the
Company is greater than the amounts due under
the Instruments, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu are not
allowed to enforce the Instruments against the
Company; and

(e) The counterclaim of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for,
amongst others, an order that the Company do
cause and/or procure the shares in Baisazhou
Agricultural to be transferred back to the
defendants, be dismissed.

6. In the circumstances, the Company is not required to 6.
make any payment under the Instruments to Ms. Wang
or Tian Jiu. Further, as the counterclaim of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu was dismissed, the Company continues to be the
legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

7. As at 18 January 2021, the aggregate amount of the 7.
principal amount and interest payable of the promissory
notes was approximately HK$660,833,000 and the award
of damages was approximately HK$663,253,000. Based
on the assessment by the management of the Company,
the exceeding amount of approximately HK$2,420,000
from the award of damages was not recognised as
probability of the recoverability is remote. As a result,
the management of the Company only recognised
approximately HK$660,833,000 in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(C) Legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu

1.

On 4 May 2015 and 5 May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
had jointly commenced two separate legal proceedings
against MOFCOM alleging that MOFCOM failed
to discharge its statutory duties for handling their
application submitted in January 2015 for revoking the
certificate of approval and letter of approval in relation
to the Contended Agreement (the “Application”).
The cases have been accepted by the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court (the “Beijing Court”).

On 20 May 2015, MOFCOM had filed its defence and each
of the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural has then
made an application to join the cases as third party.

On 25 May 2015, the Beijing Court issued a notice to the
Company regarding submission of evidence.

On 8 January 2016, the Company received a judgment
dated 31 December 2015 issued by the Beijing Court, by
which the Beijing Court demanded MOFCOM to handle
the Application again within 30 days.

On 15 February 2016, an inquiry was held by MOFCOM
where the relevant parties to the legal proceedings were
invited to attend and make submissions.

On 23 May 2016, the Company received a decision
issued by MOFCOM dated 19 May 2016 (the “MOFCOM
Decision”) to the effect, inter alia, that its approval
issued in November 2007 in relation to the Contended
Agreement shall not be revoked and shall remain to be

in force.

According to a writ dated 3 August 2016, Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu requested the Beijing Court to revoke the
MOFCOM Decision and to order MOFCOM to make a
decision to revoke the approval. According to a notice
issued by the Beijing Court together with the writ which
was served to the Company, each of the Company and
Baisazhou Agricultural has been added as a third party
to the proceedings by the Beijing Court. Three hearings
have taken place in the Beijing Court so far.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

©

Legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu (Continued)

8.

10.

11.

12.

On 18 April 2017, the Company received the judgment
of the Beijing Court dated 31 March 2017 (the “31 March
Judgment”) stating that the request made by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu to revoke the MOFCOM Decision lacked both
legal and factual basis and was not supported by the
Beijing Court. Accordingly, the Beijing Court dismissed
the application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

On 10 May 2017, the Company received a Notice of
Appeal dated 8 May 2017. By the Notice of Appeal,
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 31 March
Judgment and requested for an order that (a) the 31
March Judgment be set aside and that (b) MOFCOM to
make a decision to revoke the approval issued in 2007 in
relation to the Contended Agreement.

On 24 December 2018, the Company received the
judgment of the Beijing High People’s Court dated
20 December 2018 (the “20 December Judgment”)
dismissing the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu and
upholding the ruling of the Beijing Court as set out in the
31 March Judgment.

On 4 March 2020, the Company noted the judgment of
the Supreme Court dated 31 December 2019 (the “31
December Judgment”). By the 31 December Judgment,
the Supreme Court dismissed the application of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu for retrial and for dismissal of the 31
March Judgment and the 20 December Judgment.

In other words, the approval issued by MOFCOM in
November 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreement
shall not be revoked and shall remain to be in force.

Writ issued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiuin Hubei

18

On 22 May 2015, in view of the Beijing Judgment (as
disclosed in Section (A) above), the Company upon
being advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company
and out of an abundance of caution, issued a writ against
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. The Company seeks an order
from the Hubei Court that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall
assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge its contractual
duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(D)

Writ issued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu in Hubei (Continued)

2.

10.

On 26 May 2015, the writ was accepted by the Hubei
Court.

On 15 June 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu brought a
jurisdiction objection to the Hubei Court.

On 25 August 2015, the Hubei Court dismissed the
jurisdiction objection.

On 6 September 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed
to the Supreme People’s Court regarding the dismissal of
jurisdiction objection.

On 30 October 2015, the Supreme People’s Court
dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

On 20 July 2016, the Hubei Court issued a notice to
the parties for attendance at the pre-trial review on
11 August 2016.

According to the counterclaim filed by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu dated 6 August 2016, they sought for a
declaration from the Hubei Court that the SPA no longer
has any force.

On 11 August 2016, the Company submitted an
application to modify its claims. The modified claims
include: (1) to confirm that the SPA has been legally
made; (2) to seek an order from the Hubei Court that
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist the Company and
Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge its contractual
duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM; (3) to seek an order from the Hubei Court that
if Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu fail to assist as abovementioned
then the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural shall have
the right to make the necessary filing with MOFCOM on
their own; and (4) to seek an order from the Hubei Court
that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall bear the costs of the
proceedings.

On 27 March 2017, the Hubei Court made an order that
since the outcome of the legal proceedings against
MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (see Section (C)
above) would affect the trial of these proceedings, these
proceedings should be stayed.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(D)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu in Hubei (Continued)

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

On 26 April 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to
the Hubei Court for a freezing order in respect of the
Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural. The
Hubei Court refused the application by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu on that occasion.

On 10 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to the
Hubei Court again for a freezing order in respect of
the Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural.
According to the order of the Hubei Court dated 26 May
2017 (the “26 May Order”), the Hubei Court granted the
freezing order as against the Company’s 70% interest in
Baisazhou Agricultural.

On 26 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to add
a counterclaim for return of the Company’s 90% interest
in Baisazhou Agricultural (70% for Ms. Wang and 20% for
Tian Jiu).

On 5 June 2017, the Company applied to the Hubei Court
for review of the 26 May Order. According to the order of
the Hubei Court dated 12 June 2017, the application by
the Company was dismissed.

On 10 April 2019, in light of the outcome of the legal
proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu (see section (C) above), the Company applied to the
Hubei Court for withdrawal of the Company’s claim. The
application of the Company was granted on 11 April
2019.

According to the judgment of the Hubei Court dated
23 December 2019 (the “23 December Judgment”),
the counterclaim made by Ms. Wang and Tianjiu was
dismissed by the Hubei Court.

Pursuant to a notice of appeal dated 19 January 2020,
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 23
December Judgment and requested from the Supreme
People’s Court for an order that (a) the 23 December
Judgment be set aside, (b) the SPA no longer have any
force, and (c) the Company’s 90% interest in Baisazhou
Agricultural be returned (70% for Ms. Wang and 20% for
Tian Jiu).
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(D)

Writ issued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian

Jiu in Hubei (Continued)

18.

19.

On 29 March 2021, the Company received the judgment
of the Supreme People’s Court dated 29 December 2020
(the “29 December Judgment”) stating that the appeal
basis of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu could not be established
and was not supported by the Supreme People’s Court.
Accordingly, the Supreme People’s Court dismissed
the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu and upheld the 23
December Judgment. The 29 December Judgment is
final.

The case has now come to an end.

Writ issued in the PRC by Jiangsu Shenglong Zhengtai
Trade and Commercial Development Co., Ltd, subsidiary
of the Company, against Huai'an Mingyuan Agricultural
Development Company Ltd and Mr. Wang Yong Gang

1.

On 4 November 2018, Jiangsu Shenglong Zhengtai
Trade and Commercial Development Co., Ltd (“Jiangsu
Shenglong”) issued a writ against Huai'an Mingyuan
Agricultural Development Company Ltd (“Huai’an
Mingyuan”) and Mr. Wang Yong Gang (“Mr Wang”),
seeking an order from the Jiangsu Nanjing Xuanwu
District People’s Court (the “Xuanwu Court”), inter
alia, that (1) the Business Cooperation Agreement
and Supplemental Business Cooperation Agreement
signed by the parties shall be terminated; (2) Huai’'an
Mingyuan shall pay Jiangsu Shenglong RMB30,000,000
as compensation for breach of the Business Cooperation
Agreement; (3) Huai'an Mingyuan shall pay Jiangsu
Shenglong RMB2,029,250 and RMB5,795,000 as
compensation for breaches of the Supplemental
Business Cooperation Agreement; (4) Mr. Wang shall be
held responsible for Huai'an Mingyuan’s aforementioned
compensations to Jiangsu Shenglong; and (5) the
defendants shall be jointly liable for the costs of the
proceedings and Huai'an Mingyuan shall be liable for the
legal fees of Jiangsu Shenglong.

On 16 December 2018, Huai’an Mingyuan issued
counterclaim against Jiangsu Shenglong, seeking an
order from Nanjing Xuanwu District People’s Court,
inter alia, that (1) the Termination of Cooperation Notice
issued by Jiangsu Shenglong dated 17 September 2018
does not have any force against Huai'an Mingyuan; and
(2) Jiangsu Shenglong shall be liable for the legal fees of
Huai’an Mingyuan.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(E)

Writ issued in the PRC by Jiangsu Shenglong Zhengtai
Trade and Commercial Development Co., Ltd, subsidiary
of the Company, against Huai'an Mingyuan Agricultural

Development Company Ltd and Mr. Wang Yong Gang
(Continued)

3.

According to the judgment of the Xuanwu Court dated
31 December 2020 (the “31 December Judgment”), the
Xuanwu Court ordered that (1) the Business Cooperation
Agreement and Supplemental Business Cooperation
Agreement signed by the parties be terminated; (2)
Huai'an Mingyuan shall pay the legal fees of Jiangsu
Shenglong of RMB100,000; (3) Mr. Wang shall be held
responsible for Huai'an Mingyuan’s aforementioned
compensations to Jiangsu Shenglong;(4) other claims of
Jiangsu Shenglong be dismissed.

On 2 February 2021, Jiangsu Shenglong appealed
against the 31 December Judgment and requested for
an order from the Nanjing Intermediate People’s Court,
inter alia, that (1) Huai'an Mingyuan shall pay Jiangsu
Shenglong RMB30,000,000 as compensation for breach
of the Business Cooperation Agreement; (2) Huai’an
Mingyuan shall pay Jiangsu Shenglong RMB2,029,250
and RMB5,795,000 as compensation for breaches of the
Supplemental Business Cooperation Agreement.

According to the judgment of the Nanjing Intermediate
People’s Court dated 24 December 2021 (the “24
December Judgment”), the Nanjing Intermediate
People’s Court ordered that (1) the first item of the
31 December Judgment be upheld, meaning that the
Business Cooperation Agreement and Supplemental
Business Cooperation Agreement signed by the parties
be terminated; (2) items 2,3 and 4 of the 31 December
Judgment be revoked; (3) Jiangsu Shenglong’s
request for “an order that Huai'an Mingyuan shall pay
RMB30,000,000, RMB2,029,250, RMB5,795,000 and lawyer
fees of RMB450,000, and Mr. Wang Yong Gang shall be
jointly liable in respect of the above payment obligations
of Huai'an Mingyuan” be dismissed. The 24 December
Judgment is final.

The case has now come to an end.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(F)  Writissued in the PRC by Puyang Kaiping Construction
Company Limited against Puyang Hongjin Agricultural
and By-Product Exchange Market Company Limited

1.

On 19 October 2020, Puyang Kaiping Construction
Company Limited (“Puyang Kaiping”) issued a writ
against Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market Company Limited (“Puyang Hongjin"),
seeking an order from the Puyang Hualong District
People’s Court (the “Hualong Court”) that Puyang
Hongjin shall pay Puyang Kaiping RMB3,719,501.87
being construction payment together with interest.

On 21 January 2021, Puyang Hongjin received the
judgment of the Hualong Court dated 12 January 2020
(the “12 January Judgment”), in which the Hualong
Court ordered that (1) Puyang Hongjin shall pay Puyang
Kaiping RMB3,719,501.87 being construction payment
and (2) in the event of default by Puyang Hongjing,
interest accrued on the outstanding sum shall be
doubled during the period of delayed performance.

On 2 February 2021, Puyang Hongjin appealed against
the 12 January Judgment to the Puyang Intermediate
People’s Court (the “Puyang Intermediate Court”) and
requested for an order from the Puyang Intermediate
People’s Court, inter alia, that (1) the 12 January
Judgment be set aside and (2) the claim of Puyang
Kaiping be dismissed.

According to the judgment of the Puyang Intermediate
Court dated 2 August 2021, the Puyang Intermediate
Court ordered that (1) the 12 January judgment be set
aside; (2) Puyang Hongjin shall pay Puyang Kaiping
RMB3,719,501.87 being construction payment; (3) other
claims of Puyang Kaiping be dismissed; and (4) in the
event of default by Puyang Hongjing, interest accrued on
the outstanding sum shall be doubled during the period
of delayed performance.

The case has come to an end.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(©)

Prosecution commenced in the PRC by Wuhan Jianghan
District People’s Procuratorate against the former
director of Baisazhou Agricultural Mr Zhou Jiu Ming

1.

According to the judgment of Hubei Wuhan Jianghan
District People’s Court (“Jianghan Court”) dated
19 November 2021 (“19 November Judgment”), the
former director of Baisazhou Agricultural Mr. Zhou Jiu
Ming (“Mr. Zhou"), during the period of 2009 under
the employ of Baisazhou Agricultural, instructed
other associated personnel of Baisazhou Agricultural
to unlawfully misappropriate funds of Baisazhou
Agricultural in the sum of RMB40,000,000 for his personal
use. Wuhan Jianghan District People’s Procuratorate
commenced prosecution against Mr. Zhou for penalty.
Jianghan Court ordered in the 19 November Judgment
that: (1) Mr. Zhou was guilty of misappropriation of
funds and was sentenced to five years of imprisonment;
(2) Mr. Zhou shall return the misappropriated funds of
RMB40,000,000 to Baisazhou Agricultural in accordance
with the law.

According to the judgment of Hubei Wuhan Intermediate
People’s Court (“Wuhan Court”) dated 11 January 2022
(“11 January Judgment”), Wuhan Court ordered that the
appeal by Mr. Zhou against the 19 November Judgment
be dismissed. The 11 January Judgment is final.

The case has now come to an end.

On 1 March 2022, Baisazhou Agricultural received the

sum of RMB40,000,000 (approximately HK$48,572,000)
returned by Mr. Zhou.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, so far as the Directors

were aware, (i) the Group was not engaged in any litigation or claims

of material importance, and (ii) no litigation or claims of material

importance is pending or threatened against the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEMBREME

For the yearended 31 March2022 H{E =T - —“F=A=+—HIFFE

37. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2022 and 2021 not

provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

37.

iR

—= — —

=

FZA=+-—HER-_ZT=_—%F I

BERMERE BB RBTEAREDNT

2022 2021
—B-F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Capital expenditure authorised ERtATIEB B RETA.Z
and contracted for in respect of: BAARX
— construction costs - EEKK 258,490 236,777
- acquisition of property, - B - R IR
plant and equipment 13,239 4,659
271,729 241,436
38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. EAXBEALTRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, MREEMBHRRIEREEIN  KEBDII Y

the Group has the following material related party transactions:

(@)  Transactions with key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company'’s directors as disclosed
in note 9 and the senior management as disclosed in note 10, is

UTERMEALRS :

(a)

HIBEEABNRS

MEIRBEsARBEIRER AR (B
EXNTFARARBESTZ ) MR 1045
BB ERENZMAOT

as follows:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS\'O(K)
FHET FAT
Short-term employee benefits 55 B S AE A 10,286 10,035
Post-employment benefits BER 2R ) 123 140
Equity-settled share-based payment DAz 455 LARR 15 B E R 2 5K 681 =
11,090 10,175

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 7(b)).

Balances with related parties

Details of the balances with related parties as at 31 March 2022

and 2021 are set out in note 26.

Material related party transaction

Easy One Financial Group Limited S 5HESBERAT
and its subsidiaries REHEA R

— Interest on convertible bonds - A RRESFFIE

Wang On Group Limited REEBBRNFR
and its subsidiaries EHKTE AT

— Interest on other borrowings - B EFRALE

- Management fee - EEE

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings T S RA R A A
Limited and its subsidiaries N EH B AR

— Interest on other borrowings - H A fEFRAE

— Purchase of goods -BEEMD

FEEEIIATE TRA] F2HME

7(b)) ©

ERRRE AL 2 FERR

R-ZE-—F=A=+—HK-_T——
FEIGE A T 7 R BT 5126 -

EXEEALRS

2022
—E-F
HK$'000
FET

3,462

7,433
300

51,931
21

2021
—E-—%
HK$'000
FHT

10,199

7,500
960

52,500
1,096

227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

ANy =]

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiZE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

39.

40.

41.

42.

FINANCE GUARANTEE

As at 31 March 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
provided guarantees of approximately HK$ nil to our customers in
favor of a bank for the loans provided by the bank to the customers of
our project (2021: HK$27,000).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2022, on 3 May 2022, the
Company proposed to enter into a loan agreement (the “Ping An
Loan”) with Ping An Bank Co., Ltd. for a loan principal amount of
RMB300 million (equivalent amount of Hong Kong Dollar) for a term
of three years. As a condition to the Ping An Loan, Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Holdings Limited (the parent company of the Company listed
on the Stock Exchange with Stock Code 897) (“WYT”) is required to
provide a financial guarantee in respect of the Company’s obligations
under the Ping An Loan. The financial guarantee provided by WYT
constituted a connected transaction for WYT and WOG. On 22 June
2022, the independent shareholders of WYT and WOG approved the

Ping An Loan at their respective special general meetings.

At the same special general meetings, the respective independent
shareholders of WOG and WYT also approved the revolving credit
facility in favour of the Company, in an aggregate principal amount
of HK$576,000,000, in which HK$506,000,000 provided by Winning
Rich Investments Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of WYT) and
HK$70,000,000 provided by Double Leads Investments Limited (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of WOG), for a term of five years at the
interest rate of 10% per annum. Such facility would expire on 2 May
2027.

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to confirm to

current year's presentation.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized
for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2022.

39.

40.

41.

42.

MR

R-TZ-_—F=A=+—8  ARANZ2EHK
BARMRMEFREEROTAET - ARE
RBPTRETFRMEBERFZER(CE = —
4 1 27,000/57T) °

REMREE

HE-ZTZ-_—_FZA=+—HLEFEE ®
T _FRAZH ARAEFEFLLE
TROBRARILER B [FRER])
BH A S5 A AR 300,000,000 7T (FEHBT
S5 BE=F - tERFLZEFRMEM - Wai
Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (i 7T & %%
¥ERBBRAT ) (RAREBRA LM 28R
Al RHAREE : 897) (MLTE]) AFRAR AR
FRERIE N 2B EREMBER - (LTER
B BEREBUNTERERR ZBERS - I
ZECHFRNAZTZH  NAERERZE
YRFEERESBNRRFIASHETLE

=
K e

RRA—BRENARE L RLERMNTESERN
837 A B IRk AR & 4B 8 & 576,000,000 75 7T 2
RIRENEE 2R OB EIBIEEFRAR
MITEZZ2EWBAR) REFEERR AR
(R& 22 &M B A R]) 124t 506,000,000 % 7T &
70,000,000 7 7T + A3 F F A0 1% F FIE10% 51
B ZEmBEHR S +FRA_BHEH

EegmE#
ETUBRBFEET I RNGEAEREO2E -
RETIRGSMB®RE

EFeN T _FNA-tHEIER
FRETBRE M RE -
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

.57

Wuhan Baisazhou Agri-Products Market, Special
Nos.1 Qingling Street, Qingling County, Hongshan
District, Wuhan City, Hubei Province, the PRC
FREDHIL S FUET L R B S E M —5%
FOE BN R EIEmARTIS

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, West of Luoji Expressway, Laocheng
District, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC

Fh B & R 5 Th 2 il R 08 & R R msE P )

RIS 7 R B E m B R O

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, South of Kaigi Highway and East of
Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,
the PRC

f B FE & R T MAC A RS AL R R AR A E R Al
AR 2 I B m B R M A O

Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale Market,
East of Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan District,
Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

F BT &R 1R N T R 1L (230 E AE R A

RN = BIE fm T OB 5

2022 Annual Report

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
ESEI

For the yearended 31 March2022 52— - —“F=A=+—HIFLFE

BREY=

Use

Rz

Agricultural produce
exchange market

.

REMR SN

Agricultural produce

exchange market

BERXSTS

Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMRHM S

Agricultural produce

exchange market

BERXSTS

Tenure

3

Medium term lease

T EAAE 4

Medium term lease

T EAAE 4

Medium term lease

T EAAE 4

Medium term lease

T EAAE 4

Attributable
interest of
the Group

AEEEGER

100%

100%

100%

51%
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
MEFR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiZE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Location
#hht
Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International

Logistics Centre, West of Luoji Expressway, Laocheng
District, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC

B &S T ERRE SRR BER A
7RI i = Bl EE S B R AR

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, South of Kaiqgi Highway and East of
Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,
the PRC

A B R B T AT SRR AL R R AR R EER A
AR 2 R B E m B MmO

Phase | of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-Products
Market, South of the Second Ring North Road, Yuzhou
District, Yulin City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, the PRC
PREEALRERREME
IMZERBIERALETIS—H

RACEEEI A

China - ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products Market,
North of Jinhaiwan West Avenue (Entrance of
Nanbei Highway), Qinzhou City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC

P B B P AL IR B A SN T 288 P AL
(FEEREAR) B - R (FN) REm
PNGEE

FFHEW=

Approximate

saleable
floor area
(square feet) Use
BHATEEZEEE
(FFFR) A%
693,000 Agricultural produce
exchange market
REMX SN
127,000 Agricultural produce
exchange market
REMX SN
467,000 Agricultural produce
exchange market
REMX SN
1,673,000 Agricultural produce

exchange market

REMRX %

Attributable
interest of
the Group

AEH
EihERE

100%

100%

51%

100%
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & &

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Location

st

Phase | of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-Products
Market, south of 2nd Ring North Road,

Yuzhou District,Yulin City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC
mEARANREALRE AR ENE R
SEEEAIEREE R ERS R TS

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products
International Logistics Centre, south of

Kaigi Highway and east of Xilin Public
Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,

the PRC
mEARARE I EERHTREAKLAR
BRARR AT AERERER RS O

Use

Rz

Agricultural produce

exchange market

RERRHTE

Agricultural produce
exchange market

Approximate
sitearea
(square feet)

BREEER
(FHR)

32,000

103,000

LERPUE

Estimated
approximate
gross
floor area
(square feet)
fhEHEEA
BEAER
(FER)

84,000

161,000

2022 Annual Report

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

Estimate
completion
date

st
TR AH

2022

—E-oCF

2022

—E-oCF

E =1

TE-F=ZA=+—HILFE

Stage of
completion

TRER

Building

ER

Building

ER

Attributable
interest of
the Group

58
FEftE

51%

100%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T FE R E

For the yearended 31 March2022 {2 — T - —“F=HA=+—HIFFE

Fifteen
months from
1 January Year from Year from
Year ended Year ended 2019to 1 January to 1 January to
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
BE-T-AF
#z HE —A—HBZ BTN BT \H¥
—E-CE —Z-—%F —T-ZF —R—HZ —A—B%
=A=+-B | =A=+—-B =ZA=+—-B +-ZA=+—-B +—A=1+—H
HEE HFE E+HEA LFE HFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET FATL THEL FATL
Results E
Turnover B 868,685 650,529 1,091,437 778,857 790,059
Profit/(loss) before taxation ~ BEEATEA,/ (B518) 105,793 644,463 171,800 (114,079) (301,257)
Income tax FrigHt (68,757) (143,293) (138,475) (65,240) (36,314)
Profit/(loss) for F/HREF (B8
the year/period 37,036 501,170 33,325 (179,319 (337,571)
Attributable to: AT ALREMN :
Owners of the Company AARIERA 6,401 489,602 5,880 (212,596) (340,970)
Non-controlling interests FEE R 30,635 11,568 27,445 33,277 3,399
37,036 501,170 33,325 (179,319) (337,571)
As at As at As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
RIE--F | R4 RZZTZTH —Z-NE RZEN\E
=A=+-B | ZA=+t—-HBH =ZA=+-H +ZA=+—-H +-A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FHET FAT TAEL
Assets and liabilities BERARE
Total assets BEE 5,491,088 5,584,243 5,138,673 5,603,672 6,111,476
Total liabilities BaE (3,139,556) (3,378,390) (3,653,308) (4,008,308) (4,153,873)
2,351,532 2,205,853 1,485,365 1,595,364 1,957,603
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the Company ARRHERA 1,939,313 1,808,148 1,091,640 1,208,971 1,588,311
Non-controlling interests FEE R 412,219 397,705 393,725 386,393 369,292
2,351,532 2,205,853 1,485,365 1,595,364 1,957,603




hoE R E Mo S

CHINA AGRI-PRODUCTS EXCHANGE

Suite 3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower,
39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

BHBNEE
NBEE R NIEINR
RRESHI2E3202E

MIX

Paper from
responsible sources

wicoy  FSC™ C127090




	COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
	INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
	FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	BACK COVER

